CHARACTERIZATION OF INNATE AND ADAPTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES OF TWO RARE PRIMARY IMMUNE DEFICIENCIES: CTPS1 AND CD55

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE SCHOOL OF ENGINEERING AND SCIENCE OF BILKENT UNIVERSITY IN PARTIAL FULLFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE IN MOLECULAR BIOLOGY AND GENETICS

> By Göksu Gökberk Kaya SEPTEMBER 2019

CHARACTERIZATION OF INNATE AND ADAPTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES OF TWO RARE PRIMARY IMMUNE DEFICIENCIES: CTPS1 AND CD55

By Göksu Gökberk Kaya

September 2019

We certify that we have read this thesis and that in our opinion it is fully adequate, in scope and in quality, as a thesis for the degree of Master of Science.

İhsan Gürsel (Advisor)

Ahmet Oğuzhan Özen

Ali Osmay Güre

Approved for the Graduate School of Engineering and Science

Ezhan Karaşan Director of the Graduate School of Engineering and Science



I dedicate this work to the patients and their families....

ABSTRACT

CHARACTERIZATION OF INNATE AND ADAPTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES OF TWO RARE PRIMARY IMMUNE DEFICIENCIES: CTPS1 AND CD55

Göksu Gökberk Kaya M.Sc. in Molecular Biology and Genetics Advisor: İhsan Gürsel September 2019

Primary Immune deficiencies (PIDs) are disorders of immune system caused by mutated genes. There are approximately 350 different disorders and each day novel ones are being defined. They can be categorized based on part of immune system harboring mutation; that is, they can be divided into disorders of innate and adaptive immune system. Each of them represents itself distinctly. In that perspective, studies based on characterization of PIDs enable us to comprehend how immune system works. Herein, we characterized innate and adaptive immune responses of two rare immune deficiencies: CTPS1 and CD55 which are novel examples of disorders of adaptive and innate immune system, respectively. CTPS1 is an enzyme functioning in de novo synthesis of nucleotide, CTP. Defective CTPS1 enzyme impairs lymphocytes to proliferate, however, other aspects of this deficiency still remain elusive. Since patients are prone to viral infections, we first explored functionality of cytotoxic T-cells through assessing STAT1 phosphorylation levels and expression of activation markers. Even though flow cytometry analyses revealed that CTPS1 deficient CD8⁺ T-cells had normal phospho-STAT1 levels, degranulation marker confined to surface of CD8⁺ Tcells were found to be elevated. Next, we investigated CD4⁺ T-cells with cytokines that are crucial for differentiation and fate. We detected that patient CD4⁺ T-cells had low phospho-STAT3 and phospho-STAT5 levels. Then, we checked the cytokine production profiles of CD4⁺ T-cells. Data indicated that percentages of IL-17a and IL-

10 secreting cells are reduced in patient whereas Th1 and Th2 signatures were similar to healthy controls. Moreover, IFN- α levels of PBMCs upon TLR3, TLR7 and TLR9 ligand stimulations were found to be similar to healthy responses. Notably, patient had slightly reduced TLR7 and IFI16-STING mediated type II IFN secretion. We further showed that CTPS1 PBMCs had normal IL-12 levels, implying that the reduction in IFN- γ was not due to either dysfunction of innate immune cells or by aberrant APC function. Surprisingly, patient PBMCs had higher number of granulocytes and flow cytometry analyses revealed that these granulocytes were CD14⁻ CD15⁺ low-density granulocytes. This prompted us to assess the NETotic tendencies of CTPS1 neutrophils and we observed via microscopic and spectrofluorometric investigations that they underwent spontaneous NETosis. In the second part of this study, we worked with CD55 deficient patient PBMCs. CD55 is a complement regulatory protein and it inhibits formation of C3-convertase in classical and alternative complement pathways. Thus, patients suffer from aberrant complement activation in its absence as well as severe bowel inflammation and recurrent infections along with nutrient loss leading to malnutrition and growth deprivation. Eculizumab therapy was initiated to these patients in order to neutralize their pathologic C5 levels. We attempted to investigate effect of CD55 deficiency on PRR-complement cross-talk, recurrent infections and checked the contribution of Eculizumab therapy to their immune status. PBMCs of 4 patients, i) before (BT) and ii) after (AT) a single dose of Eculizumab administration were isolated. BT PBMCs had significantly reduced IFN- α and IP-10 secretions upon endosomal (TLR3, TLR7 and TLR9) TLRs and nucleic acid sensors (STING, DAI, RIG-I & MAVS) stimulations. Moreover, single Eculizumab therapy did not alter this innate immune dysfunction. Furthermore, we assessed levels of TNF- α , IL-6 productions from PBMCs stimulated with same ligands and observed that IL-6 but not TNF- α was reduced after PRR stimulations. Next, immunomodulatory effects of CD55 EVs before and after Eculizumab therapy was sought. ELISA results demonstrated that AT EV incubation on CD55^{-/-} PBMCs lead to reduced TNF- α , IL-1 β and IFN- γ production. Meanwhile, AT EVs increased IL-10 production from patient PBMCs. Lastly, we assessed cytokine levels after healthy PBMCs were incubated with BT and AT EVs and found that PBMCs that incubated with BT EVs had elevated levels of IP-10 cytokine. When taken together, progression of PIDs might have been contributed by extracellular vesicles.

Keywords: Primary Immune Deficiencies, CTPS1, CD55, complement, innate immune system, adaptive immune system, Eculizumab, extracellular vesicles.

ÖZET

İKİ ADET NADİR GÖRÜLEN PRİMER İMMÜN YETMEZLİKLERİN DOĞAL VE EDİNSEL BAĞIŞIKLIK CEVAPLARININ KARAKTERİZE EDİLMESİ: CTPS1 VE CD55

Göksu Gökberk Kaya Moleküler Biyoloji ve Genetik, Yüksek Lisans Tez Danışmanı: İhsan Gürsel

Eylül 2019

Immün sistemde kalıtsal olarak bulunan mutasyonların sonucunda ortaya çıkan hastalıklar, Primer İmmün Yetmezlik (PİY) olarak bilinmektedir. Yaklaşık 350'den fazla PİY tespit edilmiş olmasına rağmen, her geçen gün yeni PİY vakaları tanımlanarak bu liste büyümektedir. PİY'ler, immün sistemi etkiledikleri alanlara göre iki farklı kategoriye ayrılır: Doğal ve edinsel bağışıklık immün yetmezlikleri. Bundan dolayı, her bir immün yetmezlik çeşidinin semptomları birbirinden farklıdır. Bunu göz önünde bulundurarak, PİY üzerine yapılan çalışmalar, immün sistemin nasıl çalıştığını göstermede önemli rol oynamaktadır. Bu çalışmada, iki adet nadir görülen monogenik eksikliğin immün yanıtlarını araştırdık. CTPS1 eksikliği edinsel bağışıklık yetmezliklerinin, CD55 eksikliği ise doğuştan gelen immün yetmezliklerinin en yeni örneklerindendir. CTPS1, sitidin trifosfat (CTP) de novo üretimin yolağında yer alan enzimlerden biridir ve eksikliği lenfositlerin çoğalmasını etkilediği bilinen bir PIY'dir. Fakat, bu hastalığın diğer immün parametreleri nasıl etkilediği hâlâ tam olarak bilinmemektedir. Hastaların viral enfeksiyona yatkınlığı sebebiyle, ilk olarak hastadan izole edilen sitotoksik T-hücrelerin STAT1 fosforlanma seviyelerini ve etkinleşme yüzey belirteç miktarını akan hücre ölçer ile tespit ettik. STAT1 fosforlanma düzeyi sağlıklı bireylerle aynı düzeyde seyretse de sitotoksik hücrelerin yüzeyinde ifade edilen etkinleşme belirteçlerinin hastada arttığını bulduk. Bunun üzerine, CD4⁺ T-hücrelerinin farklılaşmasında önemli rol oynayan

sitokinlerin etkisini araştırdık. CD4⁺ T-hücrelerinin sağlıklı bireylere oranla daha düşük düzeyde STAT3 ve STAT5 fosforlanması gerçekleştirebildiğini tespit ettik. Sonrasında, yardımcı T-hücrelerinden üretilen sitokin seviyelerini inceledik. Sonuçlar, IL-17a ve IL-10 sitokinlerinin seviyelerinin de sağlıklılara kıyasla azalmış, Th1 ve Th2 yanıtlarının ise benzer seviyelerde olduğunu göstermiştir. Ayrıca, TLR3, TLR7 ve TLR9 almaçları uyarıldıklarında CTPS1 periferik mononükleer hücreleri (PMBCs) tarafından üretilen IFN-α yanıtlarının sağlıklılara göre benzer seviyede olduğunu bulduk. Bunun yanı sıra, hasta PBMC'lerinin TLR7 ve IFI16-STING yolakları uyarıldığında, tip iki IFN yanıtlarının az miktarda azaldığını elde ettik. Bu yolakların uyarımı sonucunda üretilen IL-12 yanıtlarının normal seviyelerde olduğunu bulduk. Bu sonuçlar bize, azalmış IFN-γ yanıtlarının doğal bağışıklık sisteminin düzgün fonksiyon gösterememesinden ya da anormal APC yanıtlarından kaynaklanmadığını göstermiş oldu. Beklenmedik şekilde, hastanın PBMC'lerinde miktarda yüksek granüllü hücrelerin bulunduğunu gözlemleyince, akan hücre ölçer ile yaptığımız incelemeler bu hücrelerin CD14⁻ CD15⁺ ifade eden düşük yoğunluklu granülositler olduğunu belirledik. Bu bulgu bizi, hastanın nötrofillerinin NETotik eğilimlerini araştırmaya itti. Mikroskopik ve spektroflorometrik incelemeler bize CTPS1 eksikliği bulunan hasta nötrofilerinin spontan NETosiz gerçekleştirdiğini gösterdi. Bu tezin ikinci kısmında, CD55 eksikliği bulunan hastaların PBMC'leri üzerine çalışmalar yaptık. CD55, kompleman yolağında bulunan bir düzenleyici proteindir. Bu protein, klasik ve alternatif kompleman yolaklarında bulunan C3 Konvertaz'ın etkinliğini düzenlemektedir. Bunun doğal sonucu olarak, CD55 eksikliği hastalarda anormal düzeyde kompleman bulunan etkinleşmesi gerçekleşmektedir. Bununla beraber, hastalarda şiddetli karın iltihabı, sık enfeksiyonlar ve besin kaybı sonucu gerçekleşen yetersiz beslenme ve büyüme bozukluğu görülmektedir. Hastalardaki yüksek miktarda seyreden C5a aktif protein seviyelerinin azaltılması amacıyla, Eculizumab adlı ilaç hastalara verilmeye başlanmıştır. Bu nedenle bu çalışmamızda, CD55 eksikliğinin PRR-kompleman çapraz konuşması ve tekrarlayan enfeksiyonlar üzerindeki etkisini araştırmayı amaçladık. Bununla beraber, Eculizumab terapisinin immün sistemin üzerine olan etkisini de araştırdık. Dört hastanın PBCM'leri tek doz Eculizumab i) terapisi öncesi (BT) ve ii) terapisi sonrası (AT) izole edildi. BT PBMC'leri, endozomal TLR (TLR3, TLR7 ve TLR9) ve hücre içi nükleik asit sensör (STING, DAI, RIG-I & MAVS) yolakları uyarıldığında, sağlıklılara oranla anlamlı derecede düşük seviyelerde IFN-α ve IP-10 üretirlerken, Eculizumab terapisinin, doğal bağışıklık yanıtlarındaki bozukluğu geri döndürmeye yeterli olmadığını bulduk. Aynı almaçlar uyarılıp BT ve AT PBMC'lerinden üretilen TNF- α , ve

vi

IL-6 sitokin miktarları da tayin edildi. Sonuçlar bize sadece IL-6 sitokininin sağlıklılarla karşılaştırıldığında anlamlı derecede düşük seviyelerde üretildiğini gösterdi. CD55 eksikliği bulunan hastalarının hücre dışı keseciklerinin (EVs), immün sistem üzerine etkisini Eculizumab terapisi öncesinde ve sonrasında inceledik. Sonuçlar bize, AT EV'lerinin, CD55 hastalarının PBMC'leri ile beraber bekletilmesi sonucunda, BT EV'lere oranla daha düşük seviyede TNF- α , IL-1 β and IFN- γ ürettirdiklerini gösterdi. Aynı zamanda AT EV'lerinin PBMC'lerden üretilen IL-10 miktarını artırdığını de tespit ettik. Son olarak, BT ve AT EV'leri, sağlıklı bireylerden izole edilen PBMC'lerle inkübe edildiğinde, BT EV'lerin, PBMC'lere daha fazla IP-10 salgılattığını tespit ettik. Bütün bu sonuçlar birlikte ele alındığında, EV'lerin, PIY'lerin hastalık sürecine katkıda bulunabileceğini önermektedir.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Primer immün yetmezlik, CTPS1, CD55, kompleman, doğal bağışıklık sistemi, edinsel bağışıklık sistemi, Eculizumab, hücre dışı kesecikler.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor Prof. Dr. Ihsan Gürsel and the person, that introduced immunology field to me, Prof. Dr. Mayda Gürsel, for giving me chance to work with them. While they have been supporting and encouraging me with their patience and invaluable ideas, they have provided their life experiences.

I would like to express my deepest appreciation to members of my thesis committee: Prof. Dr. Ahmet Özen, not only for his continuous support, suggestions, contribution but also by providing CHAPLE blood samples to this study. Moreover, I would like to thank Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ali Osmay Güre for contributing this study by valuable suggestions and accepting to become part of this thesis jury.

I would like to thank all past and current Thorlab members: Gizem, Naz, İrem, Özlem, Pınar, Fehime, Banu, Tamer and Troll Lab members: Emre Mert, Başak, Büşra, Emre, Esin, Naz, İsmail Cem for their support and help. Furthermore, I am in-depth to my beloved friends Bilgehan, Tuğçe and Muzaffer, Ceren for their endless friendships and supports. I thank all seniors and interns, as colleagues, for helping me, especially Önay, Ceren, Arlind and Toros. Meanwhile, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to İhsan Cihan Ayanoğlu. He conveyed his scientific knowledge, academic experiences as well as supported me in life issues that I have come across. He became like my big brother and I will forever be in his depth.

Without the closest friends of mine, I cannot survive throughout years of undergraduate and masters. Therefore, I would like to thank my dearest friends Umut Can Serçe and Görkem İzel Gülcan for their support and friendship.

Last but not least, I would like to express my heartful contentment to Ayşenur Çenesiz. During writing process of this thesis, she lightened the darkest hours and days with beauties that we have been sharing.

I would like to thank TÜBİTAK for providing financial support throughout this study with project 315S131.

ABSTRACT	III
ÖZET	v
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	viii
CONTENTS	IX
LIST OF FIGURES	XII
LIST OF TABLES	XV
ABBREVIATIONS	xvi
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 IMMUNE SYSTEM	
1.1.1 Innate Immune System	2
1.1.1.1 Complement System	4
1.1.1.2 Pathogen Recognition Receptors (PRRs)	8
1.1.1.2.1 Toll-Like Receptors (TLRs)	8
1.1.1.2.2 TLR Signaling Pathway	8
1.1.1.2.2.1 Cell Surface Toll-Like Receptors	10
1.1.1.2.2.2 Endosomal Toll-Like Receptors	11
1.1.1.2.3 Cytosolic Nucleic Acid Sensors	12
1.1.1.2.4 RIG-I Like Receptors	14
1.1.1.2.5 DNA-dependent activator of interferon regulatory genes	14
1.1.1.3 Neutrophils, Low-Density Granulocytes (LDGs) and Neutrophil Extracellular Traps (N	IETs) 15
1.1.2 Immune Deficiencies	18
1.1.2.1 Primary Immune Deficiency Disorders	20
1.1.2.2 Cytidine Triphosphate Synthase 1 (CTPS1) Deficiency	24
1.1.2.3 CD55 Deficiency	26
1.2 EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES	29
1.2.1 Types and biogenesis of EVs	29
1.2.2 EVs and their impact on immune system	30
1.3 SUBJECT AND OUTLINE OF THE THESIS	32
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	35
2.1 MATERIALS	35
2.1.1 Cell Culture Media and Buffers	35
2.1.2 PRR and Cytokine Receptor ligands used in in vitro stimulation experiments	35
2.1.3 ELISA Reagents and Kits	37

Contents

2.1.4 Antibodies used in Flow Cytometry	40
2.1.5 Antibodies used in Western Blotting	42
2.2 METHODS	43
2.2.1 Patients and Controls	43
2.2.1.1 CHAPLE Patients and Controls	43
2.2.1.2 CTPS1 Deficient Patient and Controls	43
2.2.2 Cell Culture	44
2.2.2.1 Isolation of Peripheric Blood Mononuclear Cells (PBMCs) from Whole Blood	44
2.2.2.2 Purification of Polymorphonuclear Neutrophils from Whole Blood	44
2.2.3 In vitro Stimulation of PBMCs	45
2.2.4 In vitro Assessments of Neutrophil Activities	45
2.2.4.1 Visualization of Neutrophil Extracellular Traps (NETs)	45
2.2.4.2 Quantification Neutrophil Extracellular Traps (NETs)	45
2.2.5 Cytokine Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent Assay (Cytokine ELISA)	46
2.2.6 Flow Cytometry Methods	47
2.2.6.1 Cell Counting	47
2.2.6.2 Cell Surface Staining	47
2.2.6.3 Assessment of STAT Phosphorylation Levels of T-Cells	48
2.2.6.4 Intracellular Cytokine Staining (ICS) of T-Cells	48
2.2.6.5 Nuclear Transcription Factor Staining of PBMCs	49
2.2.7 Extracellular Vesicle Isolation and Characterization	49
2.2.7.1 Extracellular Vesicle Purification From Human Plasmas	49
2.2.7.2 Determination of Size and Concentrations of EVs by qNano Gold	50
2.2.7.3 Verification of EV-specific Surface Markers by Bead-based Characterization Method	50
2.2.8. Quantification of Protein Concentration by BCA Assay	51
2.2.9. SDS-Page and Western Blot	51
2.2.9.1 Protein Isolation from Cell Lysates and EVs/Exosomes	51
2.2.9.2 Denaturation of Proteins and SDS-Page Running	52
2.2.9.3 SDS-Page to and PDVF Membrane Transfer	52
2.2.9.4 Blotting and Imaging	52
2.2.10. Statistical Analyses	53
3. RESULTS	54
3.1. CHARACTERIZATION OF IMMUNE RESPONSES OF CTPS1 DEFICIENCY	54
3.1.1. Functional studies of adaptive immune cells of CTPS1 deficient patient	54
3.1.1.1 CTPS1 deficient patient CD8 ⁺ T-cells had normal STAT1 phosphorylation level but	
increased CD107a expression on their surface	54

3.1.1.2 Assessment of STAT phosphorylation levels within patient CD4 ⁺ T-cells revealed reduced
STAT3 and STAT5 phosphorylation57
3.1.1.3 Intracellular cytokine staining of patient T-helper cells demonstrated impaired Th17 and
Treg signatures
3.1.2. Functional studies of innate immune cells of CTPS1 deficient patient
3.1.2.1 Responses of CTPS1 PBMCs in the context of PRR ligand stimulations
3.1.2.1.1 IFN- γ but not IFN- α secretion from CTPS1 deficient PBMCs is reduced upon TLR and
Cytosolic ligand stimulation
3.1.2.1.2 Healthy and CTPS1 PBMCs have similar IL-10 cytokine secretion levels upon PRRs
engagements
3.1.2.2 CTPS1 deficient patient had Low-Density Granulocytes (LGDs) in peripheral blood67
3.1.2.3 Investigation of Neutrophils in CTPS1 deficiency
3.1.2.3.1 Neutrophils of CTPS1 deficient patient had higher but non-significant spontaneous
NETotic tendencies
3.1.3. Effects of CTPS1 deficient EVs on immune system
3.1.3.1 CTPS1 and healthy EVs have similar effect on healthy PBMCs73
3.2. CHARACTERIZATION OF CD55 DEFICIENCY BEFORE AND AFTER ECULIZUMAB THERAPY
3.2.1. EV-dependent immune modification of CD55 deficient PBMCs before and after Eculizumab
therapy
4. DISCUSSION
5. REREFENCES
6. APPENDICES 133
6.1. APPENDIX A
6.2. APPENDIX B
7. PERMISSIONS FOR COPYRIGHTED FIGURES

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Origins of PAMPs, DAMPs and their recognition by innate immunity	3
Figure 1.2 Cross-talk between complement pathway and physiological systems	4
Figure 1.3 Activation of systemic complement cascade	6
Figure 1.4 Mammalian TLRs (1-13) recognize different ligands and propagates throug different pathways.	gh 10
Figure 1.5 Cytosolic nucleic acids sensors of innate immunity.	13
Figure 1.6 Molecular signaling of NETosis.	16
Figure 1.7 Subsets of neutrophils and their distribution through whole blood layeriduring health and disease.	ng 18
Figure 1.8 Major factors causing Secondary Immune Deficiencies.	20
Figure 1.9 Prevalence (in 100,000) of PIDs in different countries across the world?	21
Figure 1.10 Classifications and examples of PIDs.	22
Figure 1.11 Illustration of mammalian <i>de novo</i> pyrimidine synthesis pathway	24
Figure 1.12 CTPS1 deficiency results in defective T-cell and B-cell proliferation?	25
Figure 1.13 Eculizumab mechanism of action	28
Figure 1.14 Mechanisms of microvesicle (upper) and exosome (lower) biogenesis.	30
Figure 3.1 STAT1 phosphorylation levels of control and patient CD8 ⁺ T-Cells response to IFN- β stimulation	in 55
Figure 3.2 CD107a surface expression of unstimulated CD8+ T-cells	56
Figure 3.3 STAT phosphorylation levels of CD4+ T-Cells of healthy donors and CTPS patient.	S1 58
Figure 3.4 Percentages of pSTAT positive CD4+ T-cells from healthy and CTPS individuals following cytokine incubations.	1 ^{-/-} 60
Figure 3.5 Cytokine production profiles of CD4+ T-cell in response to PMA/Ionomyc stimulation.	cin 62

Figure 3.6 IFN- α , IFN- γ and IL-12 cytokine production profiles from healthy and patien PBMCs upon multiple PRR ligand stimulations6	nt 6
Figure 3.7 Effect of PRR engagement on healthy and CTPS1 ^{-/-} PBMCs in the conter of IL-10 secretion6	xt 57
Figure 3.8 Identification of Low-Density Granulocytes within patient's PBMCs fraction	n. 9
Figure 3.9 Representative immunofluorescent images of healthy and CTPS1 neutrophils undergoing NETosis7	-/- '1
Figure 3.10 Quantification of released dsDNA from neutrophils7	'2
Figure 3.11 Verification of extracellular vesicle isolation from control and CTPS1 plasmas	-/- '4
Figure 3.12 Differential activation capacities of healthy and CTPS1-deficient patien plasma-derived EVs on healthy PBMCs7	nt '6
Figure 3.13 Differential activation capacities of healthy and CTPS1-deficient patien plasma-derived EVs on healthy PBMCs7	nt '8
Figure 3.14 Effect of CTPS1 ^{-/-} EV pre-treatment on surface expression of HLA-DF CD86 and PD-L1 molecules from healthy donor PBMCs8	₹, 80
Figure 3.15 Confirmation of the absence of CD55 protein in patient cells by Florcytometry and immunoblotting assays	w 32
Figure 3.16 Production of IFN- α and IP-10 cytokines from healthy, BT and AT α CHAPLE (CD55 ^{-/-}) patient PBMCs upon stimulation with various PRR ligands8	of 33
Figure 3.17 Effect of PRR stimulations on pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammator cytokine secretion profiles of healthy, BT or AT of CHAPLE (CD55 ^{-/-}) patient PBMC upon stimulation with various PRR ligands	ry Ss
Figure 3.18 Verification of extracellular vesicle isolation from control and BT or A CHAPLE (CD55 ^{-/-}) patients	ιT 37
Figure 3.19 Cytokine secretion profiles of before or after therapy EVs on BT or A CD55 deficient patients PBMCs8	.Т 9
Figure 3.20 Induction profiles of EVs of CHAPLE patients (BT or AT) from health PBMCs9	іу 90

Figure B1.1 Immunophenotyping of circulating lymphocytes revealed CTPS1 ^{-/-} patient had inverted CD4/CD8 ratio
Figure B1.2 Healthy and CTPS1 ^{-/-} patient CD4+ T-cells' cytokine production in response to PMA/Ionomycin stimulation
Figure B1.3 Transcription Factor staining revealed reduced Foxp3 CD4+ T-cells in CTPS1 patient's circulation
Figure B1.4 Pro-inflammatory cytokine production from healthy and patient PBMCs upon PRR ligand stimulations
Figure B1.5 Confirmation of Low-Density Granulocytes within patient's PBMCs fraction.

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Soluble and membrane bound regulators of complement cascade. 7
Table 2.1. Mitogens, ligands and cytokines used in this study
Table 2.2. Antibodies and recombinant proteins used in cytokine ELISA throughout this study
Table 2.3. Fluorochrome labeled recombinant antibodies used in flow cytometryanalyses throughout this study methods.41
Table 2.4. Features of Western Blot antibodies used throughout the thesis

ABBREVIATIONS

ALRs	AIM2-like receptors
AIM2	Absent in Melanoma 2
APC	Antigen Presenting Cell
aHUS	atypical Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome
ATP	Adenosine Triphosphate
AT	After Eculizumab Therapy
BCRs	B-cell Receptors
вт	Before Eculizumab Therapy
C1INH	C1 inhibitor
CHAPLE	Hyperactivation of Complement Angiopathic Thrombosis and Protein Losing Enteropathy
CLRs	C-type Lectin Receptors
CMV	Cytomegalovirus
СТР	Cytidine Triphosphate
CTPS1	Cytidine Triphosphate Synthase 1
CID	Combined Immunodeficiency
DAF	Decay-Accelerating Factor
DAMPs	Damage-Associated Molecular Patterns
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
dsDNA	Double-Stranded DNA
dsRNA	Double-Stranded RNA
EBV	Epstein-Barr virus
ESCRT	Endosomal sorting complex required for transport
EVs	Extracellular vesicles
FBS	Fetal Bovine Serum
FMF	Familial Mediterranean Fever

GPI	Glycosylphosphatidylinositol
HAE	Hereditary Angioedema
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
HMBG1	High mobility binding group protein 1
HSCT	Hematopoietic-stem Cell Transplantation
HSV	Herpes Simplex virus
IKK	IκB kinase
iNKT	invariant Natural Killer Cells
IP-10	IFN-γ Inducible Protein-10
IRAK	IL-1-receptor associated kinase
IRFs	Interferon Regulatory Factors
IVIG	Intravenous Immunoglobulin
LDNs	Low Density Neutrophils
LGDs	Low Density Granulocytes
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LRRs	Leucine Rich Repeats
MAC	Membrane Attack Complex
MAIT	Mucosal Associated invariant T-cells
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MASP	MBL-associated serine proteases
MBL	Mannose-Binding Lectin
MD-2	Myeloid Differentiation protein-2
MDA5	Melanoma differentiation associated 5
MFI	Mean Fluorescent Intensity
MPO	Myeloperoxidase
MVB	Multi vesicular bodies
MyD88	Myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88

NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NE	Neutrophil Elastase
NETosis	NET formation
NETs	Neutrophil Extracellular Traps
NK Cells	Natural Killer Cells
NLRs	NOD Like Receptors
NOD	Nucleotide Oligomerization Domain
ODNs	Oligodeoxynucleotides
PAMPs	Pathogen-Associated Molecular Patterns
PBMCs	Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells
pDCs	Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells
РКС	Protein Kinase C
PNH	Paroxysmal Nocturnal Hemoglobinuria
poly(dA:dT)	Poly(deoxyadenylic-deoxythymidylic)
poly(I:C)	Polyinosinic-Polycytidylic acid
PIDs	Primary Immune Deficiencies
PRRs	Pathogen Recognition Receptors
RIG-I	Retinoic Acid Inducible Gene I
RLRs	RIG Like Receptors
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
SCID	Severe Combined Immunodeficiency
SLE	Systemic Lupus Erythematosus
ssRNA	Single-Stranded RNA
STING	Stimulator of IFN genes
TANK	TRAF-family member associated NF κ B activator
TBK1	Tank Binding Kinase Protein 1

ТСС	Terminal Complement Complex
TCRs	T-cell Receptors
Th	T-helper
TLRs	Toll Like Receptors
TNF	Tumor Necrosis Factor
TIR	Toll/IL-1 receptor
TRAF	TNF-receptor associated factor
Tregs	Regulatory T-cells
TRIF	(TIR)-domain-containing adapter-inducing IFN- β
VZV	Varicella Zoster virus

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. IMMUNE SYSTEM

Throughout evolution, all organisms were subjected to threats of pathogenic microorganisms as invaders. Hence, evolutionary parameters selected organisms possessing survival against them. As a consequence of this, complex and unique network of defense responses were evolved which is called as immune system [1].

Although invertebrates have primitive immune responses, as complexity of immune system gets higher, species possessing it become more convoluted in the context of evolutionary order [2]. In that essence, most appreciated immune responses are the ones within class of mammalians. Mammalian immune system can be fundamentally divided into i) innate and ii) adaptive arms. These distinct yet interconnected array of responses are composed of special cells, receptors and molecules residing in different layers and levels of physiological barriers [3].

Innate immunity is regarded as first line of defense of the whole immune system. This arm adopted certain levels of strategies, which are anatomic barriers, complement and antimicrobial proteins, innate immune cells, to protect host from invaders [4]. In order to successfully invade, pathogens must pass through anatomic barriers such as skin, intestinal epithelium, oral mucosa, then, they dodge to overcome against complement proteins. If they still prevail, tissue resident innate immune cells can recognize and generate quick responses. Meanwhile, the responses of innate immune cells are achieved through germline encoded receptors that are able to recognize evolutionarily conserved non-self-motifs on pathogens. Even though innate immune cells were used to be considered as having no memory, growing bodies of evidences challenge it; that is, innate immune cells indeed confer a memory through epigenetic reprogramming and 'Trained Immunity' is coined to define this novel aspect of innate immunology field [5–6]. Responses elicited from activated innate immune cells, specifically phagocytes and antigen-presenting cells (APCs), are destined to license adaptive immune cells.

While innate cells provide fast, non-specific immunity, adaptive immunity is established through slow, vast but specific responses against antigenic peptides of invaders. In order to achieve that, two broad categories of adaptive immune system are needed to

be involved. These are cell-mediated immunity and humoral immunity, comprise from subsets of T-cells and B-cell produced antibodies, respectively [7–8]. Even though all T-cells are primed in secondary lymphoid organs by activated and migrated APCs, their classification is generally divided into CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T-cells regarding to their composition of T-cell Receptors (TCRs). CD8+ T-cells (or cytotoxic T-cells) generate crucial and powerful immune responses in the context of infection of intracellular pathogens and cancer cells [9]. CD4+ T-cells or helper T-cells (Th), however, are further categorized into subtypes according to their different orchestration of the immune system. As their names imply, they are differentiated into several subtypes; so as to provide assistance to clearance of pathogens. Similarly, B-cells and their subsets, bearing B-cell Receptors (BCRs), are able to be primed through T-helper cells or directly by pathogens per se. Regardless of activation route, they proliferate and differentiate to become plasma cells and secrete specific subtypes of immunoglobulins such as IgA, IgG, IgE [10-11]. Unlike memory mechanism of innate cells, cells of adaptive immunity become quiescent until reinvasion of pathogens and this process is building block of vaccination [12].

1.1.1. Innate Immune System

Tissues of hosts are constantly being received threats from pathogenic and even commensal organisms. In most of the conditions, they reside on external surfaces, barriers of the mammalian tissues. These barriers in frontiers are epithelial tissues that are composed of skin, covering internal linings such as respiratory, urogenital and gastrointestinal tracks of host. Not only they cover surroundings but also, they harbor special cells that are evolved to secrete antimicrobial proteins and peptides. To illustrate, Paneth cells residing within the base of epithelial crypts of small intestines secrete α -defensins and RegIII γ ; furthermore, differentiated keratinocytes in skin produce β -defensins and cathelicidins [13]. These peptides are evolutionarily conserved to kill efficiently and directly the invading pathogens through integrating themselves into membranes of microorganism.

Yet, microorganisms are evolved to penetrate through these barriers. As a result of this, they face another ancient component of innate immunity which is called as complement pathway. The complement system is array of soluble and membrane proteins circulating throughout extracellular fluids and blood within host. Upon an

encounter with a pathogen, they get activated and interact with each other to kill and/or facilitate phagocytosis of invaders [14–15]. Nonetheless, pathogens might be equipped to escape complement pathway as well [16]. Then, innate immune cells; for example, monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells, neutrophils and their receptors, Pathogen Recognition Receptors (PRRs), step in. Innate cells are able to discriminate non-self from self-motifs through 5 distinct PRR families which are: i) Toll-like Receptors (TLRs), ii) Nucleotide Oligomerization Domain (NOD)-like Receptors (NLRs), iii) Retinoic Acid Inducible Gene I (RIG-I) like Receptors (RLRs), iv) C-type Lectin Receptors (CLRs) and v) Absent In Melanoma 2 (AIM2)-like receptors (ALRs) [17–18]. They initiate signals when they sense Pathogen-Associated Molecular Patterns (PAMPs); similarly, they can even recognize sterile inflammatory signals which are Danger-Associated Molecular Patterns (DAMPs) [19]. While PAMPs are component of pathogens such as bacterial LPS, flagellin, unmethylated CpG-rich DNA, host cells, that underwent into necrosis or necroptosis due to stress, release DAMPs such as high mobility binding group protein 1 (HMBG1), DNA, histones, and ATP (Figure 1.1).





1.1.1.1 Complement System

Harboring over then 30 distinct proteins and being discovered 110 years ago, complement system, is one of the most ancient arm of innate immune system [21]. These, membrane bound and soluble proteins get activated upon presence of PAMPs and/or DAMPs and immune complexes (IgM) [22]. Although complement cascade can be activated systemically and locally they all are synthesized as pro-enzymes [22–23]. In order to become active in the cascade they need to be cleaved by other complement proteins. In contrast to common appreciated roles of complements; for example, opsonization, facilitating phagocytosis and direct lysing of pathogens, recent discoveries demonstrated that activated complement proteins are able to cross-talk and influence PRR signaling, especially TLRs, RIG-MAVS and inflammasomes, regulate tissue damage repair in cancer and kidney diseases, influence metabolic activities of cells and modulate responses of adaptive immune cells [21–24, 30] (Figure 1.2).



Figure 1.2 Cross-talk between complement pathway and physiological systems. (Adopted from [21])

Systemic complement activation is composed of three distinct cascades: i) Classical, ii) Lectin iii) Alternative pathways. Even though they all lead to same outcome, generation of anaphylatoxins alongside Membrane Attack Complex (MAC), each pathway utilizes different combinations of cascade proteins including their respective regulators (Figure 1.3).

Lectin cascade of complement pathway is initiated via oligomeric receptors called mannose-binding lectin (MBL) and Ficolins. While MBLs are evolved to recognize mannose or fucose carbohydrate residues that are only presented on microorganisms, Ficolins recognize acetylated oligosaccharide motifs. Moreover, MBLs and Ficolins form complexes with soluble, inactive MBL-associated serine proteases (MASP) as MASP-1, MASP-2 and MASP-3 circulate throughout blood. Upon binding surface of invaders, MBLs and Ficolins undergo conformational change which in turn activates MASPs. Classical pathway utilizes C1q, C1r and C1s comprising C1 complex. While C1q, functionally and structurally, resembles to MBLs and Ficolins, C1r and C1s can be regarded as MASPs of classical pathway. In contrast to MBLs and Ficolins, C1q recognize pathogens through 3 distinct ways: i) Direct, ii) through C-reactive Protein and iii) constant part of antibodies bound to pathogens. Nevertheless, either activated MASPs or C1r-C1s cleaves C4 complement protein in plasma, eventually leading to generation of C4b and C4a [14–15]. While C4b confined to surface of pathogen, C4a floats in plasma. Then, C4b recruits another cardinal complement protein, C2 and enables its cleavage by MASPs into C2a and C2b. C4bC2a complex is formed and called as C3 convertase or classical C3 convertase. As its name implies, C3 convertase, converts C3 into C3a and C3b. Consequently, C3b remains on (opsonize) pathogen surface by covalent bound and together with C4bC2a, C3b becomes C5 convertase, cleaving soluble C5 protein into C5a and C5b. Meanwhile C3a and C5a becomes one of the anaphylatoxins and contributes to phagocytosis and inflammation. Membrane-bound C5b, however, recruits C6, C7 and C8. C7 undergoes conformational change and inserts its hydrophobic sites into membranes of pathogens while recruiting C8. These series of recruitments eventually lead to incorporation of C9 proteins into membranes. Polymerization of C9 proteins form MAC complex (also called as Terminal Complement Complex (TCC) [31]) which destroy pathogens via loss of intracellular elements and allowing penetration of antimicrobial peptides and lysosomal enzymes into pathogens.

Alternative pathway, rather than directly recognizing the pathogens, is activated by already deposited C3b proteins from alternative and lectin pathway or spontaneous hydrolysis. In the case of former, after factor B binds to cleaved C3b, factor D cleaves

it into membrane bound and soluble forms as Bb and Ba, respectively. C3bBb being alternative C3 convertase contributes to complement pathway. However, in the case of latter, thioester bond of C3 is spontaneously cleaved and form C3(H₂O). Like C3b, factor B and factor D are able to bind and cleave it, respectively. Therefore, C3(H₂O)Bb, fluid-phase C3 convertase, is formed. Regardless of way of alternative pathway activation, alternative and fluid-phase C3 convertase require stabilization, which is achieved via factor P.



Figure 1.3 Activation of systemic complement cascade. (Adopted from [21])

Even though complement proteins are specific to invading microorganism, it is possible to have activation on host membranes as well. Therefore, soluble, attached to surface of host and membrane integral proteins regulating activation of complement pathways were evolved in different levels (Table 1.1) [31]. To exemplify, C1 inhibitor (C1INH) and Factor H are crucial soluble inhibitors. C1NH displaces serine proteases (C1r/s, MASP2) to reduce activation of classical and lectin pathway. Factor H displace cleaved Bb from C3b of alternative pathway to inhibit the cascade. As a result of being important regulators, deficiency or loss-of-function of C1INH and Factor H leads to hereditary angioedema (HAE) and atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome (aHUS), respectively [32]. In addition to soluble factors, CD55 or decay-accelerating factor (DAF) and CD59 (or

protectin) are regulators that are attached to host cells via Glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) anchor. While DAF binds to C3b to replace Bb from it, protectin inhibits C9 recruitment to C5b678 complex. Like deficiencies of C1NH and Factor H, mutation within the synthesis of GPI tails leads to Paroxysmal Nocturnal Hemoglobinuria (PNH) [33]. Similarly, deficiency of DAF has been identified to have distinct pathophysiology (will be mentioned in Section 1.2.1.3) [34–35]. Last but not least, there are inhibitory factors of complement that are produced by pathogens to avoid complement activation [36–37].

Table 1.1 Soluble and membrane bound regulators of complement cascade. (Adopted from [31])

Regulator	Alternative name	Point of action	Ligand	Cell surface binding or expression	Function
Soluble regul	ators and effectors	5			
Factor H	None	Alternative pathway	C3b and C3d	Acquired to surface	Cofactor for factor I and acceleration of alternative pathway C3 convertase decay
FHL1	None	Alternative pathway	C3b	Acquired to surface	Cofactor for factor I and acceleration of alternative pathway C3 convertase decay
Properdin	None	Alternative pathway	C3	Binds to apoptotic surfaces	Stabilization of alternative pathway convertases
Carboxy- peptidase N	Anaphylatoxin inactivator	Classical pathway and lectin pathway	C3a, C4a and C5a	NA	Inactivation of anaphylatoxins C3a and C5a
C4BP	None	Classical pathway and lectin pathway	C4	Acquired to surface	Cofactor for factor I and acceleration of classical pathway C3 convertase decay
C1q	None	Classical pathway	IgG and IgM immune complexes	Binds to apoptotic surfaces	Activation of the classical pathway
C1INH	None	Classical pathway and lectin pathway	C1r, C1s and MASP2	NA	Blocks serine protease and is a suicide substrate for C1r, C1s, MASP2, coagulation factors and C3b
CFHR1	None	Terminal pathway	C5 convertase and TCC	Acquired to surface	Inhibition of C5 convertase and TCC assembly
Surface bour	nd regulators and e	effectors			
CRIg	VSIG4	C3	C3b, iC3b and C3c	Macrophages	iC3b-mediated phagocytosis and inhibition of alternative pathway activation
CD46	MCP	C3	C3b and C4b	All cells except erythrocytes	C3 degradation, cofactor for factor I and factor H, and effector for T cell maturation
CD55	DAF	C3	C4b2b and C3bBb	GPI anchor expression by most cell types, including erythrocytes, epithelial cells and endothelial cells	Acceleration of C3 convertase decay
CD59	Protectin	TCC	C8 and TCC	GPI anchor expression by erythrocytes and most nucleated cells, including renal cells	Inhibition of TCC assembly and formation

1.1.1.2 Pathogen Recognition Receptors (PRRs)

1.1.1.2.1 Toll-Like Receptors (TLRs)

Long before the relationship between immune system and *Toll* gene was identified, it was described as a gene controlling dorso-ventral positioning of embryo throughout development of *Drosophila melanogaster*, fruit fly [38–39]. Then, strikingly, mutations in the product of this developmental gene predispose flies to suffer from gram-positive bacterial and fungal infections [40–42]. Furthermore, homologs of Toll proteins were identified and called as Toll-Like Receptors (TLRs) in humans [43].

Up to date, humans and mice do express 10 and 12 distinct TLRs, respectively [44]. TLRs can be grouped based on their location and adaptor molecules that are used within the intracellular signaling [45]. In the context of former, TLRs are divided into intracellular vesicles and cell surface TLRs. While TLR3, TLR7, TLR8, TLR9 and TLR13 are found within endosomes, TLR1, TLR2, TLR5, TLR6 and TLR11 are found on the surface membranes of cells. However, TLR4, first identified TLR, can be found on plasma membrane and in endosomes [3]. Whereas latter distinguishes TLRs via whether they use Myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88 (MyD88) or Toll/IL-1 receptor (TIR)-domain-containing adapter-inducing IFN- β (TRIF) adaptor proteins. In that essence, except TLR3, all TLRs use MyD88 adaptor protein. Surprisingly, TLR4 was identified as TLR using both MyD88 and TRIF proteins for its signaling [44].

1.1.1.2.2 TLR Signaling Pathway

Regardless of localization of receptors and recruited adaptor proteins, all TLRs are composed of three domains: Ectodomain, transmembrane region and cytoplasmic TIR domain [44]. Ectodomains contain leucine rich repeats (LRRs), which are crucial for ligand recognition. TIR domains recruit adaptor proteins such as MyD88 and TRIF and initiates signaling cascades.

These signaling cascades have being extensively studied and delineated (Figure 1.4). Upon dimerization of TLRs, they recruit c or/and TRIF adaptor proteins via their TIR domains. Death domains of recruited MyD88 protein further recruit IL-1-receptor associated kinase 4 (IRAK4) and IRAK1 to establish scaffold protein complex. The formed scaffold, recruits E3 ligase, called as tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor associated factor 6 (TRAF6) and activates it by phosphorylation. Activated TRAF6

along with accessory ubiquitin ligases, establish polyubiquitin scaffold to recruit transforming growth factor- β -activated kinase 1 (TAK1) and TAK binding protein1/2 (TAB1/2) adaptor proteins. As a consequence of being recruited, IRAK1 phosphorylates TAK1 and activates it. From activated TAK1, signaling divides into two distinct parts. On one hand, TAK1 activates IkB kinase (IKK) complex. As it names implies, activated IKK complex phosphorylates IkB leading to degradation of IkB and, consequently, enabling NFkB enter into nucleus for pro-inflammatory cytokine production (TNF- α , IL-6 and IL-1 β). On the other propagation of signaling, TAK1 activates mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway contributing cytokine production [46].

In addition to pro-inflammatory cytokine production, TLR7 and TLR9 signaling pathway, depending on MyD88 adaptor protein, directly recruits and activates Interferon Regulatory Factor 7 (IRF7) via IRAK1. Phosphorylated and dimerized IRF7s enter nucleus and induce production of type I IFNs, especially IFN-α. [47].

In the contrast to MyD88-dependent signaling, TRIF pathway, that is utilized by TLR3 as well as TLR4, propagates via different proteins. Upon TLR dimerization, TRIF protein is recruited via their TIR domains. TRIF, in turn recruits TRAF3 having E3 ligase activity. This, enzymatic activity ensures formation of polyubiquitin complex. That scaffold activates TRAF-family member-associated NF κ B activator (TANK) protein which, in turn, activates Tank-binding Kinase Protein 1 (TBK1). TBK1 phosphorylates transcriptional factor IRF3. Phosphorylated and dimerized IRF3 enters nucleus and initiates production of type I IFNs, especially IFN- β [48].



Figure 1.4 Mammalian TLRs (1-13) recognize different ligands and propagates through different pathways. (Adopted from [45])

1.1.1.2.2.1 Cell Surface Toll-Like Receptors

TLR1, TLR2, TLR4, TLR5 and TLR6, comprise Human Toll-like receptors confined to surface membranes. While TLR1, TLR2 and TLR6 forms two distinct heterodimers upon ligand binding such as TLR1&2 and TLR2&6, TLR4 and TLR5 homodimerize [18]. TLR1&2 and TLR2&6 recognizes lipopeptides: TLR1 and TLR6 enable TLR2 to sense diacyl- and triacyl-lipopeptides, respectively [49]. Moreover, TLR4 and TLR5, which are found on macrophages and dendritic cells, recognize lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and flagellin, respectively.

In addition to homodimerization, TLR4 further requires three accessory proteins such as LPS-binding protein (LPB), Myeloid Differentiation protein-2 (MD2) and CD14. LPB being a plasma soluble protein binds circulating LPS in blood and tissue; then, CD14 recruits LPS bound LBP to TLR4-MD2 complex. As a result of this, MD2 binds active part of LPS; consequently, TLR4 homodimerizes and signaling cascade is activated. TLR5, without using accessory proteins, recognizes flagellin, monomer of flagella [17]. Both LPS and Flagellin induces pro-inflammatory cytokine production via NFkB pathway.

1.1.1.2.2.2 Endosomal Toll-Like Receptors

Human TLRs residing within the endosomes are TLR3, TLR7, TLR8 and TLR9 [50]. Their common feature is that they are evolved to recognize nucleic acids found in extracellular environment such as RNAs and DNAs. They can bind their corresponding ligands after they fuse with phagocytosed and degraded pathogens or dying infected cells in endosomes.

While TLR3 is confined to macrophages, conventional dendritic cells and intestinal epithelial cells, it senses double stranded RNA (dsRNA) and its analog polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid (poly(I:C)) [51]. Even though TLR3 is specific for dsRNA, strikingly, it was reported that TLR3 is activated upon single stranded RNA (ssRNA) viruses such as West Nile virus, respiratory syncytial virus, and double stranded DNA (dsDNA) viruses (such as herpes simplex virus (HSV)) due to dsRNA production during viral gene transcription [52].

TLR7 (and TLR8 in humans [53]) recognize ssRNA entering endosomes and its synthetic analogs, derivatives of imidazoquinoline (R848, Imiquimod and Resiquimod), and guanine analogs; for example, loxoribine [54, 56]. Moreover, TLR7 has ability to sense some siRNAs as well [57]. While TLR7 is expressed by human plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells (pDCs) and B-cells, TLR8 is confined to DCs, macrophages and neutrophils [58–59].

In addition to be found in pDCs and B-cells, TLR9 is evolved to sense dsDNA, specifically CpG motif containing DNA without methylation since they are 20 times more common in viral or bacterial genome [60]. Therefore, bacteria, dsDNA viruses like Herpes Simplex Virus 1 and 2, protozoa parasites such as *Trypanosoma cruzi* are

sensed and demonstrated to elicit responses [61–63]. Strikingly, it was reported that malarial DNA along with hemozoin, a malarial pigment, induces strong activation [64]; however, in a previous report, hemozoin *per se* has been already shown to activate TLR9 signaling [65]. Nonetheless, ligand engagement with TLR9 induces MyD88-dependent immune signaling that eventually leading to B-cell proliferation and maturation, copious amount of type I IFN secretion from pDCs [66].

Besides natural DNAs, synthetic oligonucleotides (ODNs) were reported to induce TLR9 activation [67]. Although this effect was attributed to palindromic sequences, in 1995 and 1996, Krieg and Klinman demonstrated that ODN with unmethylated CpG dinucleotide, which is flanked by two 5' purines and two 3' pyrimidines, induces strong activation of innate immune cells [68–69]. Nowadays, three distinct classes of ODNs were determined [70–72]. First, when multiple CpG motifs reside on phosphorothioate backbone, ODN is called 'K' type (called 'B' type as well). Their recognition by TLR9 is achieved within late endosomes and leads to activation of NFκB transcriptional factor. They stimulate B-cells to differentiate and secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines, whereas pDCs were reported to secrete TNF- α . Another class of ODNs were named as D-ODNs (or 'A' type). In contrast to K-ODNs, D-ODNs (also known as A-Type ODN) bear one CpG motif on phosphodiester/phosphorothioate mixed backbone and possess poly-G tail on both 5' and 3' ends. Poly-G tails on both ends of ODN, enable them to form nanoparticle-like structures. As a consequence of their complicated structures, they are recognized in early endosomes. This feature enables them to induce pDCs to secrete massive amounts of type I IFNs. Lastly, mixed type (C-type) ODNs were recently described [72]. As the name implies, it can trigger pDCs to secrete type I IFNs and at the same time leads to maturation of B-cells.

1.1.1.2.3 Cytosolic Nucleic Acid Sensors

During an infection, it is crucial to detect microorganisms by presence of their nucleic acids in cytosol. As a consequence of this, immune system evolved to bear cytosolic nucleic acid sensors. There are three major sensors of nucleic acids in cytosol: i) RLRs, ii) DNA-dependent activator of interferon regulatory genes and iii) ALRs. While RLRs detects RNA in cytosol (Figure 1.5A), other two detects DNA (Figure 1.5B) [73].



Figure 1.5 Cytosolic nucleic acid sensors of innate immunity. A) RIG-I, MDA-5, **B)** STING pathway. (Adopted from [74])

1.1.1.2.4 RIG-I Like Receptors

There are three major distinct sensors for RNA in cytosol. They are RIG-I, Melanoma differentiation associated 5 (MDA-5) and LGP2 (laboratory of genetics and physiology 2 and a homolog of mouse D11lgp2) [75]. For the scope of this thesis, RIG-I and MDA-5 are merely discussed. Unlike most of the PRRs, their expression is ubiquitous. However, immune signaling are varies between cells; to illustrate, even though myeloid cells can respond to cytosolic RNAs, pDCs cannot initiate immune response via RLRs [75].

In order to sense ssRNA, RIG-I differentiates pathogenic RNA from eukaryotic is via sensing modification at 5' end of host ssRNAs [76]. However, there are several microorganisms such as polio virus and hepatitis A, evade this differentiation by transcribing their RNAs within nucleus of host [4]. MDA-5 senses dsRNA, specifically long dsRNAs [77]. Moreover, they can be activated by synthetic compounds such as transfection of p(I:C) and poly(deoxyadenylic-deoxythymidylic) Although former can be recognized directly, latter is recognized by RNA intermediate that is formed by RNA polymerase III due to DNA rich in AT sequence [78].

Upon recognition of corresponding RNAs, autoinhibited conformation is altered; consequently, RIG-I and MDA-5 can bind to mitochondrial antiviral signaling protein (MAVS) on mitochondria. After binding, receptors and MAVS, aggregate and recruit TRAF which propagates signaling towards to activation of NF κ B and IRF3. As a result of this, pro-inflammatory cytokines and type I IFNs are produced [79].

1.1.1.2.5 DNA-dependent activator of interferon regulatory genes

In healthy eukaryotic cells, DNA is strictly confined to nucleus. Therefore, either stress or presence of pathogen can lead to presence of DNA in nucleus. In order to sense and response against them, mammalian immune system is evolved to bear several cytosolic DNA sensors: AIM2, DAI (or ZBP1), RNA polymerase III, IFI16, DDX41 and most recently discovered cGAS [64, 71–72]. However, until the discovery of cGAS [81], none of these sensors were documented to be exclusive; that is, either they are confined to specific cell types or they have redundancy. For example, although IFI16, a protein confined to nucleus, and DAI are reported to sense cytosolic DNA, upon their depletion, cells were still observed to have DNA-dependent immune response [82–84].

As cyclic guanosine monophosphate-adenosine monophosphate (cGAMP) synthase (cGAS), binds to DNA in cytosol and produces a secondary messenger, cGAMP, from ATP and GTP in cytosol, cGAMP is sensed by an adaptor protein called Stimulator of IFN genes (STING). In addition to natural course of DNA sensing, DNA-dependent activation of STING can be studied by transfecting several product such as 2'3' or 3'3' cGAMP [85], DNA of Herpes Simplex Virus (HSV) [82] and p(dA:dT) [86].

Except AIM2 [87], all cytosolic DNA sensors converge into same Endoplasmic Reticulum localized signaling adaptor, STING. Upon activation, STING proteins dimerize and recruit TBK1 to phosphorylate IRF3. Phosphorylated IRF3 homodimers enter into nucleus and produces type I IFNs. Meanwhile, homodimers of STING activate NF κ B signaling to initiate production of pro-inflammatory cytokines as well [84–88]. AIM2 as a member of PYHIN family protein, induces inflammasome formation which eventually lead to maturation and secretion of IL-1 β and IL-18 rather than type I IFNs [89].

1.1.1.3 Neutrophils, Low-Density Granulocytes (LDGs) and Neutrophil Extracellular Traps (NETs)

Being the most abundant immune cell type in peripheral blood circulation puts neutrophils on the frontier barricades of innate immunity [90]; in other words, they are the first cell type that are recruited to inflammatory area [91]. Neutrophils are terminally differentiated cells that are released to circulation from bone marrow; therefore, they have a short-life time in circulation (8-12 hours), however, it has been recently demonstrated that they can live up to 7 days during ongoing inflammatory conditions within tissues [92]. So as to limit the invasion, they have been equipped with three distinct powerful immune mechanisms: i) degranulation of antimicrobial proteins (such as neutrophil elastase (NE), myeloperoxidase (MPO)) in pre-formed granules, ii) phagocytose pathogens into reactive oxygen species (ROS) containing phagosomes and iii) propelling their chromosomes to extracellular environment to form a meshwork of DNA which is called as Neutrophil Extracellular Traps (NETs). [93–95].



Figure 1.6 Molecular signaling of NETosis. (Adopted from [95])

Formation of NETs (NETosis), is a unique subset of regulated necrosis in which invading pathogens can be immobilized, inactivated and killed [96]. Even though it is known that NETs are formed and propelled against certain sterile stimuli (Urate/Cholesterol crystals, autoantibody complexes [97–98]) and microbes (fungi [99], parasites [100], viruses[101]) especially ones that cannot be phagocytosed by neutrophils [102], neither 'trap or phagocytose' decision phenomena nor exact mechanism behind NET formation has been elucidated yet [91]. Meanwhile, there are more than one type of NETosis. In addition to regulated death of neutrophils upon stimuli, NETs and proteins in granules can be rapidly propelled against *S. aureus* while neutrophils are still viable and carry on functioning such as phagocytosis [103–104]. Besides non-lytic NETosis, it was shown that there are more than one signaling cascades leading to classical NETosis and, NADPH oxidase-dependent pathway is a well-studied one (Figure 1.6). Upon microbial or sterile stimulation (or mitogenic stimuli: PMA, Concavalin A and Ionomycin [105]) through receptors increases intracellular levels of Ca²⁺. Elevated calcium ion level
activates protein kinase C (PKC) and initiates assembly of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase complex. PKC and NADPH generate ROS, especially hydrogen peroxide. Hydrogen peroxide activates special proteins such as NE, MPO within azurophilic granules. Contents of azurophilic granule is spilled over cytoplasm due to activity of MPO. They gather into nucleus to decondense chromatins via histone processing. While DNA is being released as a meshwork, proteins from granules such as MPO, NE, LL-37, HMGB1 are decorated on them [94–95–102–105–106].

Although NETs are crucial for dissemination of invaders, aberrant NET formation or ineffective NET removal are reported to lead coagulation [107–108], sterile inflammation [109–110], organ/tissue damage [111] and contribute allergy [112], autoimmunity [113–116].

In addition to diverse NETosis mechanisms, several novel subsets of neutrophils have been recently identified [116–120]. They have been named as low-density granulocytes (LDGs) or low-density neutrophils (LDNs) due to fact that they reside within Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cell (PBMC) fractions after whole bloods were separated by density gradient centrifugation (Figure 1.7) [119–121]. Yet, there is a dilemma on whether LDGs are indeed subsets of neutrophils or modified versions of mature circulating neutrophils in diseased individuals [91]. However, it is certain that these 'subsets' of neutrophils contribute to progression and severity of diseases in which they are harbored. For example, cancer patients, apart from their tumor associated neutrophils (TANs) [122–124], had LGDs with immunosuppressive effects inhibiting T-cell proliferation and functioning [125]. Circulating LDGs in autoimmune diseases like SLE, Psoriasis, Rheumatoid Arthritis [126] are recorded to have increased inflammatory cytokine secretion and NET formation to further exacerbating disease progression.



Figure 1.7 Subsets of neutrophils and their distribution through whole blood layering during health and disease. (Adopted from [91])

Moreover, it has been demonstrated that they can enhance activity and effector functions of adaptive immune cells [119–121, 127]. Strikingly, it has been demonstrated that presence of LDGs in HIV infected individuals, correlated strongly with the LDG numbers and HIV severity [128].

1.1.2. IMMUNE DEFICIENCIES

In the course of normal immune responses, pathogenic agents, that have breached the first line of defense barriers, provoke innate immune response, so that it limits the spread of the insult to the surrounding tissues. Professional antigen presenting cells that migrate to the nearest lymph node instruct naive B- and T-cells; consequently, adaptive arm is induced to establish long-lasting and antigen-specific immune response against threats. Alongside with innate immune cells, adaptive immune cells

eliminate threats; moreover, at the end, protective immunity is established as well. Nonetheless, in rare cases, immune responses may fail due to several reasons. These failures of defense mechanisms, are called as Immunodeficiencies [4]. In other words, immunodeficiencies arise when at least one element of or part of immune system cannot function as it is required to be mainly due to mutation(s) in the genes(s). As a consequence of this, infectious microorganisms or internal threats cannot be eliminated or cleared completely.

Defects of immune system are classified into two groups: Primary Immunodeficiency Disorders (hereafter PIDs) and Secondary (or Acquired) Immune Deficiencies [129]. Acquired Immune Deficiencies are consequences of environmental parameters instead of genetic mutations such as but not limited to malnutrition, metabolic diseases, medical therapies or interventions and infectious diseases are considered as general causes of acquired immunodeficiency disorders (Figure 1.8) [130].

Major cause of secondary immune deficiency is malnutrition [131]. Malnutrition is a term to define restricted access to food sources. Such as hypoproteinemia or lankness of micronutrients cause immune system to dysfunction and increase host's susceptibility to internal and external threats [132]. Even though malnutrition is the most common factor leading to secondary immune deficiencies, the most studied one is Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV). Although HIV infects cells bearing CD4⁺ and CCR5, CXCR4 co-receptors, major replication site of virus is CD4⁺ T-cells [133]. As a consequence of this, CD4⁺ T-cell levels in blood circulation is reduced to a critical level which leads to increased host susceptibility against opportunistic infections [134].



Figure 1.8 Major factors causing Secondary Immune Deficiencies. Secondary Immune Deficiencies arise from extrinsic and/or environmental factors. (Adopted from [130])

1.1.2.1 Primary Immune Deficiency Disorders

PIDs are congenital disorders in which inherited or *de novo* mutation(s) disrupts immune system functioning or proper development, or both of them. In contrast to being a group of rare disorders, as it is depicted in Figure 1.9, due to genetic basis, it is no surprise that prevalence of PIDs is reported to be high within inbred, consanguineous populations and countries [135].





Clinical manifestations of PIDs vary in a broad spectrum; to illustrate, even though many deficiencies lead to predisposition to infections, autoimmunity, malignancy as well as excessive inflammation and anatomical abnormalities can be manifested [129, 136–137].

More than 350 deficiencies have been characterized since the first identification of the PID which was agammaglobulinemia [138–139]. Although there is no consensus on classification, identified disorders are generally grouped based on functional part of immune system that is compromised. However, it is important to emphasize that malfunction of a certain part of the immune system may lead to perturbation of others.

PIDs can be classified into two immense categories as: disorder of innate and adaptive immune system (Figure 1.10). Meanwhile, a group of deficiencies, called as Immune Dysregulations, leading to autoimmunity, autoinflammation is included in the PID categorization as well [140].



Figure 1.10 Classifications and examples of PIDs. Diseases that are written in bold and indicated with asterisk are topics of this thesis (Compiled from [129–139–143])

Deficiencies within innate immune system can be further grouped into disorders of i) phagocytes and ii) complement system. In the case of phagocytes deficiencies, numbers, adhesion, activation, and killing capabilities of innate immune cells could be reduced or completely malfunctioning. For example, deficiency in neutrophil production, called as neutropenia, can be caused from mutations within *ELA2* gene encoding NE. As a result of this, myelocytes undergo apoptosis during development from promyelocyte to myelocytes [144]. Defects in phagocytes reduce host's capability to eradicate pus-forming bacteria; consequently, granulomas can be presented [142]. Non-functional complement proteins induced deficiencies can be divided into three as defects in early, late and regulatory components of predispose hosts to recurrent infections of encapsulated bacteria and *Neisseria* species; in addition, Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE)-like syndrome can be manifested in certain complement deficiencies [140].

On the contrary, mutations interfering development or functionality of adaptive immune system can be grouped as i) T-cell deficiencies, ii) antibody-mediated deficiencies and iii) combined immune deficiencies (CIDs) [140]. T-cell deficiencies are composed of

defects in receptors or signaling pathways in which T-cell mediated antibody production is not compromised [4]. That is, subsets of T-cells have impaired responses. For example, defects in IL-12/IFN-γ cytokines/receptors and IL17 cytokine/receptor manifest as recurrent intracellular bacterial infections and mucocutaneous candidiasis, respectively [140]. In the cases of antibody-mediated deficiencies where it can be due to defects in induction of B- and T-cell responses such as Bruton's X-Linked agammaglobulinemia, hyper-IgM syndrome. Meanwhile, certain impaired genes leading to developmental defects in T- and/or B-cells are termed as CIDs [129]. Most prominent subtype of it is Severe Combined Immunodeficiencies (SCIDs) in which cellmediated immune responses and T-cell dependent immunoglobulin presence are impaired. Individuals with SCIDs such as RAG1/2, JAK3, IL2RG deficiencies suffer from wide array of pathogens [143].

In the case of third group of deficiencies, immune dysregulations may manifest themselves with autoimmune and inflammatory symptoms without having increased predisposition to pathogenic infections [140]. In those diseases, even though lymphocytes and subsets are present, they are generally dysfunctional which may lead to autoreactivity as well as dysregulation [140]. For instance, Familial Mediterranean Fever (FMF) is an autosomal recessive disease that is resulted from mutations within the gene called Mediterranean Fever (MEFV). MEFV encodes a crucial regulatory protein called pyrin or marenostrin. Even though protein's exact structure and function have not been elucidated yet, it was demonstrated that it inhibits caspase-1 associated inflammasome formation in cells [145]. FMF individuals have mutations leading to overactivation of inflammasome and consequently, sera of patients harbor elevated levels of IL-1 β and IL-18 cytokines. Due to role of IL-1 β in thermoregulation, patients manifests recurrent fever episodes, renal and dermal complications [146].

As it can be deduced, each classes and sub-classes of deficiencies discretely manifests themselves; thus, by conducting studies on these 'experiments of nature', one can delineate, comprehend normally-functioning immune pathways as well as their redundancy and interactions between other components of the immune system [4, 143–147].

Although certain PIDs can be managed through supportive treatments such as administration of antibiotics, antifungals, intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) and

cytokine replacements, others, especially SCIDs, are required to be corrected via hematopoietic-stem cells transplantation (HSCT) due to lethality [140–148].

1.1.2.2 Cytidine Triphosphate Synthase 1 (CTPS1) Deficiency

Cytidine Triphosphate Synthase 1 (CTPS1) deficiency has been identified as extremely rare deficiency of immune system in 2014 and it has been further documented in few numbers of articles [149–152]. Common clinical symptoms of CTPS1 deficiency are mild gastrointestinal symptoms, early onset of recurrent and severe infections of Herpes Simplex virus (HSV), Varicella Zoster virus (VZV), Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) and encapsulated bacteria. Moreover, due to EBV infections, individuals predispose to have malignancies, reduced memory B-cell and CD8⁺ T-cell numbers [149–152].

As its name implies, disease results from mutation within a gene encoding CTP synthase 1 enzyme which is one of the key enzymes in *de novo* pyrimidine biosynthesis. In order to synthesize CTP, CTPS1 and CTPS2 (another form of CTPS1) transfer an amide group from Glutamine to Uracil Triphosphate in presence of ATP (Figure 1.11) [153]. However, exact roles of CTPS1 and CTPS2 in nucleic acid biosynthesis pathway have not been elucidated yet [154].



Figure 1.11 Illustration of mammalian *de novo* **pyrimidine synthesis pathway.** The exact positioning of CTPS1 in pathway was indicated by green box number as 9. (Adopted from [153])

As a result of pivotal role in nucleic acid synthesis, proliferation and consequently development of CTPS1 deficient cells even tissues are expected to be impaired. Nevertheless, patients do not manifest physical abnormalities or non-immune symptoms, therefore, it might be interpreted that in some tissues, CTPS2 enzyme is able to compensate deficiency of CTPS1 enzyme [149].

Having CID symptoms lead researchers to reveal consequences of CTPS1 deficiency in adaptive immune system [149]. First and foremost, patients do not have invariant



Figure 1.12 CTPS1 deficiency results in defective T-cell and B-cell proliferation. (Adopted from [155])

Natural Killer Cells (iNKT) and Mucosal Associated invariant T-cells (MAIT). In contrast to CTPS2 which is highly expressed in non-activated T-cells, expression of CTPS1 enzyme was determined as low. However, upon CD3 and CD28 co-receptor cross-linking, healthy T-cells immediately express CTPS1 enzyme. CTPS1 deficient T-cells, however, are unable to induce production of CTPS1 enzyme; consequently, they are unable to produce CTP eventually leading to cell cycle arrest in G1 phase. Not only T-cells but also, activation of B-cells upon BCR and TLR9, CD40 engagement in the presence of IL-4 induced resulted in CTPS1 enzyme expression. All in all, proliferation capabilities of T-cells and B-cells were severely impaired upon TCR and BCR

inductions, respectively. That is, responses of T-cells, T-cell dependent and independent B-cell are defective since adaptive immune system normally require proliferation of T- and B-cells (Figure 1.12).

Even though mild cases were reported [150], malignancies, chronic and recurrent infections in CTPS1 deficiency patients are life threatening. Moreover, no cases with prolonged survival has been reported yet [152]. Thus, in two distinct reports, hematopoietic-stem cells transplantation (HSCT) was attempted to cure 13 patients in total [151–152]. Although number of patients that thrived after HSCT is 9, HSCT, right now, is only curative option. Last but not least, since the role of CTPS1 in immune system has been partially revealed, immunosuppression based on CTPS1 enzyme can be promising [149].

1.1.2.3 CD55 Deficiency

One of the most recent complement regulatory protein deficiency was identified in 2017 by Dr. Ahmet Ozen and his colleagues. [34]. From eight consanguineous families, thirteen individuals represented increased visceral thrombosis, overactivation of complement, recurrent infections, protein losing-enteropathy induced gastrointestinal symptoms such malabsorption, abdominal pain and diarrhea. Disease is called CHAPLE syndrome standing for hyperactivation of complement, angiopathic thrombosis and protein-losing enteropathy [34–35]

After genomes of individuals were analyzed via whole-exome sequencing, it has been revealed that patients in cohort bear three distinct rare variants, leading to loss-of-function, in a gene encoding CD55 protein. It has probability of loss-of-function intolerance is 0; in other words, individuals heterozygous for CD55 variants do not present symptoms which are listed above. Therefore, CD55 deficiency is an autosomal recessive disease.

As it was briefly mentioned previously (see section 1.1.1.1), CD55 or DAF, is GPIanchored plasma membrane protein that was first identified and isolated from human RBCs [156]. Besides membrane bound CD55, plasma soluble can be generated via alternative splicing, the major form of CD55 is membrane bound one [157]. Although expression pattern varies through tissues, stroma, epithelial, glandular and immune [158] cells, especially granulocytes and monocytes [159]. CD55 play a crucial role in regulation of classical and alternative pathways of complement. It inhibits formation of C3 convertase by destabilizing the C3bBb complex by removing Bb from it. Consequently, hosts cells are vulnerable to deposition of complement proteins and cascade. Moreover, studies reported that CD55 do have complement-independent functions. *In vivo* studies with murine models showed that, mice bearing mutation in *Daf1* gene, homolog of human DAF, have upregulated IFN- γ , IL-2 and decreased IL-10 cytokine secretion [160]. Meanwhile, *in vitro* study put forwards that while CD55 co-stimulates CD4+ T-cells through CD97 receptors, it still carries out complement regulation. Upon CD97 and TCR engagement, T-cells have enhanced proliferation, cytokine production and surface activation markers [161].

Due to fundamental role in regulation of complement pathway, as expected, CHAPLE patients suffer from massive amount of complement activation (generation of active components such as C3a, C5a) and consequently, thrombotic events. Thrombosis and thrombosis-induced embolisms are major source of morbidity [35]. Complement and coagulation systems are interrelated; to illustrate, complement effector proteins such as C3a activates platelets via enhancing their aggregation and adhesion which eventually contribute to contact-dependent thrombosis. Whereas C5a upregulates expression of tissue factor which is a crucial element in extrinsic coagulation pathway [162–164]. Interaction between complement and coagulation has been reported in other complement regulatory deficiencies such as aHUS [165] and PNH [166]. Meanwhile, it has been demonstrated that when CHAPLE patients' CD4+ T-cells are incubated with healthy sera, they had increased deposition of inactive C3 fragments C3d and iC3b; however, C3b molecules were not detected since rapid removal of them by other complement regulatory proteins like Factor I. In addition, biopsy from patients' duodenum showed submucosal arteries harbor tremendous amount of MAC formation. Thus, leading to massive cell death and consequently leading to gastrointestinal symptoms. In the context of functions of CD55 other than complement inhibition, researchers found out that CD55 deficient patients' helper T-cells had increased TNF- α yet decreased IL-10 secretion. However, when C5a and C3a receptors on T-cells are inhibited, TNF- α but not IL-10 secretion levels from T-cells are returned to healthy levels. Thus, immunosuppressive role of CD55 is independent from its role in complement pathway. It can be explained by deficient CD55-CD97 receptor-ligand engagement between CD55 bearing APCs and T-cells. Since IL-10 is a pivotal of immunosuppressive cytokine for systemic [167–168] as well as mucosal immune system [169], dysregulation leading to intestinal, bowel inflammation in CHAPLE patients are caused by insufficient CD97 co-stimulation mediated reduced IL-10 secretion [170–171].

aHUS, PNS [172–173] and other C3 glomerulopathies [174] can be managed through a therapeutic drug called Eculizumab. Eculizumab is a monoclonal recombinant protein binding and consequently, neutralizes C5 proteins floating in plasma. After C5 proteins are neutralized, C5b and C5a cannot be generated through C5 convertases on membranes. Thus, Eculizumab inhibits MAC-mediated cell lysis and alleviates potentiation of inflammation caused by C5a anaphylatoxin. As a result of this, researchers first assessed potential therapeutic value of Eculizumab on T-cells derived from CHAPLE patients [34]. After a successful *in vitro* study, one published [175] and unpublished [35] clinical reports demonstrated clinical manifestations of CHAPLE patients such as thrombosis, protein-losing enteropathy and bowel-movement frequency are faded away even after a Eculizumab dose was given.



Figure 1.13 Eculizumab: mechanism of action. (Adopted from [174])

1.2. EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES

After thymocytes of bone marrow chimeras were demonstrated to gather host MHC class molecules in 1981 [176], mechanisms explaining the transportation of membrane proteins between different cells have being extensively studied [177]. One well-studied and appreciated mechanism is secretion of membrane-enclosed vesicles into extracellular environment. Even though secretion of extracellular vesicles (EVs) were previously regarded as a garbage disposal system of cells [178–179], current studies challenge this idea and demonstrate that EVs are evolutionary conserved way of communication between them since secretion of them has been observed in all three domains of life: prokaryotes [180], archaea [181–182], unicellular [183–184] and multicellular eukaryotes [185]. Furthermore, variety of cell types such as tumor cells [186], B-cells [187], neutrophils [178] and DCs [188] are documented to secrete EVs. Thus, it is not a surprise that EVs can be isolated from cultures of bacteria, bodily fluids such as blood, saliva, urine, semen [189].

1.2.1. Types and biogenesis of EVs

Extracellular vesicles are lipid enclosed particles carrying molecules from cytosol and plasma membrane such as proteins, lipids, nucleic acids of originating cells. EV term encompasses heterogenous types of nanoparticles whose sizes varies from 15nm to 50μ M. They are divided into three broad categories in the context of sub-cellular origin and size: exosomes, microvesicles and apoptotic bodies [190]. For the scope of this thesis exosomes and microvesicles are discussed solely.

While size of exosomes is between 15 and 100nm, microvesicle' sizes range from 100 to 1000nm. Differences in EV size is a consequence of distinct biogenesis pathways in which they are produced. (Figure 1.14) [191]. Exosomes are intraluminal vesicles that are generated within endocytic system, called multi vesicular bodies (MVB). They can be formed through either endosomal sorting complex required for transport (ESCRT)-dependent or independent mechanisms [190]. Microvesicles bud outward from plasma membrane [185]. Therefore, microvesicles can be released to extracellular environment by merely pinching off. On the contrary, in order to release exosomes into extracellular milieu, MVBs are required to fuse with plasma membrane [189]. Thus,

pace of exosome release is expected to be much more slower compared to microvesicles [190].

Furthermore, there are several parameters discriminating exosomes from microvesicles and *vice versa*. Even though both exosomes and microvesicles bear markers of cells that they have originated from, exosomes carry markers of endosomes; to illustrate tetraspanins, Alix, TSG101, heat-shock proteins, and possess lipid rafts, cholesterol, sphingomyelin and ceramide [192–194]. On the other hand, composition of microvesicles resembles to plasma membrane.



Figure 1.14 Mechanisms of microvesicle (upper) and exosome (lower) biogenesis. (Adopted from [190])

1.2.2. EVs and their impact on immune system

After EVs are delivered to extracellular environment, they can reach places that are allowed by transportation system of an organism. First, they are needed to be docked at plasma membrane of recipient cells. Then, they can be internalized through several mechanism [195]. Studies showed that EVs can be taken up by membrane fusion [196], endocytic pathways including phagocytosis [197], receptor-mediated endocytosis [198], clathrin-mediated endocytosis [199], lipid raft-mediated endocytosis [200] and macropinocytosis [199]. Regardless of different EV uptake mechanisms, their protein and RNA content can be utilized by recipient cell. As a consequence of this, they can alter, modulate behavior and responses of recipient cells via cargos that they bear.

EVs can contribute to tuning of certain physiological process in health such as blood coagulation [201], embryo implantation [202], neural cell communication [203]. Meanwhile, their effects have been documented in various diseases such as hemophilia [204], idiopathic thrombocytic purpura [205], autoimmunity [206], atherosclerosis [207] and cancer [208]. Therefore, it is no surprise that EVs have an impact on immune system. *In vitro* and *in vivo* studies demonstrated that EVs do contribute and even stimulate immune responses. Their effects on immune system (both innate and adaptive arms) can be generalized as immunostimulatory and immunosuppressive [209].

First and foremost, EVs are capable of carrying antigens in free form as well as loaded on MHC molecules [210]. So as to reveal antigen transportation, cancer models have been extensively studied. It has been demonstrated that APCs that did not come across with a single cancer cell, can generate immune response against cancer peptides [211]. Thus, it can be interpreted that EVs can carry both surface (such as epidermal growth factor receptor 2, carcinoembryonic antigen) and cytosolic (such tyrosinase related protein 1) antigens [212]. After internalization of EVs by APCs, cargos can be loaded on MHC classes. Consequently, they can be presented to CD8+ and CD4+ Tcells. Not only cancer but also, EVs from host cells that are underwent infections such as Mycobacterium tuberculosis [213] and Toxoplasma gondii [214] can supply antigens for APCs. Moreover, EVs are documented to present peptides that are loaded on MHC molecules directly to adaptive immune cells rather than through APCs. To illustrate, EVs that are derived from certain APCs such as DCs and B-cells are reported to directly activate CD8+ and CD4+ T-cells via MHCI and MHCII molecules, respectively [215-217]. Furthermore, EVs can stimulate immune cells independently from MHC classes. Studies postulated that Platelet-derived exosomes induces adhesion and proliferation of hematopoietic cells [218]. Moreover, it has been documented that cells that are infected with HIV secrete EVs carrying cGAMP molecules since HIV per se is sensed by cytosolic nucleic acids sensors of host cells. Thus, EVs can alert cells that can be subsequently infected by HIV [217].

Strikingly, certain EVs may exert suppressive effects on immune system. For example, Tregs, which are key immunosuppressive cells of immune system, are known to secrete exosomes bearing CD73 molecules on their surface upon activation through their TCRs [219]. Studies showed that these exosomes repress activities of DCs [220] and proliferation capabilities of CD8+ T-cells [221]. Meanwhile, activated T-cells may secrete EVs that induce apoptosis of other T-cells in proximity through TNF superfamily receptor-ligand interaction [222].

In addition to being secreted from almost all cell types and modulating immune responses, due to cargo that they bear, EVs are started to be investigated whether they can be studied as a potential diagnostic tool for various diseases [223]. One of the most studied cargo in that essence are mRNAs and microRNAs. Plasma and serum samples of cancer [208], cardiovascular [224], neurodegenerative [225] patients can be isolated and their microRNA compositions were differentially characterized. Beside RNA content of EVs, proteomic [226–227] and lipidomic [228] studies are conducted to distinguish disease vs healthy EVs. Lastly, morphology of isolated EVs is diagnostically found to be important, especially in prostate cancer [229].

1.3. Subject and Outline of the Thesis

PIDs are rare disorders resulting from mutated genes within human immune system. They have been primarily recorded in sociologically and economically underdeveloped countries. Even though they can be managed via certain therapeutic interventions, for some cases, only curative option is HSCT. In addition to being regarded as 'experiments of nature' and 'natural knock-outs', delineation of them enables us to comprehend how components of immune system work and interact under real-life conditions. Thus, it is invaluable to investigate them. Herein, we will attempt to unravel molecular mechanisms of two monogenic and extremely rare PIDs: CTPS1 and CD55 deficiency (or CHAPLE Syndrome). While CTPS1 deficiency is the most recently discovered disorder of adaptive immune system, deficiency of CD55 is a regulatory complement disorder which was characterized in patients from Middle East countries, mostly Turkey. Despite being novel diseases, they have not been gained sufficient

attention. Their investigation and characterization efforts will contribute understating of mechanisms behind these disorders as well as molecules standalone.

Firstly, since CTPS1 deficient individuals suffer from recurrent viral infections, effect of deficient CTPS1 enzyme on cytotoxic T-cells will be investigated. STAT1 phosphorylation levels of CD8⁺ T-cells under IFN-β induced, basal conditions will be assessed using flow cytometry. Even though defects in proliferation capabilities were shown, currently, it is not known whether T helper cells are functionally impaired or not. To that end, phosphorylation levels of STAT1, STAT4, STAT5 and STAT6 proteins in CD4⁺ T-cells were investigated using flow cytometry after their corresponding receptors will be stimulated or left untreated. In order to further demonstrate effect of deficient CTPS1 enzyme on helper T-cells, cytokine secretions of patient Th1, Th2, Th17 and Treg will be determined by flow cytometry. Then, we will turn our attention to functional consequences of defect CTPS1 enzyme in innate immunity by evaluating responses to PRR stimulations. In that essence, PBMCs from patients and healthy controls will be stimulated with endosomal TLR as well as cytosolic DNA sensor ligands and cytokine levels will be determined using ELISA. Moreover, PRR-mediated responses of adaptive immune cells will be assessed by stimulating TLRs (such as TLR4, TLR5, TLR7 and TLR9) and intracellular DNA sensors of PBMCs. Then, levels of IFN- γ and IL-12 cytokines will be evaluated using cytokine ELISA. Next, CTPS1 patient manifests granulomas on skin. Therefore, it is hypothesized that deficient CTPS1 enzyme may lead to autoimmune-like responses. To investigate this, neutrophils from CTPS1 patient and controls will be isolated. Their responses under basal and stimulated conditions be determined and quantified using live imaging microscopy will and spectrofluorometric analysis, respectively. Lastly, CTPS1 plasma derived EVs will be isolated and in order to delineate whether these vesicles contribute to disease pathology EVs from controls and patients will be incubated with allogenic healthy PBMCs and secreted pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokine responses will be assessed using ELISA.

CD55 is a complement regulatory protein; in other words, it regulates and inhibits activation of alternative and classical complement cascades. Apart from aberrant complement activation and bowel inflammation, CHAPLE patients suffer from nutrient and micronutrient deficiencies as well as gut pathologies. Here, second part of the thesis will attempt to unearth three crucial questions regarding CD55 deficiency: i) what are the functional consequences of deficient CD55 protein on immune cells, and ii)

How will immune responses be affected after a single Eculizumab therapy, iii) whether single dose of Eculizumab therapy altered the composition of circulating EVs or not. So as to answer those, 4 CHAPLE patients, who are planned to receive Eculizumab therapy, will be included in cohort of this study. PBMCs will be isolated from before and after therapy bloods. Then, they are going to be stimulated with endosomal TLR (TLR3, TLR7 and TLR9) and cytosolic DNA sensor (STING, IFI16) ligands or inflammasome ligands. Inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokine responses will be determined by cytokine ELISA. Next, EVs from BT and AT CD55 patients will be isolated. They are going to be incubated with syngeneic BT and AT CHAPLE PBMCs. Culture supernatants will be analyzed to demonstrate how BT and AT EVs alter immunological responses of patients. Human cytokine ELISA will be conducted to detect levels of inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines. To further validate and observe effects of EVs on immune system, healthy PBMCs will be co-incubated with BT or AT EVs and cytokine ELISA will be performed.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1. Materials

2.1.1. Cell Culture Media and Buffers

Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS), RPMI 1640 (with L-Glutamine), Sodium Pyruvate and Penicillin-Streptomycin were purchased from Gibco Life Sciences, USA. Non-Essential Amino Acids, HEPES Buffer were supplied from Biological Industries, Israel. 1X Dulbecco's Phosphate Saline Buffer (DPBS), Cell Culture Grade Water were purchased from ThermoFischer Scientific, USA.

Recipes of complete media were given in Appendix A alongside with non-commercial, hand-made buffers and solutions that were used in this study.

2.1.2. PRR and Cytokine Receptor ligands used in *in vitro* stimulation experiments

In the following Table 2.1, mitogens, innate sensor ligands, from where they were purchased, brand names, catalogue numbers, working concentrations and their corresponding sensor or signaling pathway names were given.

	Ligand Name	Brand Name/ (Country)	Catalogue Number	Working Concentration	Receptor/Signaling Pathway
	Pam3CSK4	Invivogen (USA)	tlrl-pms	1µg/ml	TLR2&1
	p(I:C)	Invivogen (USA)	tlrl-picw	30μg/ml	TLR3
1	LPS (Isolated from <i>E. coli</i>)	Sigma Aldrich (Germany)	L-2880-100mg	5µg/ml	TLR4
	Ultra-Pure Flagellin (Isolated from <i>S.</i> typhimurium)	Invivogen (USA)	tlr-pstfla-5	100ng/ml	TLR5
	R848	Enzo Life Sciences (USA)	ALX-420-038- M025	5μg/ml	TLR7
	D35-3CG*	Alpha DNA (Canada)	590691	ЗμМ	TLR9
	K3*	Alpha DNA (Canada)	539665	1μΜ	TLR9
	2'3'- cGAMP**	Invivogen (USA)	tlrl-cga-23	30μg/ml	STING
	HSV-60 Naked**	Invivogen (USA)	tlrl-hsv60n	5µg/ml	cGAS-STING
	p(dA:dT)**	Invivogen (USA)	tiri-patn	5µg/ml	AIM2 Inflammasome & DAI-STING and RIG- I/MAVS
	LPS (Isolated from <i>E.coli</i>)**	Sigma Aldrich (Germany)	L-2880-100mg	5µg/ml	Non-Canonical Inflammasome

 Table 2.1. Mitogens, ligands and cytokines used in this study.

Ultra-Pure Flagellin (Isolated from <i>S.</i> <i>typhimurium</i>)**	Invivogen (USA)	tlr-pstfla-5	100ng/ml	NLRC4 Inflammasome
Phorbol-12- myristate 13- acetate	Sigma Aldrich (Germany)	P1585	50ng/ml	Protein Kinase C
lonomycin	Calbiochem (Germany)	407950	1µg/ml	Ca ⁺² Channels on Endoplasmic Reticulum
Human Recombinant IL-2	Biolegend (USA)	589104	100ng/ml	IL2R-JAK1/2-STAT5
Human Recombinant IL-4	Biolegend (USA)	574004	200ng/ml	IL4R-JAK3-STAT6
Human Recombinant IL-6	Biolegend (USA)	570802	200ng/ml	IL6R-JAK1/2-STAT3

*-Base sequence of D35-3CG CpG ODN: 5' GGtgcatcgatgcaggggGG 3' (synthesized with phosphodiester/phosphorothioate mixed backbone chemistry)

-Base sequence of K3 CpG ODN: 5' TCGACTCTCGAGCGTTCTC 3' (synthesized with all phosphorothioate modification)

-Uppercase letters indicate bases having phosphorothioate linkages whereas lowercase letters indicate bases with phosphodiester linkages.

**-Ligands were transfected by using 0.3μ l Lipofectamine 2000[®] Reagent (ThermoFischer Scientific, USA) per stimulation.

2.1.3. ELISA Reagents and Kits

Recombinant protein names, where they were purchased, catalogue numbers, working concentrations, clone identities of capturing antibodies, detection antibodies and

recombinant cytokines that were used in ELISA were summarized in **Table 2.2**. Streptavidin-Alkaline Phosphates (SA-ALP, hereafter) were supplied from Mabtech (Sweden).



Table 2.2. Antibodies and recombinant proteins used in cytokine ELISA throughout this study.

Recombinant Antibody	Brand Name/ (Country)	Catalogue Number	Clone	Working Concentrat ion
Anti-human IFN-α	Mabtech (Sweden)	3425-1A-20	MT1/3/5	4μg/ml
Biotin anti-human IFN- α	Mabtech (Sweden)	3425-1A-20	MT2/4/6	1µg/ml
Human Recombinant IFN-α	Mabtech (Sweden)	3425-1A-20	NS *	40ng/ml
Anti-human IFN-γ	Mabtech (Sweden)	3420-1A-20	1-D1K	4µg/ml
Biotin anti-human IFN-γ	Mabtech (Sweden)	3420-1A-20	7-B6-1	1μg/ml
Human Recombinant IFN-γ	Mabtech (Sweden)	3420-1A-20	NS	12.5ng/ml
Anti-human IL-1β	Mabtech (Sweden)	3416-1A-20	MT175	2μg/ml
Biotin anti-human IL-1 β	Mabtech (Sweden)	3416-1A-20	7P10	1μg/ml
Human Recombinant IL- 1β	Mabtech (Sweden)	3416-1A-20	NS	25ng/ml
Anti-human IL-6	Mabtech (Sweden)	3460-1A-20	13A5	0.5µg/ml
Biotin anti-human IL-6	Mabtech (Sweden)	3460-1A-20	39C3	1μg/ml
Human Recombinant IL- 6	Mabtech (Sweden)	3460-1A-20	NS	12.5ng/ml
Anti-human IL-8	Mabtech (Sweden)	3560-1A-20	МТ8Н6	2μg/ml
Biotin anti-human IL-8	Mabtech (Sweden)	3560-1A-20	MT8F19	1μg/ml
Human Recombinant IL- 8	Mabtech (Sweden)	3560-1A-20	NS	25ng/ml
Anti-human IL-10	Mabtech (Sweden)	3430-1A-20	9D7	2μg/ml

Biotin anti-human IL-10	Mabtech (Sweden)	3430-1A-20	12G8	1μg/ml
Human Recombinant IL- 10	Mabtech (Sweden)	3430-1A-20	NS	8ng/ml
Anti-human IL-12/-23 (p40 specific)	Mabtech (Sweden)	3450-1A-20	MT86/221	2µg/ml
Biotin anti-human IL-12/- 23	Mabtech (Sweden)	3450-1A-20	MT618	1μg/ml
Human Recombinant IL- 12 (p40 specific)	Mabtech (Sweden)	3450-1A-20	NS	8ng/ml
Anti-human IP-10	BD Biosciences (USA)	555046	4D5/A7/C5	8μg/ml
Biotin anti-human IP-10	BD Biosciences (USA)	555048	6D4/D6/G2	1μg/ml
Human Recombinant IP- 10	BD Biosciences (USA)	551130	NS	100ng/ml
Anti-human TNF- α	Mabtech (Sweden)	3512-1A-20	MT25C5	2μg/ml
Biotin anti-human TNF- α	Mabtech (Sweden)	3512-1A-20	MT20D9	1μg/ml
Human Recombinant TNF- α	Mabtech (Sweden)	3512-1A-20	NS	12.5ng/ml

*NS: Not Specified

2.1.4. Antibodies used in Flow Cytometry

Recombinant antibody names, producer names, catalogue numbers and clones' identities of antibodies that were used during flow cytometry investigations throughout this thesis were indicated in Table 2.3. For alive cell staining, antibodies were diluted in 5% RPMI media, staining of fixed cells or exosome characterizations via bead-based method, antibodies were prepared in FACS Buffer (See Appendix A).

Table 2.3. Fluorochrome labeled recombinant antibodies used in flow cytometry analysesthroughout this study methods.

Antibody	Brand Name/ (Country)	Catalogue Number	Clone
Anti-human CD3-PE	Biolegend (USA)	300308	HIT3a
Anti-human CD4+-FITC	Biolegend (USA)	300538	RPA-T4
Anti-human CD8a-APC-Cy7	Biolegend (USA)	300926	HIT8a
Anti-human CD9-PE	Biolegend (USA)	312106	HI9a
Anti-human CD14-APC-Cy7	Biolegend (USA)	301820	M5E2
Anti-human CD15-BV650™	Biolegend (USA)	323034	W6D3
Anti-human CD55-PE	Biolegend (USA)	311308	JS11
Anti-human CD80-BV421	Biolegend (USA)	305426	IT2.2
Anti-human IFNγ-PerCP/Cy5.5	Biolegend (USA)	506528	B27
Anti-human IL-4-PE/Cy7	Biolegend (USA)	500824	MP4-25D2
Anti-human IL-13-BV650 [™]	Biolegend (USA)	501907	JES10-5A2
Anti-human IL-17a-BV785™	Biolegend (USA)	512338	BL168
Anti-human IL-10-PE	Biolegend (USA)	506804	JES3-19F1
Anti-mouse/rat/human FoxP3- Alexa Fluor [®] 647	Biolegend (USA)	320014	150D
Anti-human HLA-DR-FITC	Biolegend (USA)	307604	L243
Anti-human PD-L1-PE	Biolegend (USA)	329706	29E.2A3
Anti-human pStat3(pY705)- Alexa Fluor [®] 647	BD Biosciences (USA)	560750	4/P-STAT3
Anti-human pStat5(pY694)- Alexa Fluor [®] 647	BD Biosciences (USA)	560750	47

Anti-human pStat6(pY641)- Alexa Fluor [®] 647	BD Biosciences (USA)	560750	18/P-Stat6
Anti-human T-bet - Bv650	BD Biosciences (USA)	564142	O4-46
Anti-human Gata-3 - PE-eFluor 610	Invitrogen (USA)	61-9966-42	TWAJ
Anti-human RORγT-PE	BD Biosciences (USA)	563081	Q21-559
Mouse IgG1-PE	Biolegend (USA)	400114	MOCP-21

*NS: Not specified

2.1.5. Antibodies used in Western Blotting

All solutions and buffers of SDS-Page/Western Blotting technique in this study was non-commercial and prepared as they were described in Appendix A. All equipments (tanks, cassettes, combs) were supplied from Bio-Rad (USA). In order to determine molecular weight of loaded proteins, Pre-stained protein ladder (ThermoFischer Scientific) was used.

Moreover, antibody names, their producers, clone identities, catalogue numbers, and working dilutions of primary and HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies were listed in Table 2.4.

Antibody Name	Brand Name/ (Country)	Catalogue Number	Clone	Dilution Factor
CD55	Abcam (UK)	ab133684	EPR6689	1:10000
Alix	Cell Signaling Technology (Germany)	2171	3AG	1:1000
TSG101	Abcam (UK)	ab83	4A10	1:1000
Flotinin-1	Cell Signaling Technology (Germany)	3253S	NS*	1:1000

 Table 2.4. Features of Western Blot antibodies used throughout the thesis.

β-actin	Cell Signaling Technology (Germany)	3700S	8H10D10	1:5000
HRP-conjugated anti-mouse IgG	Cell Signaling Technology (Germany)	7076S	NS	1:10000
HRP-conjugated anti-rabbit IgG	Cell Signaling Technology (Germany)	7074P2	NS	1:10000

2.2. Methods

2.2.1. Patients and Controls

2.2.1.1 CHAPLE Patients and Controls

Within the study of CD55 Deficiency, 4 CHAPLE patients and their peripheral bloods were recruited from Department of Pediatric Gastroenterology, Gazi University (Ankara, Turkey) and Department of Pediatric Allergy-Immunology, Marmara University (Istanbul, Turkey). Moreover, peripheral blood of each CHAPLE patients was obtained before and after single dose of Eculizumab therapy. Cohort of CHAPLE patients' age (year, mean±SD) was 9±1.3 (year, mean±SD). Time that passed between Eculizumab administration and "after therapy" blood collection was at least one month. Apart from Eculizumab, drugs and therapeutic interventions that patients have being received IVIG, vitamin and micronutrient supplementation, protein-rich diet and serum albumin infusion. Moreover, PCR results indicated that none of patients had underwent Cytomegalovirus (CMV) or EBV-infection. Age of healthy individuals included as control cohort of CHAPLE study was 24±4 (year, mean±SD).

2.2.1.2 CTPS1 Deficient Patient and Controls

Peripheral blood of CTPS1 deficient patient was obtained from Department of Pediatric Immunology, Hacettepe University (Ankara, Turkey) on two separate occasions. Age of CTPS1 patient was 19. Moreover, patient was receiving IVIG and broad-spectrum antibiotics. Total of 4 healthy controls were included in CTPS1 study. Age (year, mean±SD) was: 26±6yrs.

2.2.2. Cell Culture

2.2.2.1 Isolation of Peripheric Blood Mononuclear Cells (PBMCs) from Whole Blood

2-30 ml peripheral blood from patients and healthy donors were collected into either K₂-EDTA or Citrated blood collection tubes (BD Biosciences, USA). Collected bloods were diluted at 1:1 (v/v) ratio with room temperature (RT) 1X DPBS. Diluted bloods were slowly layered on top of lymphocyte separation media (Capricorn Scientific, Germany) at 3:2 (v/v) ratio [230]. Then, samples were centrifuged at 540xg where deacceleration rate was set to zero; in order to preserve formed layers of cell types. After 30 minutes, 4 distinct layers were formed. The upper most layers containing plasmas were collected initially, and they were used to purify EVs which was explained in Section 2.2.7.1. Then, cloudy layers, which reside beneath plasmas and above the lymphocyte separation media, containing PBMCs, were gathered with sterile Pasteur pipette, and washed two times with complete RPMI-1640 medium containing 2% FBS by centrifugation at 540xg for 10 minutes. Washed cells were resuspended in 1 ml of complete RPMI-1640 medium containing 5% FBS (5% RPMI, hereafter). Isolated PBMCs were counted in flow cytometry which was explained in Section 2.2.6.1.

2.2.2.2 Purification of Polymorphonuclear Neutrophils from Whole Blood

After plasmas and PBMCs were isolated as it was explained in Section 2.2.1.1 and lymphocyte media were removed, the undermost, dark-red fractions containing granulocytes and RBCs were completed up to initial volume of diluted blood with RT PBS and slowly mixed in 15 ml falcon tubes [231].In order to separate neutrophils from RBCs by differences in their densities, 3% (w/v) Dextran (Sigma Aldrich, Germany) was added onto fraction at 1:1 (v/v) ratio and mixed slowly. After incubation for 30-40 minutes in an upright position of tubes, two fractions were formed. Since neutrophils reside within upper, white layer, those were collected with sterile Pasteur pipette and washed twice with RT 1X PBS (for 10 minutes at 300xg). So as to get rid of remaining RBCs, pelleted neutrophils were resuspended in 5 ml of 1X RBC lysis buffer (Biolegend, USA). After incubation at RT for 5 minutes, 35 ml of ice cold 1X PBS was added. Neutrophils were pelleted by centrifugation for 10 minutes at 300xg at +4°C. Then, they were resuspended and washed twice with ice cold 1X PBS.

neutrophils were resuspended in complete RPMI-1640 media containing 2% oligo FBS (2% oligo medium, hereafter) and counted as it was explained in section 2.2.6.1.

2.2.3. In vitro Stimulation of PBMCs

Healthy donors and patients PBMCs in 100µl, whose isolation was narrated in section 2.2.1.1, were layered onto 96-well flat bottom plates. Note that concentration of cells that were used in each set of stimulation was indicated in the results section. 50µl stimulants (Table 2.1) or EVs in different amounts (0.6µg, 3µg, 12µg, 15µg), which were prepared in 5% RPMI media were added onto wells [70]. Off note, for transfection, ligands and Lipofectamine 2000[®] were prepared in FBS-free media. Furthermore, PBMC-EV stimulations were conducted in EV-depleted media. Then, whole reaction volume was brought up to 250µl by 5% RPMI media. After 24-36 hours of incubation at 37°C and following cell pelleting at 400xg for 10 minutes, supernatants were collected and used in Cytokine ELISA (Section 2.2.5); in order to detect concentration of secreted cytokines.

2.2.4. In vitro Assessments of Neutrophil Activities

2.2.4.1 Visualization of Neutrophil Extracellular Traps (NETs)

Isolated healthy and patient neutrophils (1x10⁵/ml) were seeded onto 48-well flat bottom plates and they were treated with PMA (50ng/ml) or 2% oligo medium alone for 4 hours at 37°C. Then, nuclear and extracellular DNAs were stained with 0.6mM Syto[™] 16 Green (ThermoFischer Scientific, USA) and 1mM Styox[™] Orange (ThermoFischer Scientific, USA), respectively. Nuclear and extracellular DNAs were visualized, and images were captured with EVOS FL Auto (ThermoFischer Scientific, USA).

2.2.4.2 Quantification Neutrophil Extracellular Traps (NETs)

Neutrophils (1.6x10⁶/ml) that were isolated from healthy donors and patients, were layered onto 96-well flat bottom plates. They were treated with PMA (50ng/ml) that were isolated from human plasmas (See section 2.2.7.1) or 2% oligo medium for 4 hours at 37°C [231]. After incubation; in order to chop down NETs that were propelled

from neutrophils, cells were incubated with 500mu/ml Micrococcal Nuclease Solution (ThermoFischer Scientific, USA), that was prepared in 1X Nuclease Buffer (See Appendix A), for 30 minutes at 37°C. Then, reaction was stopped by adding 5 mM EDTA solution into wells. Cells were removed by centrifugation at 300xg for 10 minutes and supernatants were collected and stored at -80°C until for further quantification.

100µl of thawed supernatants and 2-fold serially diluted Lambda DNA (ThermoFischer Scientific, USA) as a standard were put into black 96-well flat bottom plates[231]. Then, 100µl of Quant-iT[™] PicoGreen[™] (ThermoFischer Scientific, USA), which was diluted 1:200 (v/v) in Tris-EDTA Buffer (See Appendix A), was added into each well. After 5 minutes incubation at RT in dark, OD values were measured by microplate reader (Synergy HT Biotek, USA) where excitation and emission spectra were 485/20nm and 528/20nm, respectively. In order to calculate amount of dsDNA in samples, linear standard curve was constructed by using OD values of standards.

2.2.5. Cytokine Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent Assay (Cytokine ELISA)

All capturing/detection antibodies, recombinant proteins and their working concentrations that were used in ELISA studies were listed in Table 2.2. 2HB immunoplates (SPL Life Sciences, South Korea) were coated with 50µl of coating antibodies, which were prepared in 1X PBS (non-commercial, see Appendix A), for overnight (12-16 hours) at +4°C [232]. Coating antibodies were removed, and wells were blocked with 200µl blocking buffer (See Appendix A) for 2 hours at RT. After plates were washed with washing buffer (See Appendix A) for 5 times and distilled water for 3 times, wells were incubated with either 50μ l of supernatants that were collected from stimulated PBMCs (See section 2.2.3) or 2-fold serially diluted 50µl of corresponding recombinant cytokines for overnight at +4°C [233]. Supernatants and standards were removed, and plates were washed as it was narrated previously. Captured cytokines were incubated with 50µl biotinylated antibodies for 2 hours at RT. After removal of biotinylated antibodies and following washing step, plates were incubated with 50µl SA-ALP (1:1000 diluted (v/v) in blocking buffer) for 1 hour at RT. Following washing steps; in order to detect amount of SA-ALP on biotinylated antibodies, 50µl p-Nitrophenyl Phosphate (PNPP) solution (ThermoFischer Scientific, USA), was added onto each well. As yellow color develops, in certain time points, OD values at 405nm of each well were recorded with ELISA Plate Reader (Molecular Devices, USA). In order to calculate concentration of secreted cytokine in supernatants, 4-parametric curves were constructed from OD values of serially diluted recombinant proteins.

2.2.6. Flow Cytometry Methods

2.2.6.1 Cell Counting

20µl of isolated PBMCs, neutrophils or cultured cells, that are suspended in 1ml of corresponding media, was diluted in 5 ml of isotonic solution (Beckmann Coulter, USA). 20µl from that suspension was acquired and analyzed using Novocyte 3000 flow cytometer. Number of the live cells which were determined by FSC and SSC positioning of events by excluding debris and apoptotic cells were gated. To calculate total number of cells per ml media, numbers of events were multiplied with final dilution factor which was calculated below:

Isolated Cell Number = $\frac{\text{Counted Event Number}}{20 (\text{Acquired Volume }(\mu l))} \times 250 (\text{Dilution Factor}) \times 1000 (\text{Dissolved Volume }(\mu l))$

2.2.6.2 Cell Surface Staining

To decipher the immune phenotype of cells from whole blood, 100-200µl of whole bloods were incubated with 5µl of fluorochrome labeled antibodies (Table2.3) for 30 minutes at RT in dark [234]. After incubation, erythrocytes were lysed using 1X RBC lysis buffer (Biolegend, USA) for 20 minutes at RT in dark. Then, RBC lysis buffer was removed via centrifugation for 10 minutes at 500xg. Stained and RBC-deprived cells were resuspended in 5% RPMI Media. Cells were acquired and analyzed using Novocyte 3000 flow cytometer.

For isolated and stimulated (not fixed) PBMCs, cells were stained with 1μ g/ml of fluorochrome conjugated antibodies (Table 2.3) prepared in 5% RPMI media for 30 minutes at 4°C in dark [235]. Then, stained cells were washed with 5% RPMI media and resuspended in 5% RPMI media. Cells were acquired and analyzed using Novocyte 3000 flow cytometer. At least 30000 events were acquired for each sample.

2.2.6.3 Assessment of STAT Phosphorylation Levels of T-Cells

To analyze STAT phosphorylation levels, in this study, whole blood (200μ l/stimulation) or purified PBMCs (at least 1×10^6 cells/stimulation) were used. First, samples were treated with appropriate recombinant cytokines (Table 2.1) or left untreated. After 30 minutes of incubation at 37°C, cells were fixed and RBCs were lysed with 1X FACS lysing solution (BD Biosciences, USA) for 15 minutes at 37°C [236]. In order to get rid of lysing solution, 2 ml cold FACS buffer was added and cells were centrifuged at 600xg for 6 minutes. Cells were permeabilized with ice cold 87% methanol (w/w) on ice for 30 minutes. Then, cells were washed with 2 ml cold FACS buffer twice. They were costained with 5µl APC-conjugated anti-human phosphorylated STATs (Table 2.3) along with 1µg/ml of anti-human CD4+ and anti-human CD8+ antibodies (Biolegend, USA) in FACS buffer for 1 hour at RT in dark. Following washing with 2 ml FACS Buffer for three times and resuspending in 150µl-200µl cold FACS buffer, cells were acquired and analyzed immediately using Novocyte 3000 flow cytometer. At least 30000 events were acquired for each sample.

2.2.6.4 Intracellular Cytokine Staining (ICS) of T-Cells

4x10⁵ healthy and patient PBMCs were layered onto 96 well U bottom plates. Cells were either treated with PMA (50ng/ml) and Ionomycin (1µg/ml) or left untreated for 2 hours at 37°C [237]. In order to stop cytokine secretion, 5µg/ml Brefeldin A (Sigma Aldrich, Germany) was added into wells as a Golgi Stop reagent. After cells were incubated for 4 hours more at 37°C, plates were centrifuged at 400xg for 10 minutes. Supernatants were removed, cells were fixed with 150µl 1X Cytofix Buffer (BD Biosciences, USA) for 20 minutes at RT in dark. After cells were sedimented at 400xg for 10 minutes. Washing step was carried out once more and cells were permeabilized with 150µl cold 1X Cytoperm Buffer (BD Biosciences, USA) for 15 minutes at RT in dark. In order to remove permeabilization buffer, cells were centrifugated at 400xg for 10 minutes. Then, cells were stained with cell surface markers (1µg/ml) and cytokine antibodies (1µg/ml), which were prepared in FACS buffer, (Table2.3) for 30 minutes at RT in dark. Stained cells were washed twice. After resuspending cells in 150µl-200µl

FACS Buffer, they were analyzed using Novocyte 3000 flow cytometer. At least 30000 events were acquired within CD4⁺ gates for each sample.

2.2.6.5 Nuclear Transcription Factor Staining of PBMCs

First, isolated fresh healthy and patient PBMCs were stained with fluorochrome conjugated anti-human CD4+ (1µg/ml) that was diluted in 5% RPMI for 30 minutes at +4°C [238]. In order to wash out excess fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies, 1 ml FACS Buffer was added into samples and subjected to centrifugation at 400xg for 10 minutes +4°C. Supernatants were removed, cells were dissolved in 100µl 1X True-Nuclear[™] solution (Biolegend, USA) which was prepared by diluting 4X True-Nuclear[™] Concentrate (Biolegend, USA) with True-Nuclear[™] Fix Diluent (Biolegend, USA) at 1:3 (v/v) ratio. After 1 hour of incubation at RT in dark, 1 ml FACS buffer was added onto samples and they were centrifugated at 400xg for 10 minutes. In order to permeabilize fixed cells, 100µl 1X True-Nuclear™ Perm Buffer (Biolegend, USA) was added and cells were immediately centrifugated at 400xg for 10 minutes. Supernatants were discarded and this permeabilizing step was repeated for 3X. After last permeabilization step, cells were resuspended in 1X True-Nuclear™ Perm Buffer containing (1µg/ml) nuclear transcription antibodies (Table 2.3) and incubated for 1 hour at RT in dark. Then cells were washed with 1X True-Nuclear™ Perm Buffer for 3X. After last centrifugation step, cells were dissolved in FACS Buffer and acquired using Novocyte 3000 flow cytometer. At least 30000 events were acquired for each sample.

2.2.7. Extracellular Vesicle Isolation and Characterization

2.2.7.1 Extracellular Vesicle Purification From Human Plasmas

In order to remove any remnants of cells and debris from isolated plasmas of healthy donors and patients from whole blood following histopaque centrifugation step, as it was explained in Section 2.2.1.1, they were centrifuged at 1500xg for 10 minutes [189]. After supernatants were collected, for long term storage, they were snap frozen in liquid nitrogen for 15 minutes and stored at -80°C until for further use.

One day prior to extracellular vesicle isolation, frozen plasmas were slowly melted for overnight in the fridge at +4°C. After thawing, they were centrifuged at 1500xg for 10 minutes to remove the remaining debris and supernatants were transferred into ultracentrifugation tubes (Beckmann Coulter, USA), they were completed up to 15 ml with cold 1X PBS and centrifuged using an ultracentrifuge (Model: XL-90, Beckmann Coulter, USA) at 10000xg for 10 minutes at +4°C. Supernatants were transferred into new ultracentrifugation tubes for EV pelleting at 10000xg for 90 minutes at +4°C. After, supernatants were discarded, pellets harboring EVs were resuspended in 1X PBS and, centrifugated at 10000xg for 90 minutes at +4°C, one last time. EVs were resuspended in 1X PBS. Amount of purified EVs were determined by concentration of their surface proteins which was explained in Section 2.2.8.

2.2.7.2 Determination of Size and Concentrations of EVs by qNano Gold

Concentration and distribution of size distribution and zeta-potential of isolated extracellular vesicles from human plasmas were determined by qNano Gold (Izon Science, New Zealand). After EVs were diluted 25x in 1X PBS, they were placed into the stage and analyzed. The concentration vs size plots were obtained from the instrument following analyses.

2.2.7.3 Verification of EV-specific Surface Markers by Bead-based Characterization Method

For each 100 tests of EV staining, 100µl of Carboxyl modified latex beads (Thermo Fischer Scientific, USA) were allocated [239].In order to wash beads, 1000µl 1X PBS was added onto them. Then they were pelleted by centrifugation at 13000xg for 10 minutes. This washing step was repeated once again and purified anti-human CD63 antibody (10µg antibody for 100 EV staining) were mixed with these washed latex beads. They were rotated for 30 minutes at RT for rapid conjugation. Afterwards, total volume was completed up to 500µl and the bead-antibody mixture was left on the rotator overnight at RT.

To get rid of excess antibodies, 500µl 1X PBS was added and antibody-conjugated beads were centrifugated at 13000xg for 10 minutes, twice. Next day, non-specific EV binding was prevented by blocking the antibody coated beads with 1X PBS containing

5% BSA for 6 hours at RT. Blocked beads were pelleted and dissolved in 1X PBS containing 1% BSA. For each staining $4\mu g$ EV were added into $1\mu l$ beads. Like in the case of rapid antibody conjugation process, they were subjected to rotation for 30 minutes at RT without any additional PBS. After 30 minutes of incubation, total volume was completed to 500µl with 1X PBS.

The unbound EVs in solution was removed by adding 500μ l 1X PBS and then solution was subjected to centrifugation at 13000xg for 10 minutes. Next, captured EVs were incubated with fluorochrome conjugated antibodies (1µg/ml) or with the proper isotypes controls (Table 2.3) for 1 hour at RT. The excess antibodies were removed by centrifugation as explained earlier. Stained EVs were analyzed using Novocyte 3000 flow cytometer where at least 30000 events were acquired in singlets.

2.2.8. Quantification of Protein Concentration by BCA Assay

Concentration of purified EVs or exosomes or proteins were determined by Pierce[™] BCA protein assay kit (ThermoFischer Scientific, USA). 25 µl of samples (EVs or exosomes were 5X diluted in 1X PBS) and 25µl of 2-fold serially diluted BSA standards ranging from 2000 µg/ml to 31.25 µg/ml, were transferred onto 96-well flat bottom plates. 200µl of working reagent, which was prepared by 1 volume of Solution A and 50 volume of Solution B, was mixed with EVs or exosomes and standards. After incubation at 37°C for 30 minutes, OD values at 562 nm were measured by microplate reader (Synergy HT). By using linear standard curve which was constructed by BSA standards, concentration of EVs or exosomes and proteins were calculated.

2.2.9. SDS-Page and Western Blot

2.2.9.1 Protein Isolation from Cell Lysates and EVs/Exosomes

Cell lysates (at least $5x10^6$ cells) were suspended within 500μ l RIPA Buffer (Appendix A). They were incubated on ice for 20 minutes (vortexed for 15 seconds at every 5 minutes) which was followed by centrifugation at 12000xg for 20 minutes at +4°C. Supernatants were collected, and BCA kit was used to determine protein concentration.

Similarly, 1 volume of isolated EVs or exosomes (at least $100\mu g$) were mixed with 1 volume of RIPA buffer. Mixtures were sonicated (VibraCell, Sonics, USA) for total 15

minutes. Mixtures were subjected to vortex for 15 seconds at the end of each 5 minutes of sonication. After that, they were incubated on ice for 20 minutes (vortexed for 15 seconds at every 5 minutes). Then, they were centrifuged at 12000xg for 20 minutes at +4°C. Concentration of proteins in collected supernatants were determined by Pierce[™] BCA kit (section 2.2.8).

2.2.9.2 Denaturation of Proteins and SDS-Page Running

In order to denature proteins, samples were mixed with 4X loading dye (Appendix A) where total volume was completed up to 45μ l by cell culture grade water [240]. Then, mixtures were subjected to heat (+95^oC) for 5 minutes. Denatured samples were incubated on ice until they were loaded in wells of gel.

Throughout this thesis, concentration of stacking and separating gels were prepared as 5% and 7%, respectively (See Appendix A). Upon solidification of gels, they were transferred into Tank (Bio-Rad, Germany) which was filled with 1X running buffer (See Appendix A). Denatured protein samples were loaded into each well (for cell line lysates: $10\mu g$ /lane; for EVs or exosomes: $30\mu g$ /lane in 40μ l). Afterwards, 60V power was supplied until samples passed stacking gel. Then, running was carried out with 100V until loading dyes reached at the very end of SDS-gel.

2.2.9.3 SDS-Page to and PDVF Membrane Transfer

In this study, all transfer procedures were performed using wet-transfer method. Briefly, for each transfer, 4 Whatman papers (GE Healthcare, USA) and one 0.45μ m PDVF membranes (ThermoFischer Scientific, USA) along with the SDS gel were properly positioned in a transfer cassette [241]. Transfer cassette was put into tank that was filled with cold 1X transfer buffer (Appendix A). Transfers were carried out at 100V for 2 hours on ice.

2.2.9.4 Blotting and Imaging

To validate proteins that were properly transferred into membranes, PDVF membranes were incubated with Ponceau S (See Appendix A) until color formation was observed. Then, membranes were washed with PBS-T (See Appendix A) for 5 times. PDVF
membranes were blocked with blocking buffer (See Appendix A) for 2 hours at RT. Membranes were incubated with desired primary antibodies (Table 2.4) which were prepared in antibody dilution buffer (See Appendix A) for 14 hours at +4°C. After incubation, membranes were washed 5X followed by incubation with corresponding HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies (Table 2.4) for 2 hours at RT. To remove excess antibodies, membranes were washed 5X and they were stored in PBS-T until they were visualized. For protein detection, membranes were incubated with Amersham ECL Prime Western Blotting Reagent (GE Healthcare, USA) and visualized under Amersham Imager 600 (GE Healthcare, USA).

2.2.10. Statistical Analyses

All statistical analyses were carried out with GrapPad Prism 6 Software (USA). Statistical significances in CHAPLE study were determined by Kruskal-Wallis H test and Student's t-test. $p \le 0.05$ was used as threshold for significance.

3. RESULTS

3.1. Characterization of Immune Responses of CTPS1 Deficiency

- 3.1.1. Functional studies of adaptive immune cells of CTPS1 deficient patient
- 3.1.1.1 CTPS1 deficient patient CD8⁺ T-cells had normal STAT1 phosphorylation level but increased CD107a expression on their surface

Deficiency of CTPS1 enzyme in human leukocytes render adaptive immune system to fail, eventually leading to combined immunodeficiency; consequently, predisposing individuals to suffer from severe, chronic viral infections alongside with recurrent bacterial infections [149]. In order to check manifestation of altered immune response such as persistent chronic viral infection and cellular sign of CID in the patient, CD4⁺:CD8⁺ T-cell ratio was determined. Off note, healthy individuals normally display ~1.5-2 ratio of CD4⁺ to CD8⁺ T-cell levels [242]. Flow cytometric analysis revealed that CD4⁺/CD8⁺ ratio of healthy controls (n=2) was as expected ~1.93 whereas it was ~0.43 for the CTPS1 patient (Appendix B1.1, left panel To ensure that this was not an experimental error, we analyzed CD4⁺/CD8⁺ T-cell ratios following multiple blood donations at different times and we observed that within 3 months intervals consistent with the first results the patient PBMCs had reciprocal CD4⁺/CD8⁺ ratio of healthy individuals (n=2) vs patient was ca. 4.6 fold vs ca. 0.47 fold (Appendix B1.1, right panel).

Indication of chronic viral infection lead us to speculate indirect role of CTPS1 enzyme within the context of host's viral responses. During viral infection, type I IFNs secreted from APCs are known to influence effector function of several cell types especially cytotoxic T-cells [243]. To this end, type I IFN signaling pathway within CD8⁺ T-cells were investigated by assessing STAT1 phosphorylation (*i.e.* pSTAT1) levels. Flow cytometric study revealed that CD8⁺ T-cells of CTPS1^{-/-} PBMCs had similar pSTAT1 levels under basal conditions (Figure 3.1A). Healthy and patient cells were incubated with IFN- β ; in order to activate JAK-STAT pathway through its receptor. As it was illustrated in Figure 3.1A, upon activation of IFN- β receptor, both controls and patient

had similar STAT1 phosphorylation levels. Meanwhile, percent of phosphorylated STAT1 bearing cytotoxic T-cells were compared as well (Figure 3.1B). As it can be examined in Figure 3.1B, only 13.49% of healthy CD8⁺ T-cells have phosphorylated STAT1 protein whereas CTPS1 patient's PBMCs had 31.37% CD8+ T-cells with pSTAT1 protein under basal conditions. Moreover, upon receptor stimulation, percentage of healthy and patient CD8⁺ T-cells having pSTAT1 elevated to 54.78% and 78.59%, respectively.



Figure 3.1 STAT1 phosphorylation levels of control and patient CD8⁺ T-Cells in response to IFN- β stimulation. 200 μ l whole blood of healthy controls (n=2) and patient were either left untreated or treated with IFN- β (100ng/ml) for 30 minutes. Then, cells were

fixed, permeabilized and stained with fluorochrome labeled anti-CD3, anti-CD8⁺ and antipSTAT1 protein. **A)** Bar graph that represents mean fluorescent intensity levels (MFI) of pSTAT1 of unstimulated or IFN- β stimulated CD8⁺ T-cells gated in CD3 events (left panel) which were evaluated from flow-cytometry histograms (right panel). **B)** Bar graph that represents percentages of pSTAT1 CD8⁺ T-cells (left panel) which were evaluated from representative flow cytometer density plots (right panels). For each analysis, 4x10⁴ cells were acquired within CD8⁺ gate.

Although there was a variation within healthy control group CD8⁺ T-cell percentages CTPS1^{-/-} might have slightly increased pSTAT1 levels in CD8⁺ T-cells. Nevertheless, this data implied that absence of CTPS1 enzyme does not influence IFN- β induced STAT1 phosphorylation in cytotoxic T-cells.

Having normal STAT1 phosphorylation levels within CD8⁺ T-cell population upon IFN- β stimulation lead us to explore effector function of cytotoxic T-cells. CD107a surface expression on CD8⁺ T-cells at basal level was evaluated since CD107a is a protein residing within the granules of NK, CD8⁺ T-cells and upon activation and following degranulation CD107a is expressed on the surface of cytotoxic T-cells and is a reminiscent of activation and degranulation status. As it can be observed from Figure 3.2, percentages of CD107a expressing healthy and patient CD3⁺ CD8⁺ cells were 7.43 and 31.66, respectively. However, it is important to note that CD107a expression on surface may not be directly correlated with effector function since it depends on expression and activity of perforin and granzyme B molecules as well [244].



Figure 3.2 CD107a surface expression of unstimulated CD8+ T-cells. Whole bloods of healthy donors (n=2) and patient were stained with anti-CD45, anti-CD3, anti-CD8⁺, anti-CD107a and were analyzed using flow cytometer. Representative density plots (left and

middle panels) and bar graph (right panel) show CD3⁺CD8⁺CD107a⁺ cell percentages. Cells were gated in lymphocytes and singlets by forward and side scattering.

In conclusion, normal pSTAT1 levels and elevated CD107a surface expression implied that chronic viral infections in CTPS1 deficient patient might not be related to activation and effector function of cytotoxic T-cells.

3.1.1.2 Assessment of STAT phosphorylation levels within patient CD4⁺ T-cells revealed reduced STAT3 and STAT5 phosphorylation

Although CD8⁺ T-cells are major subtypes of T-cells to kill infected cells, they require help of CD4⁺ T-cells; thus, they are called T-helper cells as well. Through antigens presented on MHCs of APCs, T helpers are activated to further amplify cytotoxic T-cell dependent functions. Moreover, CD4⁺ T-cells are grouped into distinct subtypes having different effector function. In order to properly differentiate into T helper subtypes, naive CD4⁺ T-cells require environmental clues alongside with TCR and co-stimulatory receptor engagement. These environmental clues are provided by antigen-presenting cells, which are activated by pathogens, as cytokines. Through intracellular JAK-STAT pathway of cytokine receptors, cytokines determine the fate of primed CD4⁺ T-cells.

It was attempted to explore contribution of helper T-cells to immunodeficiency of CTPS1 following CD8⁺ involvement was sought. To that end, cells from healthy controls and patient were incubated with four major fate-determining cytokines: IFN-β, IL-6, IL-4 and IL-2. Then, cells were fixed, permeabilized and stained against CD4⁺, pSTAT1, pSTAT3, pSTAT5, pSTAT6 proteins and evaluated using flow-cytometer. Baseline or IFN-β treated conditions, both healthy controls and CTPS1^{-/-} had similar STAT1 phosphorylation levels within the CD4⁺ T-cells (Figure 3.3A). Figure 3.3B demonstrated that IL-6 led to >2-fold STAT3 phosphorylation in control T-cells compared to CTPS1^{-/-} cells. However, healthy and patient STAT6 protein phosphorylation levels were not similar following IL-4 incubation. Patient cells had almost 25% lesser phosphorylation compared to healthy controls (Figure 3.3C). Strikingly, IL-2 treatment elevated MFI levels of pSTAT5 to 8500±500 (Mean±Sd, n=2) and 3070 (Mean, n=1) in healthy controls and CTPS1^{-/-}, respectively (Figure 3.3D). That is, phosphorylation.



Figure 3.3 STAT phosphorylation levels of CD4⁺ T-Cells of healthy donors and CTPS1 patient. 200μ l whole bloods of healthy individuals (n=2) and patient were either left untreated or treated with IFN- β (100ng/ml); IL-6 (200ng/ml); IL-2 (100ng/ml); IL4 (200ng/ml) for 30 minutes. Then, cells were fixed, permeabilized and stained for anti-CD4+ and anti-pSTAT1, anti-pSTAT3, anti-pSTAT5, anti-pSTAT6 proteins. A) STAT1, B) STAT3, C) STAT5 and D) STAT6 phosphorylation levels of CD4⁺ T-cells were evaluated using Novocyte 3000 flow cytometer. Mean Fluorescent Intensity (MFI) of pSTAT proteins (left panels), fold of increase in pSTAT levels (middle panels) were demonstrated in bar graphs,

while representative histograms were presented in right panels. For each analysis, $4x10^4$ cells were acquired in CD4⁺ gates.

Meanwhile, percent of phosphorylated STAT protein bearing CD4⁺ T-cells were assessed and compared as well. Flow cytometric studies revealed that percentages of healthy control and patient CD4⁺ T-cells positive for pSTAT1 proteins were $37.46\pm12.72\%$ (Mean \pm SD, n=2) and 60.37%, respectively (Figure 3.4A). On the contrary, as it can be seen from Figure 3.4B, IL-6 induced pSTAT3 bearing CD4⁺ T-cell percentages were approximately ~3.5X less in patient PBMC (16.26%) compared to healthy controls ($56.16\pm9.13\%$; Mean \pm SD, n=2). Like in the case of STAT1, percentages of pSTAT6⁺ CD4⁺ T-cells were similar in control and patient cells (Figure 3.4C). Lastly, patient CD4⁺ T-cells had 2.3-fold less phosphorylated STAT5 proteins compared to healthy controls (Figure 3.4D).





Figure 3.4 Percentages of pSTAT positive CD4⁺ T-cells from healthy and CTPS1⁺⁻ individuals following cytokine incubations. A) pSTAT1⁺, **B)** pSTAT3⁺, **C)** pSTAT5⁺, **D)** pSTAT6⁺ CD4+ T-cells percentages were evaluated by flow cytometry utilization. Bar graphs demonstrate percentages of unstimulated or stimulated CD4⁺ T-cells in left panels. In right panels, representative density plots of one healthy and patient CD4+ T-cells were stationed.

Collectively, these results implied that CTPS1 deficient CD4⁺ T-cells had impaired STAT3 and STAT5 but normal STAT1 or STAT6 phosphorylation when corresponding cytokines were added in the culture media. However, it is worthwhile to mention that control groups during assessment of STAT1 and STAT6 phosphorylation did have

significant variation. We feel that more healthy controls should be added to better demonstrate the healthy levels of these pSTATs.

3.1.1.3 Intracellular cytokine staining of patient T-helper cells demonstrated impaired Th17, Treg signatures

STAT phosphorylation results (Section 3.1.1.2) lead us to hypothesize that impaired CTPS1 enzyme might render certain subtypes of CD4⁺ T-cells to dysfunction, specifically Th17 and Tregs due to reduced STAT3 and STAT5 phosphorylation, respectively. In order to unravel this, isolated PBMCs from healthy controls and patient were incubated with PMA and lonomycin mimicking T-cell priming, bypassing TCR and CD28 stimulation, directly activating intracellular pathways; consequently, forcing CD4⁺ T-cells to produce and secrete cytokines. After cells were fixed, permeabilized and stained, percent of each cytokine producing T-cells was assessed using flow cytometer (Figure 3.5 and Appendix B1.2)

As Figure 3.5A-B illustrated, even though IFN- γ producing CD4⁺ T-cell percentages of controls (17.52±2.15%) and patient (13.3%) were similar, intracellular IL-17a staining revealed that patient blood cells had ~3.75-fold less Th17 cells in circulation compared to healthy controls (control and patient IL-17a producing CD4⁺ T-cells were 2.22±0.44% and 0.59%, respectively). Previously in addition to pSTAT3, we observed that pSTAT5 was reduced in CTPS1 patient. To confirm that this reduction affects Treg function and frequency we investigated T-regulatory cell population in CTPS1 patient. Therefore, intracellular IL-10 levels within cells were stained and analyzed using flow cytometer. As it can be seen in Figure 3.5C, while IL-10 producing cell percentage for the healthy donors was 4.00±1.12%, it was only 1.50% in patient. In other words, CTPS1^{-/-} IL-10 producing CD4⁺ T-regulatory cells in the circulation were almost 2.7-fold less compared to healthy controls.

Furthermore, Th2 responses were also sought. Primarily, IL-4 producing and secreting cell percentages were determined. As Figure 3.5D depicts, PMA and lonomycin stimulation lead to 3.5±0.3% of healthy CD4⁺ T-cells to secrete IL-4. Unexpectedly, IL-4 producing T-cells was 6.47% in patient PBMCs upon PMA and ionomycin stimulation. That is, IL-4 producing cells in CTPS1^{-/-} circulation was 3-fold more compared to healthy controls. It is important to note that this result is conflicting with the previous

pSTAT6 staining findings (see Figure 3.3 and 3.4). Finally, IL-13 which is another Th2related cytokine was assessed using flow cytometer, (Figure 3.5E). In contrast to IL-4, IL-13 producing T-helper cell numbers were similar between controls and patient PBMCs (4.92±0.36% and 4.37%, respectively).



Figure 3.5 Cytokine production profiles of CD4⁺ T-cell in response to PMA/Ionomycin stimulation. Healthy (n=2) and CTPS1^{-/-} PBMCs ($1.6x10^{6}$ /ml) were either left untreated or stimulated with PMA/Ionomycin (50ng/ml, $1\mu g/ml$, respectively) for 2 hours. Then Brefeldin A was added, and stimulations were continued for another 4 hours. Cells were fixed, permeabilized and stained with anti-CD4+, anti-IFN- γ , anti-IL-17a, anti-IL-4, anti-IL-13 and anti-IL-10 then they were evaluated in flow cytometry. **A)** IFN- γ , **B)** IL-17a, **C)** IL-4, **D)** IL-13 and **E)** IL-10 cytokine producing CD4⁺ T-cell percentages were represented in bar graphs. For each analysis, $3x10^4$ cells were acquired in CD4⁺ gates.

Next, it was attempted to determine circulating T-helper cell subtypes. Thus, PBMCs were stained against CD4⁺ T-cell specific cardinal transcription factors. Among several TF tested, only T-reg associated transcription factor, FoxP3 staining was successful stained and it further confirmed 2-fold less IL-10 producing CD4⁺ T-cells in CTPS1 deficient individual compared to healthy controls (Appendix B1.3).

When these results are taken together, considering STAT phosphorylation, intracellular cytokine staining and Foxp3 findings revealed that CTPS1 patient might have i) impaired Th17 activation and /or response, thus, could lead to biased Th1/Th17 balance in addition to ii) T-regulatory dependent dysregulation.

3.1.2. Functional studies of innate immune cells of CTPS1 deficient patient

Although adaptive immune responses of CTPS1 deficiency have been attempted to be explored, immune dysregulation of the innate arm of immunity was not fully investigated. Therefore, through series of experiments, it was aimed to establish the impact of CTPS1 enzyme deficiency on innate cells.

3.1.2.1 Responses of CTPS1 PBMCs in the context of PRR ligand stimulations

3.1.2.1.1 IFN-γ but not IFN-α secretion from CTPS1 deficient PBMCs is reduced upon TLR and Cytosolic ligand stimulation

As it was mentioned previously, one of the cardinal cytokines that are produced and utilized during viral infections are type I IFNs. They are produced from variety of cells; consequently, act on their receptors to modulate immune responses against viruses. First, it was aimed to checked whether chronic viral infections are due to distorted type I IFN secretion from immune cells. In that regard, PRRs involved in virus detection and leading to IFN- α secretion were stimulated. Cytokine ELISA results from those treated cell supernatants were demonstrated that responses of endosomal TLRs and intracellular DNA-dependent cytosolic sensor were not altered in CTPS1^{-/-} cells (Figure 3.6A). Then, responses of NK, NKT, iNKT alongside with CD8⁺ T-cells were

investigated by assessing IFN- γ secretion upon PRR-ligand engagement. As is was illustrated in Figure 3.6B (upper panel), strikingly, type II IFN secretion upon TLR7 induction was ca. 5-fold lower in patient. Moreover, reduced IFN- γ responses in patient were present in TLR9 (2-fold) and STING (1.75-fold) stimulations, albeit to a lesser extent. To prove that these results were reliable, patient PBMCs were isolated on a different day and were stimulated and responses were checked again. Although responses of healthy PBMCs resulted in enormous amount of deviation, TLR7, TLR9 and STING induced IFN- γ production were still lower in CTPS1 deficient patient (Figure 3.6B, lower panel). IFN- γ secreting cells upon PRR stimulations require IL-12 from APCs. Next, whether reduced IFN- γ production and secretion resulted from lower percentages of cell types destined to produce it or APCs per se had impaired IL-12 production was sought. As it was illustrated in Figure 3.6C, apart from 4.2-fold more IL-12 secretion via IF116 mediated STING induction in patient PBMCs, other PRR responses were found to be similar in patient compared to healthy cells, implying that IL12 is not an issue for the observed reduced IFN- γ levels.















B)

IL-12





Figure 3.6 IFN- α , IFN- γ and IL-12 cytokine production profiles from healthy and patient PBMCs upon multiple PRR ligand stimulations. Healthy (n=2) and patient PBMCs (8x10⁵/ml) were stimulated with TLR3 (p(I:C): 30 μ g/ml), TLR4 (LPS: 5 μ g/ml), TLR5 (Flagellin: 100ng/ml), TLR7 (R848: 5 μ g/ml), TLR9 (D35-3CG: 3 μ M; K3: 1 μ M), STING (2'3' cGAMP: 30 μ g/ml), IFI6-STING (HSV: 5 μ g/ml) ligands for 24 hours. Supernatants were collected and secreted IFN- α (A), IFN- γ (Run-1: Upper panel, Run-2: Lower panel) (B) and IL-12 (C) levels were assessed by cytokine ELISA. Stimulations were run in duplicates.

Moreover, IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion upon TLR and intracellular PRR stimulations were assessed as well. Even though HSV transfection lead to approximately 3-fold more IL-1 β production in CTPS1^{-/-} PBMCs (Appendix B1.4A, upper panel)., this could not be replicated when tested for the second time (Appendix B1.4A, lower panel). Meanwhile, no differences in IL-6 and TNF- α production levels were detected between healthy and patient PBMCs upon PRR engagements (Appendix B1.4B-C).

To conclude, results demonstrated that even though IFN- α , IL-6 and TNF- α secretion levels have not been altered in CTPS1^{-/-} cells, PRR mediated IFN- γ production was significantly lower in the patient and it is not a result of impaired IL-12 production by APCs in PBMCs.

3.1.2.1.2 Healthy and CTPS1 PBMCs have similar IL-10 cytokine secretion levels upon PRRs engagements

As it was demonstrated previously (see Figure 3.5 and Appendix B1.3), CTPS1 patient had reduced Treg numbers in circulation; consequently, Treg dependent immune dysregulation could arise. Therefore, it was plausible to ask whether innate immune cells also contributed to the observed dysregulation of anti-inflammatory response. To that end, isolated healthy and patient PBMCs were stimulated with surface or endosomal TLR as well as intracellular danger sensor ligands; then, amount of secreted IL-10 was determined by ELISA. As it is seen in Figure 3.7A (left panel), only TLR7 mediated IL-10 secretion was found to be elevated (~2.5-fold) in patient. Unfortunately, this trend was not reproduced when we assayed for the second time. In other words, patient and healthy PBMCs had similar anti-inflammatory cytokine secretion levels (Figure 3.7B).



Figure 3.7 Effect of PRR engagement on healthy and CTPS1^{-/-} PBMCs in the context of IL-10 secretion. Health (n=2) and patient PBMCs ($8x10^{5}$ /ml) isolated from first (A) and second (B) blood drawing events were stimulated with TLR4 (LPS: 5μ g/ml), TLR5 (Flagellin: 100ng/ml), TLR7 (R848: 5μ g/ml), TLR9 (K3: 1μ M) ligands (left panels); STING (2'3' cGAMP: 30μ g/ml), IFI6-STING (HSV: 5μ g/ml) ligands (right panels) for 24 hours. Supernatants were collected and secreted IL-10 levels were assessed by cytokine ELISA. Stimulations were run in duplicates.

In conclusion, results from anti-inflammatory aspect implied that defect in CTPS1 enzyme might not lead to reduced anti-inflammatory capacities of innate immune cells upon PRR stimulation.

3.1.2.2 CTPS1 deficient patient had Low-Density Granulocytes (LGDs) in peripheral blood

While PBMCs were being isolated from whole blood, strikingly, it was observed that CTPS1 patient had immense number of granulocytes in their PBMC fraction (Figure 3.8A). Thus, we speculated that these cells might be Low-Density Granulocytes

(LDGs). In order to confirm presence of and quantitate LDGs and also differentiate them from monocytes, PBMCs were stained with CD14 and CD15 surface markers and analyzed using flow cytometer. It is important to note that, while human monocytes are characterized by their CD14⁺ CD15⁻ surface protein expressions, LGDs are defined to express CD14⁻ CD15⁺ on their surface [119]. As it can be seen from Figure 3.8B, flow cytometry analyses revealed that, patient had 12-15% CD14⁻ CD15⁺ population whereas healthy donors had only 1-2% of CD14⁻ CD15⁺ cells. To further confirm LDG population, CD14⁻ CD15⁺ cells were backgated in FSC versus SSC density plots to demonstrate that they are indeed reside in granulocyte fraction of PBMCs (Figure 3.8C); meanwhile, they were stained with CD66b which is also one of surface markers of neutrophils (Appendix B1.5).



Figure 3.8 Identification of Low-Density Granulocytes within patient's PBMCs fraction. LDGs within healthy (Upper panels) and patient (lower panels) PBMCs was revealed by Forward and Side Scattering **(A)** and the dual staining with anti-CD14, antiCD15 **(B)**; CD14⁻ CD15⁺ events were backgated in forward vs Side Scattering density plots **(C)**.

Even though LDGs were observed in CTPS1^{-/-} PBMCs, healthy controls do have low percentages of CD14⁻CD15⁺ granulocytes which can be explained by residual neutrophils that had not passed through PBMC and sucrose layers or they were contaminating degranulated neutrophils in the PBMC fraction.

Overall, CTPS1 patient had low-density granulocytes in their circulation. This might explain the granulomas on the skin that patient had since LDGs in autoimmune patients like SLE are known to have increased NETotic tendencies and secrete inflammatory cytokines and consequently contribute to an ongoing severe inflammation.

3.1.2.3 Investigation of Neutrophils in CTPS1 deficiency

Presence of circulating Low-density granulocytes in CTPS1^{-/-} led us to check immunological activities of patient neutrophils since LDGs have pro-inflammatory phenotype and they are coupled with increased activities of neutrophils in autoimmune diseases and cancer [119].

3.1.2.3.1 Neutrophils of CTPS1 deficient patient had higher but non-significant spontaneous NETotic tendencies

In order to demonstrate NET formation under basal and stimulated conditions, isolated healthy and patient neutrophils were treated with PMA, which is a known inducer of NETosis, or left alone. After 4 hours of incubation, intracellular and extracellular dsDNAs were stained and NET-like DNA mesh formation was visualized under fluorescent microscopy (Figure 3.9).

Under unstimulated conditions, as expected, healthy neutrophils did not have NET-like DNA formation in extracellular space. However, strikingly, images of neutrophils isolated from CTPS1^{-/-} patient had spontaneous NET release without any stimulation (Figure 3.9A-B). In order to confirm spontaneous NETosis is happening and is independent of any persisting infection or effect of any drug therapy, neutrophils were isolated again from the same patient 3 months after the first blood donation. Consistently, NET formation was observed, albeit to lesser extent when analyzed in the second investigation, (Figure 3.9A-B). Meanwhile, PMA-stimulated neutrophils were assessed as well; in order to check whether patient neutrophils had increased or decreased dsDNA release under stimulated condition mimicking infectious microorganism. As Figure 3.9C demonstrated, both CTPS1^{-/-} and healthy neutrophils expelled similar level of NET-like dsDNA to the extracellular environment following stimulation.



Figure 3.9 Representative immunofluorescent images of healthy and CTPS1^{-/-} **neutrophils undergoing NETosis. A-B)** Neutrophils (10⁶/ml) were left untreated; **C)** stimulated with PMA (50ng/ml) for 4 hours. In order to visualize NET formation (Indicated by white arrows), intracellular DNA (Green) and extracellular DNA (Red) were stained with

Syto16 Green and Sytox Orange, respectively. **A)** 4X (Scale bars represent: 1000μ m); **B-C)** 10X (Scale bars represent: 400μ m) images were taken.

After NETs were visualized, quantity of released dsDNA from neutrophils under unstimulated and PMA-stimulated conditions were assessed via fluorometric investigations from supernatants which were treated and stained with non-specific nuclease (Micrococcal Nuclease) and dsDNA-binding Picogreen, respectively. Results indicated that, healthy neutrophils expelled 181±30 ng/ml (Mean±SD, n=2) dsDNA under unstimulated condition; on the contrary, patient neutrophils released 1021±12 ng/ml (Mean±SD, n=1) dsDNA into extracellular space (Figure 3.10A). In other words, CTPS1 deficient neutrophils released 6-fold more dsDNA compared to healthy individuals under no stimulation conditions. When these measurements were repeated 3 months later, the results were somewhat different than our first observation. While CTPS1-defficient neutrophils expelled 426±25 ng/ml, healthy neutrophils released 390±206 ng/ml of dsDNA to extracellular space (Figure 3.10B). Off the note, PMA-induced dsDNA release was not found to be different between healthy and patient neutrophils in two different occasions.



Figure 3.10 Quantification of released dsDNA from neutrophils. From **(A)** first **(B)** second blood gathering events, isolated healthy (n=2) and patient neutrophils (1.6x10⁶/ml) were stimulated with PMA (50ng/ml) or left untreated. After 4 hours of stimulation, from supernatants, Micrococcal Nuclease Assay was performed. Experiment was run in duplicates.

When taken together, images and spectrofluorometric analyses demonstrated that patient neutrophils showed spontaneous NETosis. Even though only CTPS1^{-/-} neutrophils had NET-like DNA formation, quantification demonstrated that both healthy and patient neutrophils secreted similar amounts of dsDNA when investigated for a second time.

3.1.3. Effects of CTPS1 deficient EVs on immune system

Exosomes and microparticles generally referred to as extracellular vesicles (EVs hereafter) have attracted much interest because of their diverse functions, or their potential utilization either as disease biomarkers or emerging potential for therapeutic exploitation. Understanding the pathophysiological relevance of EVs as well as their therapeutic and diagnostic potential to revert dysregulation and/or severity of diseases is critical. In this thesis, in addition to cellular aspects of CTPS1 enzyme deficiency, contribution of EVs to disease pathogenesis were studied.

3.1.3.1 CTPS1 and healthy EVs have similar effect on healthy PBMCs

Plasmas were isolated from whole blood and then they were used to purify extracellular vesicles. EVs were isolated from 2 distinct healthy controls; meanwhile, patient EVs were isolated from CTPS1-deficient blood plasmas on 2 occasions and were named as CTPS1 - 1, CTPS1 - 2, respectively.

Preliminary assays included to confirm that isolated EVs were indeed exosomes, therefore, purified exosome samples were investigated by the use i) bead-based flow cytometric assay and ii) size distribution using qNano device.

Initial findings also implicated that as expected, EVs that were captured with CD63 antibody coated beads, expressed several exosome-specific markers, such as CD9 tetraspanin protein (Figure 3.11B). qNano gold measurement further confirmed that distribution of EVs were within the expected size range [190]. While healthy EVs had 251±118.7 nm average hydrated size, patient EVs were 223±76.8 nm (Figure 3.11C)



Figure 3.11 Verification of extracellular vesicle isolation from control and CTPS1^{-/-}**plasmas. A)** Healthy (left panel) and patient (right panel) EVs were captured by Anti-CD63 coated latex beads and stained against CD9, in the presence of proper isotype control. MFI levels of CD9 were analyzed using flow cytometer and represented as histogram plots. B) Isolated EVs were analyzed in qEV Nano Gold instrument. Plots represent concentration and diameter of particles from healthy (left panel) and patient (right panel) EVs.

After isolation and confirmation of EVs, immunomodulatory activities of CTPS1 deficient patient EVs were pursued. In these assays, healthy PBMCs were incubated with three doses (15µg, 3µg and 0.6µg) of allogenic healthy EVs or CTPS1^{-/-} EVs for 36 hours in culture; then, pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, IL-8 and antiinflammatory cytokine, IL-10 secretion profiles were investigated using cytokine ELISA. As positive controls for cytokine secretion cells were treated with TLR4 and TLR7 ligands. As it was illustrated in Figure 3.12A, on two independent occasions CTPS1^{-/-} EVs in a dose dependent manner induced less IL-6 secretion from healthy PBMCs compared to healthy EVs. At the highest dose of EVs that was incubated with PBMCs, there were ~8-fold less IL6 production by CTPS1-deficient EVs compared to healthy EVs. Similarly, patient EVs lead to a ~20-fold less IL-8 production from healthy PBMCs (Figure 3.12B, left panel). The cytokine inductive capacities of these EVs were different on different healthy PBMCs, as expected. For example, IL8 secretion was much higher on healthy 2 PBMCs the difference was only seen at the lowest dose tested such as 3µg (Figure 3.12B, right panel). Surprisingly, neither healthy nor patient EV stimulations led to IL-10 production, as it can be seen in Figure 3.12C.



Figure 3.12 Differential activation capacities of healthy and CTPS1-deficient patient plasma-derived EVs on healthy PBMCs. Two control PBMCs ($1.2x10^{6}$ /ml) were stimulated with three doses (15μ g, 3μ g and 0.6μ g) of allogenic healthy (n=2) and CTPS1 - 2 EVs. After 36 hours, supernatants were collected. A) IL-6, B) IL-8, and C) IL-10 secretions from the supernatants were determined using cytokine ELISA. Experiment was conducted in duplicates.

Since CTPS1^{-/-}-derived EVs induced less pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion compared to healthy EVs, it was hypothesized that CTPS1^{-/-} EVs might have immunosuppressive effect on immune system. Therefore, in another experiment the ability of EVs to down-regulate TLR ligand mediated immune activation was sought.

Two healthy control PBMCs were isolated and pre-treated with two doses (15µg and 3µg) of allogenic healthy or patient EVs for 36 hours. Then, cells were stimulated with TLR4 ligand, LPS, for 24 hours. Figure 3.13A illustrates cytokine ELISA from stimulated cell supernatants and it revealed that CTPS1^{-/-} EVs induced 2-fold less IL-6 secretion from control PBMCs and this effect can be observed in patient EVs isolated from two different occasions, implying that this effect is reproducible, and consistently suppresses LPS mediated IL6 production from PBMCs. Even though patient EV pretreated PBMCs secreted less IL-6 compared to PBMCs that were pre-treated with control EVs, patient EVs were failed to reduce IL-6 production in comparison to only LPS treated cells. Apart from healthy EV pre-treatment, stimulated along with unstimulated PBMCs had similar IL-8 secretion levels. That is, at basal conditions, control PBMCs increased IL-8 secretion and it cannot be further enhanced by even LPS stimulation. Off note, healthy EV pre-treated PBMCs enhanced IL-8 secretion which was not seen with CTPS1 EV pre-incubation (Figure 3.13B). Lastly, PBMCs incubated with patient EVs had similar IL-10 secretion levels when compared to control EV pre-treated PBMCs. Interestingly, both control and patient EV pre-treatments reduced anti-inflammatory cytokine secretion compared to TLR4 treated group (Figure 3.13C).



Figure 3.13 Differential activation capacities of healthy and CTPS1-deficient patient plasma-derived EVs on healthy PBMCs. Control healthy PBMCs (n=2) ($1.2x10^6$ /ml) were pre-treated with two doses (15μ g, 3μ g) of allogenic healthy (n=2) and CTPS1 EVs. After 36 hours, cells were stimulated with LPS (100ng/ml) for 24 hours. Then, supernatants were collected and by cytokine ELISA **A**) IL-6, **B**) IL-8 and **C**) IL-10 cytokine production levels were determined. Experiments were conducted in duplicates.

Upon TLR stimulations, antigen presenting cells not only produce cytokines, but also migrate through secondary lymphoid organs to license adaptive immune cells. In order to activate as well as regulate them, they increase expression of MHC class II (HLA-DR), co-stimulatory molecules (CD80 and CD86) as well as inhibitory molecules (PD-L1, PD-L2) expression for restoring the immune homeostasis [245]. Therefore, expression of surface molecules such as HLA-DR, CD86 and PD-L1 on EV pre-treated

and LPS stimulated PBMCs were checked. From Figure 3.14A, healthy PBMCs that were pre-incubated with high dose control EVs had almost 1.5-fold less surface expression of HLA-DR compared to LPS alone stimulation. Moreover, pre-treatment with CTPS1 EVs, had same effect on HLA-DR expression. However, CTPS1 EVs from different blood collection time did not alter HLA-DR expression following LPS stimulation (Figure 3.14A). This data implicated that the therapy dependent alteration of circulating EVs might be happening and the pathological nature of these EVs could depend on the ongoing therapy and duration. Lastly, while pre-treatment with CTPS1 - 2 EVs altered, elevated, PD-L1 expression on the surface of healthy 1 PBMCs, this trend was not reproduced in healthy 2 PBMCs (Figure 3.14C), suggesting the individual to individual variation is also a critical element of these results.



Figure 3.14 Effect of CTPS1^{-/-} **EV pre-treatment on surface expression of HLA-DR, CD86 and PD-L1 molecules from healthy donor PBMCs.** After healthy control cells (n=2) were pre-treated with EVs and stimulated with LPS (100ng/ml) for 36 and 24 hours, respectively, they were assessed to check the expression levels of surface markers using flow cytometer. Cells were stained against HLA-DR, CD86 and PD-L1 molecules. A) HLA-DR, **B)** CD86 and **C)** PD-L1 expression levels were calculated as Mean Fluorescent Intensity. Cells were gated in PBMCs and singlets. Experiments were conducted in duplicates.

To conclude, CTPS1 EVs pre-treatment reduced IL-6 production. Yet they failed to alter the expression of cardinal activation and inhibition surface molecules. It is impossible to deduce insurmountable effect of CTPS1^{-/-} EVs on immune system by these sets of

experiments. More patients and multiple readings using same healthy as well as different donor PBMCs are required to draw a convincing conclusion regarding the immunomodulatory nature of CTPS1-deficient plasma derived EVs.

3.2. Characterization of CD55 Deficiency before and after Eculizumab therapy

In the second part of this project recently identified complement system deficiency (Figure 1.10), CHAPLE or CD55 deficient patient PBMCs were studied. One of the unique properties of this disease is that all identified patients were from Middle East countries, especially Turkish origin families [34]. Responses of Healthy and CD55 deficient PBMCs upon PRR ligand engagement are different.

Absence of CD55 protein in patient PBMCs and following Eculizumab therapy it does not rectify the expression of CD55 molecule was checked by flow cytometry and immunoblotting techniques (Figure 3.15 left and right panel, respectively) from patient PBMCs either before therapy (BT) or after therapy (AT). Healthy PBMCs were used as control blood.



B)



Figure 3.15 Confirmation of the absence of CD55 protein in patient cells by flow cytometry and immunoblotting assays. A) After healthy (n=2) and patient (BT and AT) PBMCs were stained against anti-CD55 and its appropriate isotype control, they were analyzed using flow cytometer and represented as histogram plots. B) 15µg protein from healthy (n=2), BT and AT PBMC lysates were loaded and investigated by immunoblotting. Gel images illustrates CD55 expression levels in healthy and patients at the top panel and the loading control β -actin at the bottom panel.

Figure 3.15 A and B clearly demonstrated that patient PBMCs did not express CD55 molecules and the protein expression was not altered following therapy. As it was reported in the original study these patients present exacerbated inflammatory conditions; therefore, the underlying cause were aimed to be investigated. Even though CD55 per se is a regulatory protein within early complement pathway, CHAPLE patients were reported to suffer from recurrent respiratory track and EBV infections [34]. That is, deficiency in complement regulatory protein predisposes host to frequent infections which could be related to aberrant functioning of the innate immune cells. To understand whether dysregulation in innate cells could be related to CD55 absence, patient PBMCs before and after Eculizumab therapy were stimulated with several PRRs ligands including endosomal TLRs (such as TLR3, TLR7 and TLR9) and intracellular nucleic acid ligands (such as STING, DAI and RIG-I). Then, cytokine production from culture supernatants was determined by ELISA. Figure 3.16 depicts IFN- α and IP-10 responses of healthy, BT and AT PBMCs. As it was described previously, IFN- α , as a member of type I IFNs, is produced through IRF7 involving PRR signaling; in order to reduce viral burden in the host. Furthermore, secreted type I IFNs as well as IFN- γ induce production of IP-10 chemokine to attract and promote T-cells to the infection site, especially Th1 cells [230].

In Figure 3.16A (left panel), BT and AT PBMCs that were treated with TLR3, and TLR9 ligands had significantly reduced IFN- α production compared to healthy PBMCs. Meanwhile, even though STING induced IFN- α production was lower in both BT and AT PBMCs, only reduced responses of AT PBMCs were found to be significant (Figure 3.16A, right panel). Off note, TLR7 and DAI-STING & RIG-MAVS inductions were slightly, but non-significantly reduced in both BT and AT PBMCs compared to control responses. When, IP-10 secretion in response to same ligand engagements were assessed and as it was illustrated in Figure 3.16B revealed that all three endosomal TLRs induced significantly higher IP-10 secretion in healthy individual PBMCs compared

to BT and AT PBMCs of CD55-deficient patient. Moreover, DNA-dependent IRF activation was assessed in the context of IP-10 secretion. Although CD55^{-/-} PBMCs had lower responses, regardless of therapy, only insignificant reduction in IP-10 production was cGAMP stimulated AT PBMCs (Figure 3.16B, right panel).



Figure 3.16 Production of IFN-*α* and IP-10 cytokines from healthy, BT and AT of CHAPLE (CD55^{-/-}) patient PBMCs upon stimulation with various PRR ligands. Isolated healthy, BT and AT PBMCs (N=4, for each group; 1.6x10⁶/ml) were stimulated with TLR3 (p(I:C): 30µg/ml), TLR7 (R848: 1µg/ml), D-type TLR9 (D35-3CG: 3µM) ligands (left panels); STING (2'3' cGAMP: 30µg/ml), DAI-STING & RIG-I/MAVS & AIM2 Inflammasome (p(dA:dT): 5µg/ml) ligands (right panels) for 24 hours. In order to assess levels of secreted IFN-*α* (A) and IP-10 (B), supernatants were analyzed using human cytokine ELISA. Experiments were conducted in duplicates. Kruskal-Wallis test and Dunn's multiple comparison correction were performed between healthy individuals and patient groups for each ligand stimulation. (ns: non-significant; *p≤0.05).

In addition to viral associated responses (type I IFN and IP-10), PRR-mediated proinflammatory cytokine production was investigated since cross-talk between PRRs and complement receptors during the aberrant complement activation may contribute wide range of pathogenesis [246]. Moreover, it was important to point out anti-inflammatory response in the context of innate immune cells since patients suffer from aberrant inflammation and T-cell dependent dysregulation.

Therefore, from supernatants of stimulated BT and AT CHAPLE PBMCs, cytokine ELISA was performed to determine levels of pro-inflammatory TNF- α , IL-6 and antiinflammatory IL-10 cytokines. As it can be observed in Figure 3.17A, apart from TLR3 and DAI-STING and/or RIG-I-MAVS induction, healthy and BT, AT CD55^{-/-} PBMCs had similar responses. One striking observation from this study is the following: After single Eculizumab injection, AT PBMCs responded positively to several PRR ligations and showed an upward movement by secreting higher amounts of TNF- α . In other words, to all stimulations TNF- α secretion from BT but not AT PBMCs were significantly lower compared to healthy controls and to AT PBMCs. This implied that single eculizumab injection upregulated pro-inflammatory response of these patients. When IL-6 production levels were investigated PRR induced IL-6 production from either BT or from AT PBMCs were indistinguishably similar to each other and yet compared to healthy controls these responses were significantly lower implying that single Eculizumab injection does not restore IL-6 secretions from patients towards normal levels (Figure 3.17B). Strikingly as it was depicted in Figure 3.17C, PRR stimulations led to substantially lower levels of IL-10 secretion from AT PBMCs compared to BT PBMCs. Similarly, these responses were much less than normal healthy individual IL-10 levels. Eculizumab injection reduces suppressor or inhibitory cells to secrete immunomodulatory cytokine such as IL-10 implying that AT PBMCs are more TH1biased compared to BT PBMCs. This idea is supported by the unstimulated IL-10 levels of these PBMCs. Eculizumab injection induced a downward trend of the BT IL-10 response (compare the left part of the right panel levels) (Figure 3.17C, right panel).



Figure 3.17 Effect of PRR stimulations on pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokine secretion profiles of healthy, BT or AT of CHAPLE (CD55^{-/-}) patient PBMCs upon stimulation with various PRR ligands. Isolated healthy, BT and AT PBMCs (n=4, for each group; 1.6×10^{6} /ml) were stimulated with TLR3 (p(I:C): 30μ g/ml), TLR7 (R848: 1μ g/ml), D-type TLR9 (D35-3CG: 3μ M) ligands (left panels); STING (2'3' cGAMP: 30μ g/ml), DAI-STING & RIG-I/MAVS & AIM2 Inflammasome (p(dA:dT): 5μ g/ml) ligands (right panels) for 24 hours. Supernatants were collected to determine TNF- α (A), IL-6 (B) and IL-10 (C) cytokine levels by ELISA. Experiments were performed between healthy individuals and patients for each ligand stimulation. (ns: non-significant; *p≤0.05).

Taken together, these results implied that CHAPLE patients had altered innate immune responses and they were merely restored by a single dose of Eculizumab therapy. But in general, the Eculizumab injection initiates a restorative cascade with regard to innate immune cell functioning.

3.2.1. EV-dependent immune modification of CD55 deficient PBMCs before and after Eculizumab therapy

Next, it was indented to investigate immunological aspect of patient EVs before and after Eculizumab therapy. From the perspective of this thesis it was crucial to establish whether a single dose of Eculizumab administration altered the concentration, composition, or the pathogenic nature or the cargo content of these circulating EVs in patients. In order to clarify these issues, EVs were isolated from both before and after therapy CD55^{-/-} patient plasmas and validated by i) western blot, ii) bead-based flow-cytometric analysis technique and iii) size distribution quantification (Figure 3.18).

As it was illustrated in Figure 3.18A, western blot gel images demonstrated that isolated particles bear cardinal EV markers such as Flotillin-1 and TSG101. Furthermore, as it is illustrated in Figure 3.18B, it was successfully demonstrated that isolated EVs as expected, expressed either CD63 or CD9 proteins on their surface: following flow cytometry evaluation. Off special interest, as expected, both western gel images and bead-based EV characterization assays once again validated that similar to the case seen for immune cells, CD55 protein cannot be detected on EVs that was purified from BT or AT patient plasmas (Figure 3.18A-B). Lastly, using qNano Gold instrument through nanoparticle tracking analyses approach the size ranges of CHAPLE EVs were determined to be within the expected range (Figure 3.18C). The hydrated sizes of BT and AT EVs were 264±125 nm and 254±96 nm (Mean±SD), respectively.



Figure 3.18 Verification of extracellular vesicle isolation from control and BT or AT CHAPLE (CD55^{-/-}) **patients. A)** 30µg protein of each isolated EVs were loaded into western blot lanes. Gel images show presence of EV markers (i.e. Flotillin-1 and TSG101) and absence of CD55 protein. **B)** Isolated BT and AT CHAPLE EVs were captured by CD63 coated beads. Then, they were stained against anti-CD9 and anti-CD55 and their proper isotype controls. Following flow cytometric analyses, representative histogram plots in MFI values of each surface markers are shown. **C)** Concentration vs size distribution plots of BT and AT EVs were determined by qNano Gold instrument. Results are average of 3 independent measurements run in triplicates.

Although single dose Eculizumab therapy slightly altered the innate immune responses of PBMCs (see section 3.2.1), it was postulated that may be pathophysiologic nature of the BT EVs could be alleviated much faster following Eculizumab therapy. To this end, isolated BT and AT EVs were incubated with syngeneic BT or AT PBMCs, hence, contribution of EVs to healing process of disease alongside effect of Eculizumab on the innate immune cells could be evaluated.

Figure 3.19A-B revealed that patient BT and AT PBMCs under unstimulated state had elevated secretion of IL-6 and IL-8 (4.5-fold and 2-fold, respectively) compared to healthy PBMCs. Unfortunately, secretion of pro-inflammatory IL-6 and IL-8 cytokines were not altered upon syngeneic BT or AT EVs treatment. Unlike IL-6 and IL-8, production of other pro-inflammatory cytokines, TNF- α and IL-1 β , were higher in syngeneic BT EV incubation compared to syngeneic AT EV stimulation. In other words, AT EV were of much immunosuppressive character compared to BT EVs and incubation with AT EVs reduced production of TNF- α and IL-1 β cytokines to basal levels (Figure 3. 19C-D). Furthermore, IFN- γ levels were assessed from EV stimulated PBMCs and ELISA results demonstrated that while AT PBMCs that were incubated with syngeneic BT EVs had 2.6-fold more type II IFN production compared to incubation with syngeneic AT EVs, neither BT nor AT EV incubation was able to alter cytokine secretion from BT PBMCs (Figure 3.19E). Lastly, anti-inflammatory responses were attempted to be unraveled since AT EV incubated PBMCs were observed to had reduced inflammatory cytokine secretion. Figure 3.19F revealed that syngeneic BT EVs induced BT PBMCs to secrete 2.4-fold more IL-10 compared to their basal levels. Meanwhile, AT EV incubation with BT PBMCs further lead to 2.3-fold more antiinflammatory cytokine secretion when compared to BT EV stimulation. Furthermore, even though BT EV incubated AT PBMCs secreted 4-fold more IL-10 compared to their basal levels, AT EV stimulation did not have remarkable effect on IL-10 production of AT PBMCs.


Figure 3.19 Cytokine secretion profiles of before or after therapy EVs on BT or AT CD55 deficient patient PBMCs. BT and AT CD55 deficient PBMCs (n=4, for each group; $1x10^6$ /ml) were incubated with syngeneic BT or AT EVs ($12\mu g$) for 36 hours. Supernatants were collected and secreted IL-6 (A), IL-8 (B), IL-1 β (C), TNF- α (D), IFN- γ (E) and IL-10 (F) were determined using human cytokine ELISA. Experiments were performed in duplicates.

Next, by another sets of experiments, cytokine secretion profile of healthy controls PBMCs, that were incubated with BT or AT EVs, were determined (Figure 3.20). Although AT EV incubated healthy PBMCs secreted 2-fold less IP-10 compared to

induction mediated by BT EVs (Figure 3.20), other cytokines were unable to be detected (data not shown).



Figure 3.20 Induction profiles of EVs of CHAPLE patients (BT or AT) from healthy PBMCs. Healthy control PBMCs (n=2, 1.6×10^6 /ml) were stimulated with BT or AT CHAPLE EVs (12μ g/stimulation, n=4) for 36 hours. Supernatants were collected and IP-10 levels were assessed by cytokine ELISA. Experiments were conducted in duplicates. t-test was performed between healthy individuals and patients for each stimulation. (ns: no significance).

To conclude, results implied that even after a single dose of Eculizumab, EV dependent immune activation of CD55 PBMCs displayed non-significant but substantially lesser pathogenic responses. In other words, AT but not BT EVs mediate less severe inflammatory response on patients PBMCs.

4. DISCUSSION

Mutations within the genomes of organisms are raw material for evolution. As they accumulate, it may lead to changes in structural and/or functional aspects of proteins. Thus, certain mutations may confer advantage against versatile environments for populations. Presence of complex systems are great examples for this mechanism. For example, immune system confers resistance against other species and consequently, increases survival capacity of organisms [2]. Having been composed of different arms and cell types makes each elements of immune system indispensable for generation of collective and efficient responses against invaders. Therefore, disruption within any crucial component of immune system may manifest itself as aberrant responses. These inefficient responses leading to increased susceptibility to infections, malignancies and dysregulations are called as immune deficiencies [140]. Besides being rare disorders of immune system, one of the major reasons of immune deficiencies is, surprisingly, mutations disrupting generation of proper immune responses. While they might arise as de novo, many cases are due to inbreeding, consanguineous marriage within human populations since it elevates chance of having homozygous deleterious or recessive genes. These poor or absence immune responses are collectively referred as primary immune deficiencies [247].

Identification and characterization of PIDs enable to delineate, comprehend and appreciate how immune system works and redundancy of its components; meanwhile, it may lead to generation of novel therapeutic applications for many other diseases. Like other aspects of immune system studies, PIDs can be investigated by generation of animal models via ENU mutagenesis or knock-out/knock-in techniques. However, they are insufficient to replicate normal course and progression of PIDs since animal models are under highly controlled environment and inbred populations. Thus, they can only mimic them to certain extend [147]. Therefore, characterization of PIDs through utilization of human subjects makes invaluable approach.

First of all, deficiency of CTPS1 enzyme, residing within crucial part of nucleotide synthesis pathway, is the most recently discovered PID that primarily distorts adequate functioning of adaptive immunity [143] (figure 1.10). As it can be interpreted from literature, it was reported that there are only handful cases of CTPS1 deficiency [149–

152]. On one hand, first report, identifying the disease, focused on effects of CTPS1 enzyme defect on adaptive immunity and proliferation capabilities of lymphocytes. On the other hand, rest of the findings attempt to cure the deficiency via hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Secondly, CD55 deficiency, another lately identified PID, classified as complement regulatory protein deficiency, under the innate immune system disorders [34–35] (Figure 1.10). Compared to other regulatory complement deficiencies such as aHUS and PNH, CHAPLE manifests itself quite distinctly: aberrant complement activation, thrombosis in arteries, bowel inflammation induced proteinlosing enteropathy. Report, published in 2017, demonstrated molecular effects of lossof-function in CD55 protein. T-cells are required be engaged by CD55 through its receptor, CD97; otherwise, anti-inflammatory capacities of adaptive immune cells are rendered to be impaired. Moreover, Eculizumab was proven to be effectively reduces increased complement activation on immune cells as well as clinically [175]. Not only these two novel PIDs are rare, but also current literature and findings are penurious. In this thesis, we have aimed to unearth the unidentified innate and adaptive cellular as well as EV aspects of CTPS1 and CD55 deficiencies. It is crucial to point out that, to our knowledge, this is the first study trying to unravel contribution of EVs to the immunopathology of PIDs.

In that essence, first stunning finding from our experiments was evidences suggesting the presence of low-density granulocytes within the PBMC layers of CTPS1 deficient patient (Figure 3.8 and Appendix Figure B6.5). Moreover, their presence was reproducibly confirmed; that is, this was not a one-time event or consequence of experimental error. LDGs may have either suppressive or stimulatory effects on immune system, depending on the context of disease they have been found (Figure 1.7). In order to further confirm that they are indeed LDGs and characterize their immunomodulatory effect, we aimed to isolate LDGs via fluorescent-activated cell sorting. Yet our desperate isolation attempts were huge unsuccess due to several parameters. Nevertheless, it was important to demonstrate the presence of LDGs in CTPS1 because even though presence of LDGs was reported in cancer [248], autoimmune [119] and even asthma patients [249], to our knowledge, this is the first evidence in the literature implying that PIDs harbor LDGs. However, there are reports that bacterial [250] and viral [251] infections may lead to presence of LDGs in circulation. Thus, it is plausible to ask whether infection mediated pathology or enduring inflammation caused by impaired adaptive immune system is the reason why LDGs

are present in patient. In either way, LDGs in CTPS1 patient may contribute to ongoing inflammation via secreting inflammatory cytokines and undergoing NETosis [126]. Moreover, results (Figure 3.9 and 3.10), in which patient neutrophils had spontaneous NETosis, are implication for their chronically involvement in deficiency. In addition to elevated spontaneous NETosis, inflammatory cytokine secretions and their contribution to vascular damage was studied in certain PIDs such as Adenosine Deaminase 2 (ADA2) deficiency [252], Artemis deficiency and Ataxia Telangiectasia [231–253–254]. They demonstrated that aberrant neutrophil activity in these patients are due to spontaneous type I IFN production from peripheral cells and consequently, elevated levels of type I IFNs in their plasmas; however, CTPS1 PBMCs results (Figure 3.6A) did not observe neither spontaneous nor elevated IFN- α production upon PRR engagement. Unfortunately, we did not check levels of type I IFNs and IP-10 in plasma. Another possible explanation for spontaneous NETosis is recurrent viral infections which cannot be cleared due to defect adaptive immune cells. Certain viral [255-256] as well as bacterial infections [257–258] are recorded to induce NETosis [259]. Due to limitations (restricted sample size, inability to acquire multiple readings in different time points) of this study, we are unable to resolve questions regarding LDGs and spontaneous NETosis.

After discovery of normal IFN- α production levels from PBMCs (Figure 3.6A), we were relentlessly trying to unearth molecular consequences leading to increased susceptibility to viral infections. To that end, effect of PRRs on IFN- γ productions were investigated. Stimulated APCs secrete IL-12 and IL-18 which eventually induce type II IFN secretion from innate (NK, NKT and iNKT) [260–261] and adaptive cells (CD4⁺ Th1 cells and CD8⁺ T-cells). Even though results from two distinct time points were inconsistent, data revealed that IFN- γ levels from PBMCs were found to be slightly reduced. However, this was not a result of reduced IL-12 production from APCs (Figure 3.6C). Even though this phenomenon can be explained by absence of iNKT, invariant T-cells in CTPS1 deficiency [149], as we reported they still harbor major IFN- γ producing cells such as CD8 T-cells and Th1 Cells with normal functionality. In conclusion, we demonstrated that innate immunity may not contribute to recurrence of viral infections.

Our results regarding CTPS1 deficiency also demonstrated that patient might suffer from immune dysregulation (Figure 3.3, Figure 3.4, Figure 3.5 and Appendix B6.3).

One of flow cytometry analyses (Figure 3.5) showed that patient had severely impaired IL-10 production from CD4⁺ T-cells upon forced activation. There are numerous subsets of CD4⁺ T-cells that are able to produce IL-10. It has been documented that Th1 cells [262-263], Th2 cells [264] and even Th17 cells [265] are able to secrete master immune regulator cytokine, under certain conditions. However, apart from them, major IL-10 producing T-cell subsets are Foxp3⁺ and Foxp3⁻ (or Tr1) T-cells. Although latter is formed after chronic stimulation of CD4⁺ T-cells in the presence of IL-10 [266– 267], former is fundamental for immune homeostasis [268-269]. Therefore, low percentages of Foxp3⁺ expressing T-cells and IL-10 production may indicate Tregdependent immune dysregulation. None of the exiting reports investigated levels of cytokine production from CD4⁺ T-cells. In addition, we have demonstrated that phosphorylation of STAT5 protein upon IL-2 receptor stimulation is impaired in patient helper T-cells (Figure 3.3, Figure 3.4). IL-2 is a crucial cytokine for proliferation and differentiation of already primed T-cells [270] as well as development of FoxP3⁺ Tregs in thymus and boosting the functioning of them [271-273]. Even though it was demonstrated that defect in CTPS1 enzyme renders proliferation capability of adaptive immune cells to impaired, our STAT5 phosphorylation results put forward that IL-2 receptor signaling cascade required for proliferation, differentiation may be disturbed as well. Moreover, Low levels of pSTAT5 might be attributed to decreased ability to upregulate CD25 molecules in CTPS1 patient cells [149]. Because it is known that after T-cells are stimulated via MHC and co-stimulatory molecules, they i) secrete IL-2 and ii) upregulate gamma chain of IL-2 receptor, CD25. Since we were unable to differentiate naïve CD4⁺ from activated ones, effect of low levels of pSTAT5 may be caused by low CD25 surface expression on already primed T-cells. In order to resolve these, pSTAT5 levels can be further investigated after CTPS1 enzyme is reconstituted in CD4⁺ T-cells. Since adaptive immune cell derived anti-inflammatory capacities were altered, we assessed IL-10 secretion from innate immune cells (Figure 3.7). In contrast to adaptive immune responses, anti-inflammatory responses of innate cells were not affected from CTPS1 enzyme deficiency. To summarize, dysregulation of immune system in CTPS1 patient may arise from improper functioning in adaptive immunity.

We also reported that helper T-cells of patient had reduced STAT3 phosphorylation and IL-17 secretion but normal STAT1 phosphorylation and IFN- γ secretion leading to biased Th1/Th17 balance favoring Th1 (Figure 3.3, 3.4 and 3.5). Th17 cells stimulating stromal and epithelial cells via IL-17 and IL-22, respectively [274]. By stimulation of stromal cells, they are indirect inducers of granulopoiesis and neutrophil recruitment through secreting cytokines. Thus, it may clarify why patient had low number of neutrophils (CTPS1: ~8x10⁵ cells from 5ml whole blood). However, it does not explain why neutrophils were already activated and underwent spontaneous NETosis.

We have tried to investigate immunomodulatory nature of CTPS1 plasma-derived EVs on immune system. We conducted two distinct experimental sets up. First, we assessed direct effects EVs on PBMCs by solely co-incubating them. CTPS1 EVs induced less IL-6 and IL-8 compared to healthy EVs (Figure 3.12). Then, we incubated cells with EVs before stimulating their TLR4 cascade. While cytokine results demonstrated CTPS1 EVs induced low levels of IL-6 production, neither surface activation nor suppression markers were found to be altered (Figure 3.13, 3.14). To conclude, we were unable to come up with a plausible description for their immunomodulatory nature. Therefore, besides functional assays, cargos such as proteins, miRNAs, mRNAs that are circulating within CTPS1 EVs should be identified and characterized in near future.

In the second part of this thesis, we have prompted to investigate impact of deficiency of CD55 molecule on innate immune system, especially PRRs and answer in what aspects responses of immune system of CHAPLE patients can be altered after a single dose of Eculizumab. To that end, whole bloods of 4 distinct CD55 deficient patients were collected and PBMCs were isolated before and after a single dose of Eculizumab given. Our findings (Figure 3.16A-B) indicated that CD55 deficient patient have abnormal, altered innate immune response in the context of endosomal TLRs (TLR3, TLR7 and TLR9) and intracellular nucleic acid sensors (STING, DAI-STING & RIG-I). As it can be interpreted that effect of CD55 molecule is independent from MyD88 signaling since same effect were observed in all endosomal TLR response. Meanwhile, same effect was observed in intracellular nucleic acid sensing. Thus, our results might imply that both IRF3 and IRF7 signaling is affected by CD55 deficiency. To our attention, no reports have investigated that DAF per se regulates endosomal TLR signaling in the context of type I IFN. These results may explain why patients suffer from recurrent infections associated with hypogammaglobulinemia even though percentages of major immune cell subsets were within the expected range [34]. Same set of experiments vaguely demonstrated that, the innate immune dysfunction was merely restored by Eculizumab injection. Therefore, our data might implicate that PRRmediated anti-viral responses might not be effected by C5aR-PRR cross-talking since Eculizumab, being neutralizer of C5 protein in plasma, dampens the production of C5a [24–174]. However, we were unable to present any data to explain the effect of absence of CD55 on viral responses.

In same context and experimental set up, other part of PRR signaling cascade, NF κ B, was in our central investigation: pro-inflammatory cytokine responses of CHAPLE PBMCs. It (Figure 3.17A-B) demonstrated that while IL-6 secretion levels upon PRR engagements were reduced in both BT and AT PBMCs, apart from TLR3 response of BT PBMCs, TNF- α responses were normal and affected by neither CD55 absence nor Eculizumab therapy. Our findings contradict with literature; that is, in one study conducted in DAF^{-/-} mice model, demonstrated that TLR4, TLR2&6 and TLR9 mediated pro-inflammatory cytokine such as IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α secretions were elevated compared to wild-type mice [275]. However, this raises another question whether mice and human have different mechanism of cross-talking between PRRs and complement receptors. Lastly, cytokine ELISA results demonstrated only TLR7 stimulated PBMCs have immune dysregulation (Figure 3.17). Overall, it is not possible to interpret exact effect of CD55 on PRR-mediated NF κ B signaling cascade since not only responses of pro-inflammatory cytokine are differentially secreted as well as our findings contradict with current literature.

Growing bodies of evidences demonstrated that EVs play imperative roles in progression of diseases; however, to our knowledge, this study is the first one demonstrating direct effect of EVs, isolated from a complement disorder, on immune cells. We demonstrated that AT EV incubated PBMCs had reduced secretion of TNF- α , IL-1 β but not IL-6 and IL-8 cytokines compared to BT EV incubation (Figure 3.19A-D). Although we could not explain, the reason why differential pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion might be caused by composition of AT EVs and/or CHAPLE PBMCs had already been primed to secrete high levels of IL-6 and IL-8 cytokines at a naive state and it cannot be further downregulated. Likewise, secretion of type II IFN from AT incubated PBMCs were decreased (Figure 3.19E). Strikingly, AT EVs increased secretion of anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10, from BT and to lesser extent AT PBMCs (Figure 3.19F). It would have been more compelling if we had further demonstrated immunomodulatory aspect of AT EVs by means of changes in surface expressions of activation and inhibitory markers. Next, we further demonstrated inflammatory biased immunomodulatory effect of BT EVs through incubating BT and AT EVs with two

healthy PBMCs. Unfortunately, only detectable cytokine was IP-10 and it further strengthened previous observation. That is, AT EVs are less immunostimulatory. Overall, even a single dose of Eculizumab injection alters composition of EVs in a way that they might exert their immunomodulatory effects by potentiating IL-10 secretion from PBMCs which eventually moderates inflammatory cytokine profile.

In addition to our characterization attempts, we were unable conduct certain experiments since sample size and amount of cell, plasma that can be isolated from peripheral blood are major restrictions. Thus, we propose that there are several prospective future experiments to be conducted regarding CHAPLE disease: i) therapeutic application of exosomes or EVs as a standalone inhibitors for complement cascade, ii) determine whether EVs derived from CHAPLE patients contribute coagulation, iii) investigation, identification of plasma-derived BT and AT EVs via proteomics studies, iv) is there any advantage bearing null CD55 protein against parasitic infections. First of all, we hypothesized that EVs or exosomes overexpressing CD55 protein on themselves may be used as a novel therapeutic agent rather than Eculizumab therapy. Although we did not present preliminary data regarding this aspect of utilization of EVs, sets of experiments demonstrated that when PBMCs were incubated with CD55 expressing exosome in the presence of sera, deposition of inactive or cleaved components of complement system on cells were increased. Meanwhile, exosome incubation did not alter MAC mediated cell lysis. These preliminary data will need to be worked on and optimized for possible application of exosomes in therapeutics of CHAPLE disease. Secondly, as it was mentioned previously, CHAPLE patients suffer from severe thrombosis in arteries; meanwhile, studies showed that exosomes, microparticles and even apoptotic bodies contribute thrombosis and coagulation pathway [276-278]. Third, amounts of EVs left after experiments that we narrated above were tied our hands to carry out proteomics study. As novel patients are identified, composition of their circulating EVs are desperately needed to be lighten. Lastly, there are reports indicating that absence of CD55 protein impairs malaria parasites to adhere surface of host erythrocytes [279-282]. Since distribution of CD55 deficiency are mostly concentrated on Middle East countries in which Leishmaniasis are common [283–284], it will be exciting to answer whether null CD55 protein in patients confer resistance to Leishmaniasis or not.

Collectively, not only we demonstrated several novel outcomes for both CTPS1 and CD55 deficiencies but also this is the first study focusing on investigation of PID EVs.

Our results suggest that while presence of LDGs, neutrophils with spontaneous NETosis, impaired STAT5 phosphorylation along with reduced IL-10 secretion from helper T-cells in CTPS1 deficiency contribute ongoing inflammation, impaired phosphorylation of STAT3, reduced levels of IL-17a secretion contribute dysfunction of adaptive immune system. Moreover, predisposition to viral infections is not contributed by cytotoxic T-cells. In the context of CHAPLE syndrome, we have unraveled that patients had impaired anti-viral PRR responses which cannot be altered by Eculizumab therapy. Last but not least, Eculizumab therapy altered the immunomodulatory effect of CD55 EVs.

5. REREFENCES

- N. W. Palm & R. Medzhitov, Pattern recognition receptors and control of adaptive immunity. *Immunological Reviews*, **227** (2009) 221–233. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00731.x.
- M. D. Cooper & B. R. Herrin, How did our complex immune system evolve? Nature Reviews Immunology, 10 (2010) 2–3. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2686.
- 3. S. Akira, S. Uematsu, & O. Takeuchi, Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. *Cell*, **124** (2006) 783–801. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2006.02.015.
- 4. K. Murphy & C. Weaver, *Janeway's Immunobiology*, 9th ed (Garland Science, 2017).
- M. G. Netea, A. Schlitzer, K. Placek, L. A. B. Joosten, & J. L. Schultze, Innate and Adaptive Immune Memory: an Evolutionary Continuum in the Host's Response to Pathogens. *Cell Host and Microbe*, **25** (2019) 13–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2018.12.006.
- M. G. Netea, L. A. B. Joosten, E. Latz, K. H. G. Mills, G. Natoli, H. G. Stunnenberg, L. A. J. O'Neill, & R. J. Xavier, Trained immunity: A program of innate immune memory in health and disease. *Science*, **352** (2016) 427. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaf1098.
- J. J. O. Shea, W. E. Paul, & C. D. T. Cells, Commitment and Plasticity of Helper CD4+ T-cells. Science, 1098 (2012) 1098–1103. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1178334.
- T. Kurosaki, H. Shinohara, & Y. Baba, B Cell Signaling and Fate Decision. Annual Review of Immunology, 28 (2010) 21–55. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.021908.132541.
- J. Lieberman, The ABCs of granule-mediated cytotoxicity: New weapons in the arsenal. Nature Reviews Immunology, 3 (2003) 361–370. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri1083.
- S. Crotty, T Follicular Helper Cell Differentiation, Function, and Roles in Disease. *Immunity*, **41** (2014) 529–542. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2014.10.004.
- 11. K. Kwak, M. Akkaya, & S. K. Pierce, B cell signaling in context. Nature

Immunology, 20 (2019) 963–969. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41590-019-0427-9.

- F. Sallusto, A. Lanzavecchia, K. Araki, & R. Ahmed, From vaccines to memory and back. *Immunity*, **33** (2010) 451–463. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2010.10.008.
- R. L. Gallo & L. V. Hooper, Epithelial antimicrobial defence of the skin and intestine. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, **12** (2012) 503–516. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3228.
- S. Biryukov & J. A. Stoute, The complement system. Complement Activation in Malaria Immunity and Pathogenesis, (2018) 1–29. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-77258-5_1.
- 15. J. Kohl, The role of complement in danger sensing and transmission. *Immunologic Research*, **34** (2006) 157–176. https://doi.org/10.1385/IR:34:2:157.
- J. D. Lambris, D. Ricklin, & B. V. Geisbrecht, Complement evasion by human pathogens. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 6 (2008) 132–142. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro1824.
- O. Takeuchi & S. Akira, Pattern Recognition Receptors and Inflammation. *Cell*, 140 (2010) 805–820. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.01.022.
- S. W. Brubaker, K. S. Bonham, I. Zanoni, & J. C. Kagan, *Innate Immune Pattern Recognition: A Cell Biological Perspective* (2015). https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-immunol-032414-112240.
- A. Iwasaki & R. Medzhitov, Regulation of Adaptive Immunity by the Innate Immune System. Science, 327 (2010) 291–295. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1183021.Regulation.
- G. P. Vallés, A. G. Lorenzo, V. Bocanegra, & R. Vallés, Acute kidney injury: what part do toll-like receptors play? *International Journal of Nephrology and Renovascular Disease*, **2014** (2014) 241–251.
- M. Kolev, G. Le Friec, & C. Kemper, Complement-tapping into new sites and effector systems. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, **14** (2014) 811–820. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3761.
- V. M. Holers, Complement and Its Receptors: New Insights into Human Disease.
 Annual Review of Immunology, 32 (2014) 433–459.

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-immunol-032713-120154.

- M. K. Liszewski, M. Kolev, G. Le Friec, M. Leung, P. G. Bertram, A. F. Fara, M. Subias, M. C. Pickering, C. Drouet, S. Meri, T. P. Arstila, P. T. Pekkarinen, M. Ma, A. Cope, T. Reinheckel, S. Rodriguez de Cordoba, B. Afzali, J. P. Atkinson, & C. Kemper, Intracellular Complement Activation Sustains T Cell Homeostasis and Mediates Effector Differentiation. *Immunity*, **39** (2013) 1143–1157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2013.10.018.
- G. Hajishengallis & J. D. Lambris, More than complementing Tolls: complement– Toll-like receptor synergy and crosstalk in innate immunity and inflammation. *Immunological Reviews*, **274** (2016) 233–244. https://doi.org/10.1111/imr.12467.
- G. Hajishengallis, E. S. Reis, D. C. Mastellos, D. Ricklin, & J. D. Lambris, Novel mechanisms and functions of complement. *Nature Immunology*, **18** (2017) 1288– 1298. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.3858.
- M. Kolev, S. Dimeloe, G. Le Friec, A. Navarini, G. Arbore, G. A. Povoleri, M. Fischer, R. Belle, J. Loeliger, L. Develioglu, G. R. Bantug, J. Watson, L. Couzi, B. Afzali, P. Lavender, C. Hess, & C. Kemper, Complement Regulates Nutrient Influx and Metabolic Reprogramming during Th1 Cell Responses. *Immunity*, 42 (2015) 1033–1047. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2015.05.024.
- E. E. West, M. Kolev, & C. Kemper, Complement and the Regulation of T Cell Responses. *Annual Review of Immunology*, **36** (2018) 309–338. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-immunol-042617-053245.
- S. Denk, M. D. Neher, D. A. C. Messerer, R. Wiegner, B. Nilsson, D. Rittirsch, K. Nilsson-Ekdahl, S. Weckbach, A. Ignatius, M. Kalbitz, F. Gebhard, M. E. Weiss, J. Vogt, P. Radermacher, J. Köhl, J. D. Lambris, & M. S. Huber-Lang, Complement C5a Functions as a Master Switch for the pH Balance in Neutrophils Exerting Fundamental Immunometabolic Effects. *The Journal of Immunology*, **198** (2017) 4846–4854. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1700393.
- A. M. Lesher & W.-C. Song, Review: Complement and its regulatory proteins in kidney diseases. *Nephrology*, **15** (2010) 663–675. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1797.2010.01373.x.
- 30. E. S. Reis, D. C. Mastellos, D. Ricklin, A. Mantovani, & J. D. Lambris, Complement in cancer: Untangling an intricate relationship. *Nature Reviews*

Immunology, 18 (2018) 5–18. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2017.97.

- P. F. Zipfel & C. Skerka, Complement regulators and inhibitory proteins. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 9 (2009) 729–740. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2620.
- M. M. Frank, Complement disorders and hereditary angioedema. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, **125** (2010) S262–S271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2009.10.063.
- R. A. Brodsky, Paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria. *Blood*, **124** (2015) 2804– 2812. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2014-02-522128.2804.
- A. Ozen, W. A. Comrie, R. C. Ardy, C. Domínguez Conde, B. Dalgic, Ö. F. Beser, A. R. Morawski, E. Karakoc-Aydiner, E. Tutar, S. Baris, F. Ozcay, N. K. Serwas, Y. Zhang, H. F. Matthews, S. Pittaluga, L. R. Folio, A. Unlusoy Aksu, J. J. McElwee, A. Krolo, A. Kiykim, Z. Baris, M. Gulsan, I. Ogulur, S. B. Snapper, R. H. J. Houwen, H. L. Leavis, D. Ertem, R. Kain, S. Sari, T. Erkan, H. C. Su, K. Boztug, & M. J. Lenardo, CD55 Deficiency, Early-Onset Protein-Losing Enteropathy, and Thrombosis. *New England Journal of Medicine*, **377** (2017) 52– 61. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1615887.
- A. Ozen, CHAPLE syndrome uncovers the primary role of complement in a familial form of Waldmann's disease. *Immunological Reviews*, **287** (2019) 20–32. https://doi.org/10.1111/imr.12715.
- M. Hammel, G. Sfyroera, D. Ricklin, P. Magotti, J. D. Lambris, & B. V. Geisbrecht, A structural basis for complement inhibition by Staphylococcus aureus. *Nature Immunology*, 8 (2007) 430–437. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1450.
- M. C. Schneider, B. E. Prosser, J. J. E. Caesar, E. Kugelberg, S. Li, Q. Zhang, S. Quoraishi, J. E. Lovett, J. E. Deane, R. B. Sim, P. Roversi, S. Johnson, C. M. Tang, & S. M. Lea, Neisseria meningitidis recruits factor H using protein mimicry of host carbohydrates. *Nature*, **458** (2009) 890–893. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07769.
- K. V. Anderson, L. Bokla, & C. Nüsslein-Volhard, Establishment of dorsal-ventral polarity in the drosophila embryo: The induction of polarity by the Toll gene product. *Cell*, **42** (1985) 791–798. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(85)90275-2.

- D. Morisato & K. V. Anderson, Signaling Pathways that Establish the Dorsal-Ventral Pattern of the Drosophila Embryo. *Annual Review of Genetics*, **29** (1995) 371–399. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.genet.29.1.371.
- J. A. Hoffmann, B. Lemaitre, E. Nicolas, L. Michaut, & J.-M. Reichhart, The Dorsoventral Regulatory Gene Cassette spätzle/Toll/cactus Controls the Potent Antifungal Response in Drosophila Adults. *Cell*, **86** (1996) 973–983. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80172-5.
- 41. B. Lemaitre, The road to Toll. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, **4** (2004) 521–527. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri1390.
- B. Lemaitre, J.-M. Reichhart, & J. A. Hoffmann, Drosophila host defense: Differential induction of antimicrobial peptide genes after infection by various classes of microorganisms. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 94 (1997) 14614–14619. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.94.26.14614.
- P. Preston-Hurlburt, R. Medzhitov, & C. A. Janeway Jr., A human homologue of the Drosophila toll protein signals activation of adaptive immunity. *Nature*, **388** (1997) 394–397. https://doi.org/10.1038/41131.
- T. Kawai & S. Akira, Toll-like Receptors and Their Crosstalk with Other Innate Receptors in Infection and Immunity. *Immunity*, **34** (2011) 637–650. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2011.05.006.
- L. A. J. O'Neill, D. Golenbock, & A. G. Bowie, The history of Toll-like receptorsredefining innate immunity. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, **13** (2013) 453–460. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3446.
- H. Holtmann, J. Enninga, S. Kälble, A. Thiefes, A. Dörrie, M. Broemer, R. Winzen, A. Wilhelm, J. Ninomiya-Tsuji, K. Matsumoto, K. Resch, & M. Kracht, The MAPK Kinase Kinase TAK1 Plays a Central Role in Coupling the Interleukin-1 Receptor to Both Transcriptional and RNA-targeted Mechanisms of Gene Regulation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **276** (2001) 3508–3516. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M004376200.
- 47. S. Akira, Innate immunity and adjuvants. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **366** (2011) 2748–2755. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2011.0106.

- K. Honda, A. Takaoka, & T. Taniguchi, Type I Inteferon Gene Induction by the Interferon Regulatory Factor Family of Transcription Factors. *Immunity*, **25** (2006) 349–360. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2006.08.009.
- K. O. Omueti, J. M. Beyer, C. M. Johnson, E. A. Lyle, & R. I. Tapping, Domain exchange between human Toll-like receptors 1 and 6 reveals a region required for lipopeptide discrimination. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **280** (2005) 36616– 36625. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M504320200.
- 50. A. L. Blasius & B. Beutler, Intracellular Toll-like Receptors. *Immunity*, **32** (2010) 305–315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2010.03.012.
- F. Weber, V. Wagner, S. B. Rasmussen, R. Hartmann, & S. R. Paludan, Double-Stranded RNA Is Produced by Positive-Strand RNA Viruses and DNA Viruses but Not in Detectable Amounts by Negative-Strand RNA Viruses. 80 (2006) 5059–5064. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.80.10.5059.
- 52. F. R. Alexopoulou L, Holt AC, Medzhitov R, Recognition of double-stranded RNA and activation of NF-kappaB by Toll-Like Receptor 3. *Nature*, **413** (2001) 732–8.
- M. Jurk, F. Heil, J. Vollmer, C. Schetter, A. M. Krieg, H. Wagner, G. Lipford, & S. Bauer, Human TLR7 or TLR8 independently confer responsiveness to the. *Nature*, 3 (2002) 499.
- F. Heil, H. Hochrein, F. Ampenberger, C. Kirschning, H. Wagner, S. Bauer, H. Hemmi, S. Akira, & G. Lipford, Species-Specific Recognition of Single-Stranded RNA via Till-like Receptor 7 and 8. *Science*, **303** (2004) 1526–1529. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1093620.
- S. S. Diebold, H. Hemmi, T. Kaisho, S. Akira, & C. Reis e Sousa, Innate antiviral resonse by means of TLR7-mediated recognition of signle-strandet RNA. *Science*, **303** (2004) 1529–1531.
- J. M. Lund, L. Alexopoulou, A. Sato, M. Karow, N. C. Adams, N. W. Gale, A. Iwasaki, & R. A. Flavell, Recognition of single-stranded RNA viruses by Toll-like receptor 7. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **101** (2004) 5598–5603. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0400937101.
- 57. V. Hornung, M. Guenthner-Biller, C. Bourquin, A. Ablasser, M. Schlee, S. Uematsu, A. Noronha, M. Manoharan, S. Akira, A. De Fougerolles, S. Endres, &

G. Hartmann, Sequence-specific potent induction of IFN-α by short interfering RNA in plasmacytoid dendritic cells through TLR7. *Nature Medicine*, **11** (2005) 263–270. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1191.

- M. S. Duthie, H. P. Windish, C. B. Fox, & S. G. Reed, Use of defined TLR ligands as adjuvants within human vaccines. *Immunological Reviews*, 239 (2011) 178– 196. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-065X.2010.00978.x.
- T. Junt & W. Barchet, Translating nucleic acid-sensing pathways into therapies. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, **15** (2015) 529–544. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3875.
- L. R. Cardon, C. Burge, D. A. Clayton, & S. Karlin, Pervasive CpG suppression in animal mitochondrial genomes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 91 (2006) 3799–3803. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.91.9.3799.
- S. Akira, H. Hemmi, O. Takeuchi, T. Kawai, T. Kaisho, S. Sato, H. Sanjo, M. Matsumoto, K. Hoshino, H. Wagner, & K. Takeda, A Toll-like receptor recognizes bacterial DNA. *Nature*, **408** (2000) 740–745. https://doi.org/10.1038/35047123.
- J. Lund, A. Sato, S. Akira, R. Medzhitov, & A. Iwasaki, Toll-like Receptor 9– mediated Recognition of Herpes Simplex Virus-2 by Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, **198** (2003) 513–520. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20030162.
- A. Bafica, H. C. Santiago, R. Goldszmid, C. Ropert, R. T. Gazzinelli, & A. Sher, Cutting Edge: TLR9 and TLR2 Signaling Together Account for MyD88-Dependent Control of Parasitemia in Trypanosoma cruzi Infection . *The Journal* of Immunology, **177** (2006) 3515–3519. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.177.6.3515.
- P. Parroche, F. N. Lauw, N. Goutagny, E. Latz, B. G. Monks, A. Visintin, K. A. Halmen, M. Lamphier, M. Olivier, D. C. Bartholomeu, R. T. Gazzinelli, & D. T. Golenbock, Malaria hemozoin is immunologically inert but radically enhances innate responses by presenting malaria DNA to Toll-like receptor 9. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **104** (2007) 1919–1924. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0608745104.
- C. Coban, K. J. Ishii, T. Kawai, H. Hemmi, S. Sato, S. Uematsu, M. Yamamoto,
 O. Takeuchi, S. Itagaki, N. Kumar, T. Horii, & S. Akira, Toll-like receptor 9

mediates innate immune activation by the malaria pigment hemozoin. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, **201** (2005) 19–25. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20041836.

- 66. A. M. Krieg, Therapeutic potential of toll-like receptor 9 activation. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, **5** (2006) 471–484. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd2059.
- S. Yamamoto, T. Yamamoto, T. Kataoka, E. Kuramoto, O. Yano, & T. Tokunaga, Unique palindromic sequences in synthetic oligonucleotides are required to induce IFN [correction of INF] and augment IFN-mediated [correction of INF] natural killer activity. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)*, **148** (1992) 4072–6.
- A. M. Krieg, A.-K. Yi, S. Matson, T. J. Waldschmidt, G. A. Bishop, R. Teasdale, G. A. Koretsky, & D. M. Klinmann, CpG Motifs in Bacterial DNA trigger direct Bcell activation. *Nature*, **374** (1995) 546–549.
- D. M. Klinman, A. K. Yi, S. L. Beaucage, J. Conover, & A. M. Krieg, CpG motifs present in bacteria DNA rapidly induce lymphocytes to secrete interleukin 6, interleukin 12, and interferon gamma. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 93 (1996) 2879–2883. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.93.7.2879.
- D. Verthelyi, K. J. Ishii, M. Gursel, F. Takeshita, & D. M. Klinman, Human Peripheral Blood Cells Differentially Recognize and Respond to Two Distinct CpG Motifs. *The Journal of Immunology*, **166** (2001) 2372–2377. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.166.4.2372.
- G. Hartmann, R. D. Weeratna, Z. K. Ballas, P. Payette, S. Blackwell, I. Suparto, W. L. Rasmussen, M. Waldschmidt, D. Sajuthi, R. H. Purcell, H. L. Davis, & A. M. Krieg, Delineation of a CpG Phosphorothioate Oligodeoxynucleotide for Activating Primate Immune Responses In Vitro and In Vivo. *The Journal of Immunology*, 164 (2000) 1617–1624. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.164.3.1617.
- G. Hartmann, J. Battiany, H. Poeck, M. Wagner, M. Kerkmann, N. Lubenow, S. Rothenfusser, & S. Endres, Rational design of new CpG oligonucleotides that combine B cell activation with high IFN-α induction in plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *European Journal of Immunology*, **33** (2003) 1633–1641. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.200323813.

- M. Schlee & G. Hartmann, Discriminating self from non-self in nucleic acid sensing. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, **16** (2016) 566–580. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2016.78.
- J. Wu & Z. J. Chen, Innate Immune Sensing and Signaling of Cytosolic Nucleic Acids. Annual Review of Immunology, 32 (2014) 461–488. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-immunol-032713-120156.
- Y. M. Loo & M. Gale, Immune Signaling by RIG-I-like Receptors. *Immunity*, 34 (2011) 680–692. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2011.05.003.
- A. Pichlmair, O. Schulz, C. P. Tan, T. I. Naslund, P. Liljestrom, F. Weber, & C. R. e Sousa, RIG-I–Mediated Antiviral Responses to Single-Stranded RNA Bearing 5'-Phosphates. *Science*, **314** (2006) 997–1002.
- 77. V. Hornung, H. Kato, H. Poeck, S. Akira, K. Conzelmann, & M. Schlee, Ligand for RIG-I. *Science*, **994** (2010) 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1132505.
- A. Ablasser, F. Bauernfeind, G. Hartmann, E. Latz, K. A. Fitzgerald, & V. Hornung, RIG-I-dependent sensing of poly(dA:dT) through the induction of an RNA polymerase III-transcribed RNA intermediate. *Nature Immunology*, **10** (2009) 1065–1072. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.1779.
- S. Liu, X. Cai, J. Wu, Q. Cong, X. Chen, T. Li, F. Du, J. Ren, Y. T. Wu, N. V. Grishin, & Z. J. Chen, Phosphorylation of innate immune adaptor proteins MAVS, STING, and TRIF induces IRF3 activation. *Science*, **347** (2015). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaa2630.
- A. Roers, B. Hiller, & V. Hornung, Recognition of Endogenous Nucleic Acids by the Innate Immune System. *Immunity*, **44** (2016) 739–754. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2016.04.002.
- L. Sun, J. Wu, F. Du, X. Chen, & Z. J. Chen, Cyclic GMP-AMP Synthase Is a Cytosolic DNA Sensor That Activates the Type I Interferon Pathway. *Science*, 339 (2013) 786–791. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1229963.
- L. Unterholzner, S. E. Keating, M. Baran, K. A. Horan, S. B. Jensen, S. Sharma, C. M. Sirois, T. Jin, E. Latz, T. S. Xiao, K. A. Fitzgerald, S. R. Paludan, & A. G. Bowie, IFI16 is an innate immune sensor for intracellular DNA. *Nature Immunology*, **11** (2010) 997–1004. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.1932.

- K. J. Ishii, T. Kawagoe, S. Koyama, K. Matsui, H. Kumar, T. Kawai, S. Uematsu,
 O. Takeuchi, F. Takeshita, C. Coban, & S. Akira, TANK-binding kinase-1 delineates innate and adaptive immune responses to DNA vaccines. *Nature*, 451 (2008) 725–729. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06537.
- T. Abe, A. Harashima, T. Xia, H. Konno, K. Konno, A. Morales, J. Ahn, D. Gutman, & G. N. Barber, STING Recognition of Cytoplasmic DNA Instigates Cellular Defense. *Molecular Cell*, **50** (2013) 5–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2013.01.039.
- X. Zhang, H. Shi, J. Wu, X. Zhang, L. Sun, C. Chen, & Z. J. Chen, Cyclic GMP-AMP containing mixed Phosphodiester linkages is an endogenous high-affinity ligand for STING. *Molecular Cell*, **51** (2013) 226–235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2013.05.022.
- 86. F. Takeshita & K. J. Ishii, Intracellular DNA sensors in immunity. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, **20** (2008) 383–388. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2008.05.009.
- P. Broz & V. M. Dixit, Inflammasomes: Mechanism of assembly, regulation and signalling. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, **16** (2016) 407–420. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2016.58.
- H. Ishikawa & G. N. Barber, STING is an endoplasmic reticulum adaptor that facilitates innate immune signalling. *Nature*, **455** (2008) 674–678. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07317.
- V. A. K. Rathinam, Z. Jiang, S. N. Waggoner, S. Sharma, L. E. Cole, L. Waggoner, S. K. Vanaja, B. G. Monks, S. Ganesan, E. Latz, V. Hornung, S. N. Vogel, E. Szomolanyi-Tsuda, & K. A. Fitzgerald, The AIM2 inflammasome is essential for host defense against cytosolic bacteria and DNA viruses. *Nature Immunology*, **11** (2010) 395–402. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.1864.
- 90. M. J. Kaplan, Neutrophils in the pathogenesis and manifestations of SLE. *Nature Reviews Rheumatology*, **7** (2011) 691–699. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrrheum.2011.132.
- K. Ley, H. M. Hoffman, P. Kubes, M. A. Cassatella, A. Zychlinsky, C. C. Hedrick,
 & S. D. Catz, Neutrophils: New insights and open questions. *Science Immunology*, 3 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1126/sciimmunol.aat4579.

- C. Summers, S. M. Rankin, A. M. Condliffe, N. Singh, A. M. Peters, & E. R. Chilvers, Neutrophil kinetics in health and disease. *Trends in Immunology*, **31** (2010) 318–324. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2010.05.006.
- E. Kolaczkowska & P. Kubes, Neutrophil recruitment and function in health and inflammation. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, **13** (2013) 159–175. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3399.
- O. Soehnlein, S. Steffens, A. Hidalgo, & C. Weber, Neutrophils as protagonists and targets in chronic inflammation. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, **17** (2017) 248–261. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2017.10.
- 95. V. Papayannopoulos, Neutrophil extracellular traps in immunity and disease.
 Nature Reviews Immunology, **18** (2018) 134–147.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2017.105.
- I. Jorgensen, M. Rayamajhi, & E. A. Miao, Programmed cell death as a defence against infection. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, **17** (2017) 151–164. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2016.147.
- K. Van Avondt, R. Fritsch-Stork, R. H. W. M. Derksen, & L. Meyaard, Ligation of Signal Inhibitory Receptor on Leukocytes-1 Suppresses the Release of Neutrophil Extracellular Traps in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *PLOS ONE*, 8 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0078459.
- M. Behnen, C. Leschczyk, S. Möller, T. Batel, M. Klinger, W. Solbach, & T. Laskay, Immobilized Immune Complexes Induce Neutrophil Extracellular Trap Release by Human Neutrophil Granulocytes via FcγRIIIB and Mac-1. *The Journal of Immunology*, **193** (2014) 1954–1965. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1400478.
- N. Branzk, A. Lubojemska, S. E. Hardison, Q. Wang, M. G. Gutierrez, G. D. Brown, & V. Papayannopoulos, Neutrophils sense microbe size and selectively release neutrophil extracellular traps in response to large pathogens. *Nature Immunology*, **15** (2014) 1017–1025. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2987.
- C. Gabriel, W. R. McMaster, D. Girard, & A. Descoteaux, Leishmania donovani Promastigotes Evade the Antimicrobial Activity of Neutrophil Extracellular Traps
 The Journal of Immunology, **185** (2010) 4319–4327. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1000893.

- G. A. Funchal, N. Jaeger, R. S. Czepielewski, M. S. Machado, S. P. Muraro, R. T. Stein, C. B. C. Bonorino, & B. N. Porto, Respiratory Syncytial Virus Fusion Protein Promotes TLR-4–Dependent Neutrophil Extracellular Trap Formation by Human Neutrophils. *PLOS ONE*, **10** (2015) 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0124082.
- S. Gupta & M. J. Kaplan, The role of neutrophils and NETosis in autoimmune and renal diseases. *Nature Reviews Nephrology*, **12** (2016) 402–413. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneph.2016.71.
- B. G. Yipp, B. Petri, D. Salina, C. N. Jenne, B. N. V. Scott, L. D. Zbytnuik, K. Pittman, M. Asaduzzaman, K. Wu, H. C. Meijndert, S. E. Malawista, A. De Boisfleury Chevance, K. Zhang, J. Conly, & P. Kubes, Infection-induced NETosis is a dynamic process involving neutrophil multitasking in vivo. *Nature Medicine*, **18** (2012) 1386–1393. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2847.
- 104. B. G. Yipp & P. Kubes, NETosis: How vital is it? *Blood*, **122** (2013) 2784–2794. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2013-04-457671.
- G. Sollberger, D. O. Tilley, & A. Zychlinsky, Neutrophil Extracellular Traps: The Biology of Chromatin Externalization. *Developmental Cell*, **44** (2018) 542–553. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2018.01.019.
- 106. J. S. Knight, C. Carmona-Rivera, & M. J. Kaplan, Proteins derived from neutrophil extracellular traps may serve as self-antigens and mediate organ damage in autoimmune diseases. *Frontiers in Immunology*, **3** (2012) 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2012.00380.
- 107. K. Martinod, M. Demers, T. A. Fuchs, S. L. Wong, A. Brill, M. Gallant, J. Hu, Y. Wang, & D. D. Wagner, Neutrophil histone modification by peptidylarginine deiminase 4 is critical for deep vein thrombosis in mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **110** (2013) 8674–8679. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1301059110.
- T. A. Fuchs, A. Brill, D. Duerschmied, D. Schatzberg, M. Monestier, D. D. Myers, S. K. Wrobleski, T. W. Wakefield, J. H. Hartwig, & D. D. Wagner, Extracellular DNA traps promote thrombosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **107** (2010) 15880–15885. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1005743107.

- M. Karmakar, Y. Sun, A. G. Hise, A. Rietsch, & E. Pearlman, Cutting Edge: IL-1β Processing during Pseudomonas aeruginosa Infection Is Mediated by Neutrophil Serine Proteases and Is Independent of NLRC4 and Caspase-1. *The Journal of Immunology*, **189** (2012) 4231–4235. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1201447.
- A. Warnatsch, M. Ioannou, Q. Wang, & V. Papayannopoulos, Neutrophil extracellular traps license macrophages for cytokine production in atherosclerosis. *Science*, **349** (2015) 316–320.
- 111. M. Saffarzadeh, C. Juenemann, M. A. Queisser, G. Lochnit, G. Barreto, S. P. Galuska, J. Lohmeyer, & K. T. Preissner, Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Directly Induce Epithelial and Endothelial Cell Death: A Predominant Role of Histones. *PLOS ONE*, **7** (2012) 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0032366.
- M. Toussaint, D. J. Jackson, D. Swieboda, A. Guedán, T. D. Tsourouktsoglou, Y. M. Ching, C. Radermecker, H. Makrinioti, J. Aniscenko, M. R. Edwards, R. Solari, F. Farnir, V. Papayannopoulos, F. Bureau, T. Marichal, & S. L. Johnston, Host DNA released by NETosis promotes rhinovirus-induced type-2 allergic asthma exacerbation. *Nature Medicine*, **23** (2017) 681–691. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.4332.
- S. Tang, Y. Zhang, S. W. Yin, X. J. Gao, W. W. Shi, Y. Wang, X. Huang, L. Wang, L. Y. Zou, J. H. Zhao, Y. J. Huang, L. Y. Shan, A. S. Gounni, Y. Z. Wu, & J. B. Zhang, Neutrophil extracellular trap formation is associated with autophagyrelated signalling in ANCA-associated vasculitis. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology*, **180** (2015) 408–418. https://doi.org/10.1111/cei.12589.
- 114. K. Kessenbrock, M. Krumbholz, U. Schönermarck, W. Back, W. L. Gross, Z. Werb, H. J. Gröne, V. Brinkmann, & D. E. Jenne, Netting neutrophils in autoimmune small-vessel vasculitis. *Nature Medicine*, **15** (2009) 623–625. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.1959.
- 115. G. S. Garcia-Romo, S. Caielli, B. Vega, J. Connolly, F. Allantaz, Z. Xu, M. Punaro, J. Baisch, C. Guiducci, R. L. Coffman, F. J. Barrat, J. Banchereau, & V. Pascual, Netting neutrophils are major inducers of type I IFN production in pediatric systemic lupus erythematosus. *Science Translational Medicine*, **3** (2011). https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3001201.

- E. Villanueva, S. Yalavarthi, C. C. Berthier, J. B. Hodgin, R. Khandpur, A. M. Lin, C. J. Rubin, W. Zhao, S. H. Olsen, M. Klinker, D. Shealy, M. F. Denny, J. Plumas, L. Chaperot, M. Kretzler, A. T. Bruce, & M. J. Kaplan, Netting Neutrophils Induce Endothelial Damage, Infiltrate Tissues, and Expose Immunostimulatory Molecules in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *The Journal of Immunology*, **187** (2011) 538–552. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1100450.
- 117. P. Scapini, O. Marini, C. Tecchio, & M. A. Cassatella, Human neutrophils in the saga of cellular heterogeneity: insights and open questions. *Immunological Reviews*, **273** (2016) 48–60. https://doi.org/10.1111/imr.12448.
- 118. J. Pillay, V. M. Kamp, E. van Hoffen, T. Visser, T. Tak, J.-W. Lammers, L. H. Ulfman, L. P. Leenen, P. Pickkers, & L. Koenderman, A subset of neutrophils in human systemic inflammation inhibits T cell responses through Mac-1. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, **122** (2012) 327–336. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI57990DS1.
- C. Carmona-Rivera & M. J. Kaplan, Low-density granulocytes: A distinct class of neutrophils in systemic autoimmunity. *Seminars in Immunopathology*, **35** (2013) 455–463. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00281-013-0375-7.
- 120. P. M. Carlucci, M. M. Purmalek, A. K. Dey, Y. Temesgen-Oyelakin, S. Sakhardande, A. A. Joshi, J. B. Lerman, A. Fike, M. Davis, J. H. Chung, M. P. Playford, M. Naqi, P. Mistry, G. Gutierrez-Cruz, S. Dell'Orso, F. Naz, T. Salahuddin, B. Natarajan, Z. Manna, W. L. Tsai, S. Gupta, P. Grayson, H. Teague, M. Y. Chen, H. W. Sun, S. Hasni, N. N. Mehta, & M. J. Kaplan, Neutrophil subsets and their gene signature associate with vascular inflammation and coronary atherosclerosis in lupus. *JCI insight*, **3** (2018). https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.99276.
- M. F. Denny, S. Yalavarthi, W. Zhao, S. G. Thacker, M. Anderson, A. R. Sandy, J. Mccune, & M. J. Kaplan, A Distinct Subset of Proinflammatory Neutrophils Isolated from Patients with Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Induces Vascular Damage and Synthesizes Type I IFNs. *The Journal of Immunology*, **184** (2010) 3284–3297. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0902199.
- 122. E. B. Eruslanov, Phenotype and function of tumor-associated neutrophils and their subsets in early-stage human lung cancer. *Cancer Immunology*,

Immunotherapy, **66** (2017) 997–1006. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-017-1976-0.

- E. Mortaz, S. D. Alipoor, I. M. Adcock, S. Mumby, & L. Koenderman, Update on neutrophil function in severe inflammation. *Frontiers in Immunology*, **9** (2018) 1– 14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.02171.
- 124. S. Saha & S. K. Biswas, Tumor-Associated Neutrophils Show Phenotypic and Functional Divergence in Human Lung Cancer. *Cancer Cell*, **30** (2016) 11–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2016.06.016.
- K. Moses & S. Brandau, Human neutrophils: Their role in cancer and relation to myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Seminars in Immunology*, **28** (2016) 187–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smim.2016.03.018.
- 126. H. L. Wright, F. A. Makki, R. J. Moots, & S. W. Edwards, Low-density granulocytes: functionally distinct, immature neutrophils in rheumatoid arthritis with altered properties and defective TNF signalling. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, **101** (2017) 599–611. https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.5a0116-022r.
- 127. B. J. Kegerreis, M. D. Catalina, N. S. Geraci, P. Bachali, P. E. Lipsky, & A. C. Grammer, Genomic Identification of Low-Density Granulocytes and Analysis of Their Role in the Pathogenesis of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *The Journal of Immunology*, **202** (2019) 3309–3317. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1801512.
- T. Cloke, M. Munder, G. Taylor, I. Müller, & P. Kropf, Characterization of a Novel Population of Low-Density Granulocytes Associated with Disease Severity in HIV-1 Infection. *PLoS ONE*, **7** (2012) 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0048939.
- N. Rezaei, A. Aghamohammadi, & L. D. Notarangelo, *Primary immunodeficiency diseases: Definition, diagnosis, and management*, 2nd ed (Springer, 2008). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-78936-9.
- J. Chinen & W. T. Shearer, Secondary immunodeficiencies, including HIV infection. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, **125** (2010) S195–S203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2009.08.040.
- 131. R. E. Black, L. H. Allen, Z. A. Bhutta, L. E. Caulfield, M. de Onis, M. Ezzati, C.

Mathers, & J. Rivera, Maternal and child undernutrition: global and regional exposures and health consequences. *The Lancet*, **371** (2008) 243–260. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61690-0.

- C. D. Bourke, J. A. Berkley, & A. J. Prendergast, Immune Dysfunction as a Cause and Consequence of Malnutrition. *Trends in Immunology*, **37** (2016) 386–398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2016.04.003.
- 133. R. Liu, W. A. Paxton, S. Choe, D. Ceradini, S. R. Martin, R. Horuk, M. E. MacDonald, H. Stuhlmann, R. A. Koup, & N. R. Landau, Homozygous defect in HIV-1 coreceptor accounts for resistance of some multiply-exposed individuals to HIV-1 infection. *Cell*, **86** (1996) 367–377. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80110-5.
- S. Moir, T.-W. Chun, & A. S. Fauci, Pathogenic Mechanisms of HIV Disease. *Annual Review of Pathology: Mechanisms of Disease*, 6 (2011) 223–248. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-pathol-011110-130254.
- 135. H. Al-Mousa & B. Al-Saud, Primary immunodeficiency diseases in highly consanguineous populations from Middle East and North Africa: Epidemiology, diagnosis, and care. *Frontiers in Immunology*, **8** (2017) 1–7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.00678.
- B. Grimbacher, K. Warnatz, P. F. K. Yong, A. S. Korganow, & H. H. Peter, The crossroads of autoimmunity and immunodeficiency: Lessons from polygenic traits and monogenic defects. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, **137** (2016) 3–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2015.11.004.
- L. Duan & E. Grunebaum, Hematological Malignancies Associated With Primary Immunodeficiency Disorders. *Clinical Immunology*, **194** (2018) 46–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clim.2018.06.011.
- 138. C. E. C. Bruton, Aggamaglobulinemia. Pediatrics, 9 (1952) 722–728.
- C. Cunningham-Rundles, C. Picard, S. M. Holland, H. Bobby Gaspar, A. Etzioni, M. L. K. Tang, H. D. Ochs, W. Al-Herz, T. R. Torgerson, T. Chatila, T. Morio, E. Oksenhendler, S. G. Tangye, J. Puck, K. E. Sullivan, J. L. Franco, J.-L. Casanova, C. Klein, Y. J. Crow, & A. Bousfiha, International Union of Immunological Societies: 2017 Primary Immunodeficiency Diseases Committee Report on Inborn Errors of Immunity. *Journal of Clinical Immunology*, **38** (2017)

96-128. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10875-017-0464-9.

- 140. C. McCusker & R. Uptonand, JuliaWarrington, Primary immunodeficiency.
 Allergy, Asthma & Clinical Immunology, 14 (2018) 142–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-3955(16)33023-1.
- R. H. Buckley, R. I. Schiff, S. E. Schiff, M. L. Markert, L. W. Williams, T. O. Harville, J. L. Roberts, & J. M. Puck, Human severe combined immunodeficiency: Genetic, phenotypic, and functional diversity in one hundred eight infants. *Journal of Pediatrics*, **130** (1997) 378–387. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3476(97)70199-9.
- 142. G. Bucciol, L. Moens, B. Bosch, X. Bossuyt, J. L. Casanova, A. Puel, & I. Meyts, Lessons learned from the study of human inborn errors of innate immunity. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, **143** (2019) 507–527. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2018.07.013.
- A. Fischer, L. D. Notarangelo, B. Neven, M. Cavazzana, & J. M. Puck, Severe combined immunodeficiencies and related disorders. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers*, 1 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1038/nrdp.2015.61.
- 144. C. Klein & K. Welte, Genetic Insights into Congenital Neutropenia. Clinical Reviews in Allergy & Immunology, 38 (2010) 68–74. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12016-009-8130-5.
- 145. M. Alghamdi, Familial Mediterranean fever, review of the literature. *Clinical Rheumatology*, **36** (2017) 1707–1713. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10067-017-3715-5.
- 146. H. K. Lehman, Autoimmunity and Immune Dysregulation in Primary Immune Deficiency Disorders. *Current Allergy and Asthma Reports*, **15** (2015). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11882-015-0553-x.
- H. Su, Studying human immunodeficiencies in humans: advances in fundamental concepts and therapeutic interventions. *F1000Research*, 6 (2017) 318. https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.10594.1.
- 148. N. Shehata, V. Palda, T. Bowen, E. Haddad, T. B. Issekutz, B. Mazer, R. Schellenberg, R. Warrington, D. Easton, D. Anderson, & H. Hume, The Use of Immunoglobulin Therapy for Patients With Primary Immune Deficiency: An

Evidence-Based Practice Guideline. *Transfusion Medicine Reviews*, **24** (2010) S28–S50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmrv.2009.09.011.

- 149. E. Martin, N. Palmic, S. Sanquer, C. Lenoir, F. Hauck, C. Mongellaz, S. Fabrega,
 P. Nitschké, M. D. Esposti, J. Schwartzentruber, N. Taylor, J. Majewski, N.
 Jabado, R. F. Wynn, C. Picard, A. Fischer, P. D. Arkwright, & S. Latour, Erratum:
 CTP synthase 1 deficiency in humans reveals its central role in lymphocyte
 proliferation. *Nature*, **511** (2014) 370–370. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13571.
- 150. J. Trück, D. F. Kelly, J. M. Taylor, A. K. Kienzler, T. Lester, A. Seller, A. J. Pollard, & S. Y. Patel, Variable phenotype and discrete alterations of immune phenotypes in CTP synthase 1 deficiency: Report of 2 siblings. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, **138** (2016) 1722-1725.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2016.04.059.
- 151. Z. Y. Kucuk, K. Zhang, L. Filipovich, & J. J. H. Bleesing, CTP Synthase 1 Deficiency in Successfully Transplanted Siblings with Combined Immune Deficiency and Chronic Active EBV Infection. *Journal of Clinical Immunology*, **36** (2016) 750–753. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10875-016-0332-z.
- 152. Z. Nademi, R. F. Wynn, M. Slatter, S. M. Hughes, D. Bonney, W. Qasim, S. Latour, J. Trück, S. Patel, M. Abinun, T. Flood, S. Hambleton, A. J. Cant, A. R. Gennery, & P. D. Arkwright, Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for cytidine triphosphate synthase 1 (CTPS1) deficiency. *Bone Marrow Transplantation*, **54** (2019) 130–133. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41409-018-0246-x.
- D. R. Evans & H. I. Guy, Mammalian Pyrimidine Biosynthesis: Fresh Insights into an Ancient Pathway. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **279** (2004) 33035–33038. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.R400007200.
- 154. A. B. P. Van Kuilenburg, R. Meinsma, P. Vreken, H. R. Waterham, & A. H. Van Gennip, Identification of a cDNA encoding an isoform of human CTP synthetase. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Gene Structure and Expression*, **1492** (2000) 548–552. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-4781(00)00141-X.
- A. Veillette & D. Davidson, When lymphocytes run out of steam. *Nature*, **510** (2014) 222–223. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13346.
- 156. E. M. Hoffman, Inhibition of Complement by a Substance Isolated from Human Erythrocytes-II. *Immunochemistry*, **6** (1969) 405–419.

- 157. E. D. Vainer, K. Meir, M. Furman, I. Semenenko, F. Konikoff, & G. W. Vainer, Characterization of novel CD55 isoforms expression in normal and neoplastic tissues. *Tissue Antigens*, 82 (2013) 26–34. https://doi.org/10.1111/tan.12138.
- 158. M. Edward Medof, E. I. Walter, J. L. Rutgers, D. M. Knowles, & V. Nussenzweig, Identification of the complement Decay-Accelerating Factor (DAF) on epithelium and glandular cells and in body fluids. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, **165** (1987) 848–864. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.165.3.848.
- 159. D. D. Kim & W. C. Song, Membrane complement regulatory proteins. *Clinical Immunology*, **118** (2006) 127–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clim.2005.10.014.
- 160. J. Liu, T. Miwa, B. Hilliard, Y. Chen, J. D. Lambris, A. D. Wells, & W.-C. Song, The complement inhibitory protein DAF (CD55) suppresses T cell immunity in vivo. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, **201** (2005) 567–577. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20040863.
- M. Capasso, L. G. Durrant, M. Stacey, S. Gordon, J. Ramage, & I. Spendlove, Costimulation via CD55 on Human CD4+ T Cells Mediated by CD97. *The Journal* of *Immunology*, **177** (2014) 1070–1077. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.177.2.1070.
- 162. O. A. Hamad, J. Bäck, P. H. Nilsson, B. Nilsson, & K. N. Ekdahl, Platelets, Complement, and Contact Activation: Partners in Inflammation and Thrombosis. In J.D. Lambris, & G. Hajishengallis,eds., *Curr. Top. Innate Immun. II* (New York, NY: Springer New York, 2012), pp. 185–205. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-0106-3_11.
- M. M. Markiewski, B. Nilsson, K. Nilsson Ekdahl, T. E. Mollnes, & J. D. Lambris, Complement and coagulation: strangers or partners in crime? *Trends in Immunology*, **28** (2007) 184–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2007.02.006.
- B. Engelmann & S. Massberg, Thrombosis as an intravascular effector of innate immunity. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, **13** (2013) 34–45. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3345.
- 165. J. Chapin, H. S. Terry, D. Kleinert, & J. Laurence, The role of complement activation in thrombosis and hemolytic anemias. *Transfusion and Apheresis Science*, **54** (2016) 191–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.transci.2016.04.008.

- 166. R. Silasi-Mansat, H. Zhu, N. I. Popescu, G. Peer, G. Sfyroera, P. Magotti, L. Ivanciu, C. Lupu, T. E. Mollnes, F. B. Taylor, G. Kinasewitz, J. D. Lambris, & F. Lupu, Complement inhibition decreases the procoagulant response and confers organ protection in a baboon model of Escherichia coli sepsis. *Blood*, **116** (2010) 1002–1010. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2010-02-269746.
- M. Saraiva & A. O'Garra, The regulation of IL-10 production by immune cells.
 Nature Reviews Immunology, **10** (2010) 170–181.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2711.
- 168. K. N. Couper, D. G. Blount, & E. M. Riley, IL-10: The Master Regulator of Immunity to Infection. *The Journal of Immunology*, **180** (2008) 5771–5777. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.180.9.5771.
- M. F. Neurath, Targeting immune cell circuits and trafficking in inflammatory bowel disease. *Nature Immunology*, **20** (2019). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41590-019-0415-0.
- I. Spendlove & R. Sutavani, The Role of CD97 in Regulating Adaptive T-cell Responses. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* (2010), pp. 138–148. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.180.9.5771.
- 171. E. O. Glocker, D. Kotlarz, K. Boztug, E. M. Gertz, A. A. Schäffer, F. Noyan, M. Perro, J. Diestelhorst, A. Allroth, D. Murugan, N. Hätscher, D. Pfeifer, K. W. Sykora, M. Sauer, H. Kreipe, M. Lacher, R. Nustede, C. Woellner, U. Baumann, U. Salzer, S. Koletzko, N. Shah, A. W. Segal, A. Sauerbrey, S. Buderus, S. B. Snapper, B. Grimbacher, & C. Klein, Inflammatory bowel disease and mutations affecting the interleukin-10 receptor. *New England Journal of Medicine*, **361** (2009) 2033–2045. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0907206.
- G. Socié, M. P. Caby-Tosi, J. L. Marantz, A. Cole, C. L. Bedrosian, C. Gasteyger, A. Mujeebuddin, P. Hillmen, J. Vande Walle, & H. Haller, Eculizumab in paroxysmal nocturnal haemoglobinuria and atypical haemolytic uraemic syndrome: 10-year pharmacovigilance analysis. *British Journal of Haematology*, 185 (2019) 297–310. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjh.15790.
- 173. K. L. Wijnsma, C. Duineveld, E. B. Volokhina, L. P. Van Den Heuvel, N. C. A. J. Van De Kar, & J. F. M. Wetzels, Safety and effectiveness of restrictive eculizumab treatment in atypical haemolytic uremic syndrome. *Nephrology Dialysis*

Transplantation, 33 (2018) 635–645. https://doi.org/10.1093/ndt/gfx196.

- J. Zuber, F. Fakhouri, L. T. Roumenina, C. Loirat, & V. Frémeaux-Bacchi, Use of eculizumab for atypical haemolytic uraemic syndrome and C3 glomerulopathies. *Nature Reviews Nephrology*, 8 (2012) 643–657. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneph.2012.214.
- A. Kurolap, O. Eshach-Adiv, T. Hershkovitz, T. Paperna, A. Mory, D. Oz-Levi, Y. Zohar, H. Mandel, J. Chezar, D. Azoulay, S. Peleg, E. E. Half, V. Yahalom, L. Finkel, O. Weissbrod, D. Geiger, A. Tabib, R. Shaoul, D. Magen, L. Bonstein, D. Mevorach, & H. N. Baris, Loss of CD55 in Eculizumab-Responsive Protein-Losing Enteropathy. *New England Journal of Medicine*, **377** (2017) 87–89. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc1707173.
- 176. A. Singer, Cell surface appearance of unexpected host MHC determinants on thymocytes from radiation bone marrow chimeras . Why The JI ? Submit online .
 No Triage ! Every submission reviewed by practicing scientists Fast Publication ! 4 weeks from acceptance to p. (2019).
- 177. C. V. Harding, J. E. Heuser, & P. D. Stahl, Exosomes: Looking back three decades and into the future. *Journal of Cell Biology*, **200** (2013) 367–371. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201212113.
- G. Laposo, H. W. Nijman, W. Stoorvogel, R. Leijendekker, C. V. Harding, C. J.M. Melief, & H. J. Geuze, B Lymphocytes Secrete Antigen-presentingVesicles. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, **183** (1996) 1161–1172.
- B. T. Pan & R. M. Johnstone, Fate of the transferrin receptor during maturation of sheep reticulocytes in vitro: Selective externalization of the receptor. *Cell*, **33** (1983) 967–978. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(83)90040-5.
- J. H. Kim, J. Lee, J. Park, & Y. S. Gho, Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacterial extracellular vesicles. *Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology*, 40 (2015) 97–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2015.02.006.
- 181. D. H. Choi, Y. M. Kwon, H. X. Chiura, E. C. Yang, S. S. Bae, S. G. Kang, J. H. Lee, H. S. Yoon, & S. J. Kim, Extracellular vesicles of the hyperthermophilic archaeon "Thermococcus onnurineus" NA1T. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, **81** (2015) 4591–4599. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00428-15.

- S. Gill, R. Catchpole, & P. Forterre, Extracellular membrane vesicles in the three domains of life and beyond. *FEMS microbiology reviews*, **43** (2019) 273–303. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsre/fuy042.
- 183. L. Tritten & T. G. Geary, Helminth extracellular vesicles in host-parasite interactions. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, **46** (2018) 73–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mib.2018.08.002.
- 184. B. Pérez-Cabezas, N. Santarém, P. Cecílio, C. Silva, R. Silvestre, J. A. M. Catita, & A. Cordeiro da Silva, More than just exosomes: distinct Leishmania infantum extracellular products potentiate the establishment of infection. *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles*, 8 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1080/20013078.2018.1541708.
- S. L. N. Maas, X. O. Breakefield, & A. M. Weaver, Extracellular Vesicles: Unique Intercellular Delivery Vehicles. *Trends in Cell Biology*, **27** (2017) 172–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2016.11.003.
- 186. C. Obregon, B. Rothen-Rutishauser, S. K. Gitahi, P. Gehr, & L. P. Nicod, Exovesicles from human activated dendritic cells fuse with resting dendritic cells, allowing them to present alloantigens. *American Journal of Pathology*, **169** (2006) 2127–2136. https://doi.org/10.2353/ajpath.2006.060453.
- 187. C. Hess, S. Sadallah, A. Hefti, R. Landmann, & J. A. Schifferdi, Ectosomes released by human neutrophils are specialized functional units. *Molecular Immunology*, **35** (1998) 354. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0161-5890(98)90627-7.
- 188. K. Al-Nedawi, B. Meehan, J. Micallef, V. Lhotak, L. May, A. Guha, & J. Rak, Intercellular transfer of the oncogenic receptor EGFRvIII by microvesicles derived from tumour cells. *Nature Cell Biology*, **10** (2008) 619–624. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1725.
- M. Colombo, G. Raposo, & C. Théry, Biogenesis, Secretion, and Intercellular Interactions of Exosomes and Other Extracellular Vesicles. *Annual Review of Cell* and Developmental Biology, **30** (2014) 255–289. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-cellbio-101512-122326.
- G. Van Niel, G. D'Angelo, & G. Raposo, Shedding light on the cell biology of extracellular vesicles. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, **19** (2018) 213– 228. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2017.125.

- 191. S. Nomura, Extracellular vesicles and blood diseases. *International Journal of Hematology*, **105** (2017) 392–405. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12185-017-2180-x.
- 192. M. J. Kleijmeer, W. Stoorvogel, J. M. Griffith, O. Yoshie, H. J. Geuze, & others, Selective enrichment of tetraspan proteins on the internal vesicles of multivesicular endosomes and on exosomes secreted by human B-lymphocytes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **273** (1998) 20121.
- C. Géminard, A. de Gassart, L. Blanc, & M. Vidal, Degradation of AP2 during reticulocyte maturation enhances binding of hsc70 and Alix to a common site on TfR for sorting in exosomes. *Traffic*, **5** (2004) 181–193. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0854.2004.0167.x.
- 194. M. Record, K. Carayon, M. Poirot, & S. Silvente-Poirot, Exosomes as new vesicular lipid transporters involved in cell-cell communication and various pathophysiologies. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids*, **1841** (2014) 108–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbalip.2013.10.004.
- O. P. B. Wiklander, M. Brennan, J. Lötvall, X. O. Breakefield, & S. E. L. Andaloussi, Advances in therapeutic applications of extracellular vesicles. *Science Translational Medicine*, **11** (2019) 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitransImed.aav8521.
- 196. I. Parolini, C. Federici, C. Raggi, L. Lugini, S. Palleschi, A. De Milito, C. Coscia, E. Iessi, M. Logozzi, A. Molinari, M. Colone, M. Tatti, M. Sargiacomo, & S. Fais, Microenvironmental pH is a key factor for exosome traffic in tumor cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 284 (2009) 34211–34222. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.041152.
- D. Feng, W. L. Zhao, Y. Y. Ye, X. C. Bai, R. Q. Liu, L. F. Chang, Q. Zhou, & S. F. Sui, Cellular internalization of exosomes occurs through phagocytosis. *Traffic*, **11** (2010) 675–687. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0854.2010.01041.x.
- H. M. van Dongen, N. Masoumi, K. W. Witwer, & D. M. Pegtel, Extracellular Vesicles Exploit Viral Entry Routes for Cargo Delivery. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 80 (2016) 369–386. https://doi.org/10.1128/mmbr.00063-15.
- 199. T. Tian, Y. L. Zhu, Y. Y. Zhou, G. F. Liang, Y. Y. Wang, F. H. Hu, & Z. D. Xiao, Exosome uptake through clathrin-mediated endocytosis and macropinocytosis

and mediating miR-21 delivery. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **289** (2014) 22258–22267. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M114.588046.

- 200. K. J. Svensson, H. C. Christianson, A. Wittrup, E. Bourseau-Guilmain, E. Lindqvist, L. M. Svensson, M. Mörgelin, & M. Belting, Exosome uptake depends on ERK1/2-heat shock protein 27 signaling and lipid raft-mediated endocytosis negatively regulated by caveolin-1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **288** (2013) 17713–17724. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.445403.
- R. J. Berckmans, A. Sturk, L. M. Van Tienen, M. C. L. Schaap, & R. Nieuwland, Cell-derived vesicles exposing coagulant tissue factor in saliva. *Blood*, **117** (2011) 3172–3180. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2010-06-290460.
- 202. L. M. Desrochers, F. Bordeleau, C. A. Reinhart-King, R. A. Cerione, & M. A. Antonyak, Microvesicles provide a mechanism for intercellular communication by embryonic stem cells during embryo implantation. *Nature Communications*, **7** (2016). https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms11958.
- K. Koles, J. Nunnari, C. Korkut, R. Barria, C. Brewer, Y. Li, J. Leszyk, B. Zhang, & V. Budnik, Mechanism of evenness interrupted (Evi)-exosome release at synaptic boutons. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **287** (2012) 16820–16834. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.342667.
- 204. P. Puddu, G. M. Puddu, E. Cravero, S. Muscari, & A. Muscari, The involvement of circulating microparticles in inflammation, coagulation and cardiovascular diseases. *Canadian Journal of Cardiology*, **26** (2010) e140–e145. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0828-282X(10)70371-8.
- S. Nomura, N. N. Tandon, T. Nakamura, J. Cone, S. Fukuhara, & J. Kambayashi, High-shear-stress-induced activation of platelets and microparticles enhances expression of cell adhesion molecules in THP-1 and endothelial cells. *Atherosclerosis*, **158** (2001) 277–287. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9150(01)00433-6.
- L. Messer, G. Alsaleh, J. M. Freyssinet, F. Zobairi, I. Leray, J. E. Gottenberg, J. Sibilia, F. Toti-Orfanoudakis, & D. Wachsmann, Microparticle-induced release of B-lymphocyte regulators by rheumatoid synoviocytes. *Arthritis Research and Therapy*, **11** (2009) 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/ar2648.
- 207. E. I. Buzas, B. György, G. Nagy, A. Falus, & S. Gay, Emerging role of extracellular

vesicles in inflammatory diseases. *Nature Reviews Rheumatology*, **10** (2014) 356–364. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrrheum.2014.19.

- 208. T. An, S. Qin, Y. Xu, Y. Tang, Y. Huang, B. Situ, J. M. Inal, & L. Zheng, Exosomes serve as tumour markers for personalized diagnostics owing to their important role in cancer metastasis. *Journal of Extracellular Vesicles*, **4** (2015). https://doi.org/10.3402/jev.v4.27522.
- C. Théry, M. Ostrowski, & E. Segura, Membrane vesicles as conveyors of immune responses. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, **9** (2009) 581–593. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2567.
- S. El Andaloussi, I. Mäger, X. O. Breakefield, & M. J. A. Wood, Extracellular vesicles: Biology and emerging therapeutic opportunities. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, **12** (2013) 347–357. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd3978.
- F. Andre, N. E. C. Schartz, M. Movassagh, C. Flament, P. Pautier, P. Morice, C. Pomel, C. Lhomme, B. Escudier, T. Le Chevalier, T. Tursz, S. Amigorena, G. Raposo, E. Angevin, & L. Zitvogel, Malignant effusions and immunogenic tumour-derived exosomes. *Mechanism of Disease*, **360** (2002) 295–305.
- J. Wolfers, A. Lozier, G. Raposo, A. Regnault, C. Théry, C. Masurier, C. Flament, S. Pouzieux, F. Faure, T. Tursz, E. Angevin, S. Amigorena, & L. Zitvogel, Tumorderived exosomes are a source of shared tumor rejection antigens for CTL crosspriming. *Nature Medicine*, 7 (2001) 297–303. https://doi.org/10.1038/85438.
- V. L. Smith, Y. Cheng, B. R. Bryant, & J. S. Schorey, Exosomes function in antigen presentation during an in vivo Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. *Scientific Reports*, 7 (2017) 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep43578.
- 214. F. Aline, D. Bout, S. Amigorena, P. Roingeard, & I. Dimier-Poisson, Toxoplasma gondii antigen-pulsed-dendritic cell-derived exosomes induce a protective immune response against T. gondii infection. *Infection and Immunity*, **72** (2004) 4127–4137. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.72.7.4127-4137.2004.
- C. Admyre, S. M. Johansson, S. Paulie, & S. Gabrielsson, Direct exosome stimulation of peripheral human T cells detected by ELISPOT. *European Journal* of *Immunology*, **36** (2006) 1772–1781. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.200535615.
- 216. S. Utsugi-Kobukai, H. Fujimaki, C. Hotta, M. Nakazawa, & M. Minami, MHC class

I-mediated exogenous antigen presentation by exosomes secreted from immature and mature bone marrow derived dendritic cells. *Immunology Letters*, **89** (2003) 125–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-2478(03)00128-7.

- M. Gentili, J. Kowal, M. Tkach, T. Satoh, Xavier Lahaye, C. Conrad, M. Boyron,
 B. Lombard, S. Durand, G. Kroemer, D. Loew, M. Dalod, C. Théry, & N. Manel,
 Transmission of innate immune signaling by packaging of cGAMP in viral particles. *Science*, **349** (2015) 1232–1236.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7601842.
- M. Baj-Krzyworzeka, M. Majka, D. Pratico, J. Ratajczak, G. Vilaire, J. Kijowski, R. Reca, A. Janowska-Wieczorek, & M. Z. Ratajczak, Platelet-derived microparticles stimulate proliferation, survival, adhesion, and chemotaxis of hematopoietic cells. *Experimental Hematology*, **30** (2002) 450–459. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-472X(02)00791-9.
- 219. L. A. Smyth, K. Ratnasothy, J. Y. S. Tsang, D. Boardman, A. Warley, R. Lechler, & G. Lombardi, CD73 expression on extracellular vesicles derived from CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ T cells contributes to their regulatory function. *European Journal of Immunology*, 43 (2013) 2430–2440. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.201242909.
- S. L. Tung, D. A. Boardman, M. Sen, M. Letizia, Q. Peng, N. Cianci, L. Dioni, L. M. Carlin, R. Lechler, V. Bollati, G. Lombardi, & L. A. Smyth, Regulatory T cell-derived extracellular vesicles modify dendritic cell function. *Scientific Reports*, 8 (2018) 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-24531-8.
- 221. T. A. Chatila & C. B. Williams, Regulatory T Cells: Exosomes Deliver Tolerance. *Immunity*, **41** (2014) 3–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2014.07.001.
- 222. I. Monleón, M. J. Martínez-Lorenzo, L. Monteagudo, P. Lasierra, M. Taulés, M. Iturralde, A. Piñeiro, L. Larrad, M. A. Alava, J. Naval, & A. Anel, Differential Secretion of Fas Ligand- or APO2 Ligand/TNF-Related Apoptosis-Inducing Ligand-Carrying Microvesicles During Activation-Induced Death of Human T Cells. *The Journal of Immunology*, **167** (2001) 6736–6744. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.167.12.6736.
- 223. S. Samanta, S. Rajasingh, N. Drosos, Z. Zhou, B. Dawn, & J. Rajasingh, Exosomes: New molecular targets of diseases. *Acta Pharmacologica Sinica*, **39**
(2018) 501-513. https://doi.org/10.1038/aps.2017.162.

- S. Y. Chong, C. K. Lee, C. Huang, Y. H. Ou, C. J. Charles, A. M. Richards, Y. R. Neupane, M. V. Pavon, O. Zharkova, G. Pastorin, & J. W. Wang, Extracellular vesicles in cardiovascular diseases: Alternative biomarker sources, therapeutic agents, and drug delivery carriers. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, **20** (2019). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20133272.
- S. Wang, K. Kojima, J. A. Mobley, & A. B. West, Proteomic analysis of urinary extracellular vesicles reveal biomarkers for neurologic disease. *EBioMedicine*, 45 (2019) 351–361. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2019.06.021.
- 226. O. Gidlöf, M. Evander, M. Rezeli, G. Marko-Varga, T. Laurell, & D. Erlinge, Proteomic profiling of extracellular vesicles reveals additional diagnostic biomarkers for myocardial infarction compared to plasma alone. *Scientific Reports*, **9** (2019) 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-45473-9.
- 227. R. Bandu, J. W. Oh, & K. P. Kim, Mass spectrometry-based proteome profiling of extracellular vesicles and their roles in cancer biology. *Experimental and Molecular Medicine*, **51** (2019). https://doi.org/10.1038/s12276-019-0218-2.
- 228. J. S. Brzozowski, H. Jankowski, D. R. Bond, S. B. McCague, B. R. Munro, M. J. Predebon, C. J. Scarlett, K. A. Skelding, & J. Weidenhofer, Lipidomic profiling of extracellular vesicles derived from prostate and prostate cancer cell lines. *Lipids in Health and Disease*, **17** (2018) 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12944-018-0854-x.
- J. Nilsson, J. Skog, A. Nordstrand, V. Baranov, L. Mincheva-Nilsson, X. O. Breakefield, & A. Widmark, Prostate cancer-derived urine exosomes: A novel approach to biomarkers for prostate cancer. *British Journal of Cancer*, **100** (2009) 1603–1607. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6605058.
- S. E. Blackwell & A. M. Krieg, CpG-A-Induced Monocyte IFN-γ-Inducible Protein-10 Production Is Regulated by Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cell-Derived IFN-α. *The Journal of Immunology*, **170** (2003) 4061–4068. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.170.8.4061.
- E. Gul, E. H. Sayar, B. Gungor, F. K. Eroglu, N. Surucu, S. Keles, S. N. Guner,
 S. Findik, E. Alpdundar, I. C. Ayanoglu, B. Kayaoglu, B. N. Geckin, H. A. Sanli,
 T. Kahraman, C. Yakicier, M. Muftuoglu, B. Oguz, D. N. Cagdas Ayvaz, I. Gursel,

S. Ozen, I. Reisli, & M. Gursel, Type I IFN-related NETosis in ataxia telangiectasia and Artemis deficiency. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, **142** (2018) 246–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2017.10.030.

- 232. M. T. Palizgir, M. Akhtari, M. Mahmoudi, S. Mostafaei, A. Rezaiemanesh, & F. Shahram, Curcumin reduces the expression of interleukin 1β and the production of interleukin 6 and tumor necrosis factor alpha by M1 macrophages from patients with Behcet's disease. *Immunopharmacology and Immunotoxicology*, **40** (2018) 297–302. https://doi.org/10.1080/08923973.2018.1474921.
- T. Lang, J. P. W. Lee, K. Elgass, A. A. Pinar, M. D. Tate, E. H. Aitken, H. Fan, S. J. Creed, N. S. Deen, D. A. K. Traore, I. Mueller, D. Stanisic, F. S. Baiwog, C. Skene, M. C. J. Wilce, A. Mansell, E. F. Morand, & J. Harris, Macrophage migration inhibitory factor is required for NLRP3 inflammasome activation. *Nature Communications*, 9 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-04581-2.
- 234. D. A. A. Vignali, CD4 on the Road to Coreceptor Status. *The Journal of Immunology*, **184** (2010) 5933–5934. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1090037.
- F. F. Vasilyev, J. A. Lopatnikova, & S. V. Sennikov, Optimized flow cytometry protocol for analysis of surface expression of interleukin-1 receptor types I and II. *Cytotechnology*, **65** (2013) 795–802. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10616-013-9546-6.
- 236. O. D. Perez, D. Mitchell, G. C. Jager, S. South, C. Murriel, J. McBride, L. A. Herzenberg, S. Kinoshita, & G. P. Nolan, Leukocyte functional antigen 1 lowers T cell activation thresholds and signaling through cytohesin-1 and Jun-activating binding protein 1. *Nature Immunology*, 4 (2003) 1083–1092. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni984.
- 237. L. H. Elson, T. B. Nutman, D. D. Metcalfe, & C. Prussin, Flow cytometric analysis for cytokine production identifies T helper 1, T helper 2, and T helper 0 cells within the human CD4+CD27- lymphocyte subpopulation. *Journal of immunology* (*Baltimore, Md. : 1950*), **154** (1995) 4294–301.
- 238. K. Miyauchi, A. Sugimoto-Ishige, Y. Harada, Y. Adachi, Y. Usami, T. Kaji, K. Inoue, H. Hasegawa, T. Watanabe, A. Hijikata, S. Fukuyama, T. Maemura, M. Okada-Hatakeyama, O. Ohara, Y. Kawaoka, Y. Takahashi, T. Takemori, & M. Kubo, Protective neutralizing influenza antibody response in the absence of T

follicular helper cells. *Nature Immunology*, **17** (2016) 1447–1458. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.3563.

- 239. H. Suárez, A. Gámez-Valero, R. Reyes, S. López-Martín, M. J. Rodríguez, J. L. Carrascosa, C. Cabañas, F. E. Borràs, & M. Yáñez-Mó, A bead-assisted flow cytometry method for the semi-quantitative analysis of Extracellular Vesicles. *Scientific Reports*, **7** (2017) 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-11249-2.
- L. Sun, J. Wu, F. Du, X. Chen, & Z. J. Chen, Cyclic GMP-AMP synthase is a cytosolic DNA sensor that activates the type I interferon pathway. *Science*, **339** (2013) 786–791. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1232458.
- B. T. Kurien & R. H. Scofield, Introduction to Protein Blotting. In B.T. Kurien, & R.H. Scofield,eds., *Protein Blotting Detect. Methods Protoc.* (Totowa, NJ: Humana Press, 2009), pp. 9–22. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-59745-542-8_3.
- 242. J. Punt, S. A. Stranford, P. P. Jones, & J. A. Owen, *Kuby Immunology*, Eight (w.h.freeman, Macmillia, 2019).
- 243. J. P. Huber & J. David Farrar, Regulation of effector and memory T-cell functions by type I interferon. *Immunology*, **132** (2011) 466–474. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2567.2011.03412.x.
- 244. K. Krzewski, A. Gil-Krzewska, V. Nguyen, G. Peruzzi, & J. E. Coligan, LAMP1/CD107a is required for efficient perforin delivery to lytic granules and NKcell cytotoxicity. *Blood*, **121** (2013) 4672–4683. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2012-08-453738.
- L. Chen & D. B. Flies, Molecular mechanisms of T cell co-stimulation and coinhibition. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, **13** (2013) 227–242. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3405.
- 246. E. S. Reis, D. C. Mastellos, G. Hajishengallis, & J. D. Lambris, New insights into the immune functions of complement. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, **15** (2019). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41577-019-0168-x.
- A. Bousfiha, & Leïla Jeddane, C. Picard, F. Ailal, & H. Bobby Gaspar, W. Al-Herz, T. Chatila, & Yanick, J. Crow, C. Cunningham-Rundles, A. Etzioni, J. L. Franco, S. M. Holland, C. Klein, T. Morio, H. D. Ochs, T. R. Torgerson, J.-L. Casanova, & K. E. Sullivan, Phenotypic Classification for Primary Immunodeficiencies. *J Clin*

Immunol, 38 (2018) 129–143. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10875-017-0465-8.

- X. Wang, L. Qiu, Z. Li, X. Y. Wang, & H. Yi, Understanding the multifaceted role of neutrophils in cancer and autoimmune diseases. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 9 (2018) 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.02456.
- 249. J. Fu, M. C. Tobin, & L. L. Thomas, Neutrophil-like low-density granulocytes are elevated in patients with moderate to severe persistent asthma. *Annals of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology*, **113** (2014) 635-640.e2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anai.2014.08.024.
- 250. Y. Deng, J. Ye, Q. Luo, Z. Huang, Y. Peng, G. Xiong, Y. Guo, H. Jiang, & J. Li, Low-density granulocytes are elevated in mycobacterial infection and associated with the severity of tuberculosis. *PLoS ONE*, **11** (2016) 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0153567.
- 251. Y. Li, H. Li, H. Wang, H. Pan, H. Zhao, H. Jin, & S. Jie, The proportion, origin and pro-inflammation roles of low density neutrophils in SFTS disease. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, **19** (2019) 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-019-3701-4.
- 252. A. Belot, E. Wassmer, M. Twilt, J. C. Lega, L. A. H. Zeef, A. Oojageer, P. R. Kasher, A. L. Mathieu, C. Malcus, J. Demaret, N. Fabien, S. Collardeau-Frachon, L. Mechtouff, L. Derex, T. Walzer, G. I. Rice, I. Durieu, & Y. J. Crow, Mutations in CECR1 associated with a neutrophil signature in peripheral blood. *Pediatric Rheumatology*, **12** (2014) 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/1546-0096-12-44.
- 253. C. J. Harbort, P. V. Soeiro-Pereira, H. Von Bernuth, A. M. Kaindl, B. T. Costa-Carvalho, A. Condino-Neto, J. Reichenbach, J. Roesler, A. Zychlinsky, & B. Amulic, Neutrophil oxidative burst activates ATM to regulate cytokine production and apoptosis. *Blood*, **126** (2015) 2842–2851. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2015-05-645424.
- A. Härtlova, S. F. Erttmann, F. A. M. Raffi, A. M. Schmalz, U. Resch, S. Anugula, S. Lienenklaus, L. M. Nilsson, A. Kröger, J. A. Nilsson, T. Ek, S. Weiss, & N. O. Gekara, DNA Damage Primes the Type I Interferon System via the Cytosolic DNA Sensor STING to Promote Anti-Microbial Innate Immunity. *Immunity*, 42 (2015) 332–343. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2015.01.012.
- 255. T. Narasaraju, E. Yang, R. P. Samy, H. H. Ng, W. P. Poh, A. A. Liew, M. C. Phoon, N. Van Rooijen, & V. T. Chow, Excessive neutrophils and neutrophil

extracellular traps contribute to acute lung injury of influenza pneumonitis. *American Journal of Pathology*, **179** (2011) 199–210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.03.013.

- S. Hemmers, J. R. Teijaro, S. Arandjelovic, & K. A. Mowen, PAD4-Mediated Neutrophil Extracellular Trap Formation Is Not Required for Immunity against Influenza Infection. *PLOS ONE*, **6** (2011) 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0022043.
- F. Wartha, K. Beiter, B. Albiger, J. Fernebro, A. Zychlinsky, S. Normark, & B. Henriques-Normark, Capsule and d-alanylated lipoteichoic acids protect Streptococcus pneumoniae against neutrophil extracellular traps. *Cellular Microbiology*, 9 (2007) 1162–1171. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-5822.2006.00857.x.
- V. Marin-Esteban, I. Turbica, G. Dufour, N. Semiramoth, A. Gleizes, R. Gorges,
 I. Beau, A. L. Servin, V. Lievin-Le Moal, C. Sandré, & S. Chollet-Martin, Afa/Dr
 Diffusely Adhering Escherichia coli Strain C1845 Induces Neutrophil Extracellular
 Traps That Kill Bacteria and Damage Human Enterocyte-Like Cells. *Infection and Immunity*, 80 (2012) 1891 LP 1899. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00050-12.
- N. Branzk & V. Papayannopoulos, Molecular mechanisms regulating NETosis in infection and disease. *Seminars in Immunopathology*, **35** (2013) 513–530. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00281-013-0384-6.
- 260. J. A. Cain, J. A. Smith, J. K. Ondr, B. Wang, & J. D. Katz, NKT Cells and IFN-γ Establish the Regulatory Environment for the Control of Diabetogenic T Cells in the Nonobese Diabetic Mouse. *The Journal of Immunology*, **176** (2006) 1645 LP – 1654. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.176.3.1645.
- 261. C. M. Olson, T. C. Bates, H. Izadi, J. D. Radolf, S. A. Huber, J. E. Boyson, & J. Anguita, Local Production of IFN-γ by Invariant NKT Cells Modulates Acute Lyme Carditis. *The Journal of Immunology*, **182** (2009) 3728 LP – 3734. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0804111.
- J. Sun, R. Madan, C. L. Karp, & T. J. Braciale, Effector T cells control lung inflammation during acute influenza virus infection by producing IL-10. *Nature Medicine*, **15** (2009) 277–284. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.1929.
- 263. V. A. Boussiotis, E. Y. Tsai, E. J. Yunis, S. Thim, J. C. Delgado, C. C. Dascher,

A. Berezovskaya, D. Rousset, J.-M. Reynes, & A. E. Goldfeld, IL-10–producing T cells suppress immune responses in anergic tuberculosis patients. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, **105** (2000) 1317–1325. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI9918.

- 264. F. Meiler, J. Zumkehr, S. Klunker, B. Rückert, C. A. Akdis, & M. Akdis, In vivo switch to IL-10–secreting T regulatory cells in high dose allergen exposure. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, **205** (2008) 2887 LP – 2898. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20080193.
- C. E. Zielinski, F. Mele, D. Aschenbrenner, D. Jarrossay, F. Ronchi, M. Gattorno, S. Monticelli, A. Lanzavecchia, & F. Sallusto, Pathogen-induced human T H17 cells produce IFN-γ or IL-10 and are regulated by IL-1β. *Nature*, **484** (2012) 514– 518. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10957.
- H. Zeng, R. Zhang, B. Jin, & L. Chen, Type 1 regulatory T cells: A new mechanism of peripheral immune tolerance. *Cellular and Molecular Immunology*, 12 (2015) 566–571. https://doi.org/10.1038/cmi.2015.44.
- 267. H. Groux, A. O'Garra, M. Bigler, M. Rouleau, S. Antonenko, J. E. De Vries, & M. G. Roncarolo, A CD4+ T-cell subset inhibits antigen-specific T-cell responses and prevents colitis. *Nature*, 389 (1997) 737–742. https://doi.org/10.1038/39614.
- T. H. S. Ng, G. J. Britton, E. V. Hill, J. Verhagen, B. R. Burton, & D. C. Wraith, Regulation of adaptive immunity; the role of interleukin-10. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 4 (2013) 1–13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2013.00129.
- A. Chaudhry & A. Y. Rudensky, Control of inflammation by integration of environmental cues by regulatory T cells. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, **123** (2013) 939–944. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI57175.
- S. H. Ross & D. A. Cantrell, Signaling and Function of Interleukin-2 in T Lymphocytes. *Annual Review of Immunology*, **36** (2018) 411–433. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-immunol-042617-053352.
- 271. M. A. Burchill, J. Yang, C. Vogtenhuber, B. R. Blazar, & M. A. Farrar, IL-2 Receptor β-Dependent STAT5 Activation Is Required for the Development of Foxp3<sup>+</sup> Regulatory T Cells. *The Journal of Immunology*, **178** (2007) 280 LP – 290. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.178.1.280.
- 272. D. M. Soper, D. J. Kasprowicz, & S. F. Ziegler, IL-2Rβ links IL-2R signaling with

Foxp3 expression. *European Journal of Immunology*, **37** (2007) 1817–1826. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.200737101.

- 273. T. Chinen, A. K. Kannan, A. G. Levine, X. Fan, U. Klein, Y. Zheng, G. Gasteiger, Y. Feng, J. D. Fontenot, & A. Y. Rudensky, An essential role for the IL-2 receptor in T reg cell function. *Nature Immunology*, **17** (2016) 1322–1333. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.3540.
- 274. R. Basu, R. D. Hatton, & C. T. Weaver, The Th17 family: Flexibility follows function. *Immunological Reviews*, 252 (2013) 89–103. https://doi.org/10.1111/imr.12035.
- 275. X. Zhang, Y. Kimura, C. Fang, L. Zhou, G. Sfyroera, J. D. Lambris, R. Wetsel, T. Miwa, & W.-C. Song, Regulation of Toll-like receptor signaling by complement in vivo. *Molecular Immunology*, 44 (2006) 263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2006.07.272.
- M. M. Aleman, C. Gardiner, P. Harrison, & A. S. Wolberg, Differential contributions of monocyte- and platelet-derived microparticles towards thrombin generation and fibrin formation and stability. *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, 9 (2011) 2251–2261. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1538-7836.2011.04488.x.
- L. Bidot, W. Jy, C. Bidot, J. J. Jimenez, V. Fontana, L. L. Horstman, & Y. S. Ahn, Microparticle-mediated thrombin generation assay: Increased activity in patients with recurrent thrombosis. *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis*, 6 (2008) 913–919. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1538-7836.2008.02963.x.
- M.-R. Muhsin-Sharafaldine, S. C. Saunderson, A. C. Dunn, J. M. Faed, T. Kleffmann, & A. D. McLellan, Procoagulant and immunogenic properties of melanoma exosomes, microvesicles and apoptotic vesicles. *Oncotarget*, **7** (2016). https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.10783.
- 279. E. S. Egan, R. H. Y. Jiang, M. A. Moechtar, N. S. Barteneva, M. P. Weekes, L. V. Nobre, S. P. Gygi, J. A. Paulo, C. Frantzreb, Y. Tani, J. Takahashi, S. Watanabe, J. Goldberg, A. S. Paul, C. Brugnara, D. E. Root, R. C. Wiegand, J. G. Doench, & M. T. Duraisingh, A forward genetic screen identifies erythrocyte CD55 as essential for Plasmodium falciparum invasion. *Science*, **348** (2015) 711–714. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaa3526.

- M. Gwamaka, M. Fried, G. Domingo, & P. E. Duffy, Early and extensive CD55 loss from red blood cells supports a causal role in malarial anaemia. *Malaria Journal*, **10** (2011) 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2875-10-386.
- 281. W. Tham & A. T. Kennedy, A master lock for deadly parasites Nuclear dilemma resolved. *Nature*, (2015) 158–159. https://doi.org/10.1038/522158a.
- 282. S. Biryukov & J. A. Stoute, Complement activation in malaria: Friend or foe? *Trends in Molecular Medicine*, **20** (2014) 293–301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2014.01.001.
- M. A. McDowell, S. Rafati, M. Ramalho-Ortigao, & A. Ben Salah, Leishmaniasis: Middle East and North Africa Research and Development Priorities. *PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, **5** (2011) 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0001219.
- 284. N. Salam, W. M. Al-Shaqha, & A. Azzi, Leishmaniasis in the Middle East: Incidence and Epidemiology. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 8 (2014) 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0003208.

6. APPENDICES

6.1. Appendix A

Cell Culture Media and Buffers Recipes

RPMI-1640 Media

- 500 ml RPMI-1640 Media (with L-Glutamine at a final concentration 2mM)
- For 2%: 10.64 ml; 5%: 27.47ml; 10%: 58.14 ml FBS

(For Regular Media, FBS was heat-inactivated for 1 hour at 55°C, for Oligo Media, FBS was heat-inactivated for 1 hour at 65°C. Moreover, in order to prepare EV depleted media, heat-inactivated FBS were subjected to centrifugation at 100000xg for 5 hours.)

- For 2%: 5.32 ml; 5%: 5.5 ml; 10%: 5.8 ml HEPES (10mM)

- For **2%:** 5.32 ml; **5%**: 5.5 ml; **10%**: 5.8 ml Non-Essential Amino Acids (1X from 100X Stock Solution)

- For 2%: 5.32 ml; 5%: 5.5 ml; 10%: 5.8 ml Na-Pyruvate (110µg/ml)
- For 2%: 5.32 ml; 5%: 5.5 ml; 10%: 5.8 ml Penicillin/Streptomycin (50µg/ml)

10X Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) (For ELISA Studies and FACS Buffer)

- 80 grams NaCl
- 2 grams KCI
- 15.2 grams Na₂HPO₄.2H₂O
- 2 grams KH₂PO₄
- Completed up to 1 liter with distilled H₂O

pH was adjusted to 6.8, then autoclaved.

In order to prepare 1X PBS, 10X PBS was diluted with distilled water. pH was adjusted to 7.4, then autoclaved.

Blocking Buffer (ELISA)

- 25 grams Bovine Serum Albumin (5%)
- 250 µL Tween20 (0.025%)
- Completed up to 500 mL with 1X PBS

First, BSA was dissolved in certain amount of 1X PBS (less than 500 ml), then Tween20 was added and solution was mixed until BSA was completely dissolved. Completed up to 500 ml and aliquoted, stored at -20°C until they were used.

Wash Buffer (ELISA)

- 4.5 L distilled H₂O
- 0.5 L 10X PBS
- 2.5 mL Tween20

Wash buffer was prepared freshly prior to each usage.

Fluorescent Activated Cell Sorting (FACS) Buffer (Flow Cytometry)

- 5 g BSA
- 250 mg NaN₃
- Completed up to 500 ml with 1X PBS.

Prepared buffer was stored at +4°C.

1X Tris-EDTA Buffer (Micrococcal Nuclease Reaction)

- 10 mM Tris (pH 8.0)
- 1 mM EDTA
- Completed up to 100 ml with Cell Culture Grade H_2O .

It was stored at +4°C.

10X Nuclease Buffer (Micrococcal Nuclease Reaction)

- 10 mM CaCl₂
- 50 mM Tris-HCI
- Completed up to 100 ml with Cell Culture Grade H₂O.

pH was adjusted to ≅8.3. 10X Nuclease Buffer was stored at +4°C. 1X Nuclease buffer was prepared with diluting 10X Nuclease Buffer with Tris-EDTA Buffer.

10X Running Buffer (SDS Page-Western Blot)

- 144 g Glycine
- 30 g Tris-Base
- 10 g SDS

Complete up to 1 liter with distilled water. 1X Running Buffer was prepared with diluting 10X buffer with distilled water.

10X Transfer Buffer (SDS Page-Western Blot)

- 144 g Glycine
- 30 g Tris-Base

Complete up to 1 liter with distilled water, store at +4°C.

1X Transfer Buffer was prepared prior to each use: 700 ml distilled water, 200 ml Methanol, 100 ml 10X Transfer Buffer. Stored at -20°C.

Ponceau S Staining Solution (SDS Page-Western Blot)

- 1 g Ponceau S
- 15 ml Acetic Acid

Complete up to 500 ml with distilled water.

Blocking Buffer (SDS Page-Western Blot)

- 2.5 g Milk powder
- 50 µl Tween20

Completed up to 50 ml with 1X PBS.

PBS-T Buffer (SDS Page-Western Blot)

- 999 ml 1X PBS
- 1 ml Tween20

Antibody Dilution Buffer (SDS Page-Western Blot)

- 2.5 g Milk Powder
- 25 µl Tween20

Completed up to 50 ml with 1X PBS.

6.2. Appendix B



Figure B1.1 Immunophenotyping of circulating lymphocytes revealed CTPS1^{-/-} **patient had inverted CD4**⁺/**CD8**⁺ **ratio.** Whole blood samples of healthy donors (n=2) and patient were stained with anti-CD45, anti-CD3, anti-CD4, anti-CD8 in two separate blood collection events. CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T-Cells, gated in CD3⁺ and singlets by forwards and side scattering, were assessed in density-plots using flow-cytometer.



Figure B1.2 Cytokine production of healthy and CTPS1^{-/-} patient CD4⁺ T-cells in response to PMA/lonomycin stimulation. Healthy and patient PBMCs (1.6x10⁶/ml) were

left untreated or stimulated with PMA/Ionomycin (50ng/ml, 1 μ g/ml) for 6 hours in the presence of Brefeldin A. Density plots indicate **A**) IFN- γ (left panel), IL-17a (right panel), **B**) IL-4 (left panel), IL-13 (right panel) and **C**) IL-10 producing CD4⁺ T-cell percentages which were determined with flow-cytometry.



Figure B1.3 Transcription factor staining revealed reduced Foxp3⁺ CD4⁺ T-cell numbers in CTPS1^{-/-} patient circulation. After control (n=2) and patient PBMCs isolated from whole blood of patient and donors, cells were stained with anti-CD4, anti-FoxP3. Percentages of transcription factor expressions were evaluated from density-plots (left) using flow cytometry and AVE±SD levels are represented in bar graphs (right).





Figure B1.4 Pro-inflammatory cytokine production from healthy and patient PBMCs upon PRR ligand stimulations. Healthy (n=2) and patient PBMCs ($8x10^5$ /ml) were stimulated with TLR4 (LPS: 5μ g/ml), TLR5 (Flagellin: 100ng/ml), TLR7 (R848: 5μ g/ml), TLR9 (K3: 1μ M), STING (2'3' cGAMP: 30μ g/ml), IFI6-STING (HSV: 5μ g/ml) ligands for 24 hours. Supernatants were collected and secreted IFN- α IL- 1β (Run-1: Upper panel, Run-2: Lower panel) (A), TNF- α (B) and IL-6 (C) levels were assessed by cytokine ELISA. Stimulations were run in duplicates.



Figure B1.5 Confirmation of Low-Density Granulocytes within patient's PBMCs fraction. Density plots represent LDGs within healthy (Left panel) and patient (right panel) PBMCs was confirmed by dual staining with anti-CD14, antiCD66b via flow cytometry.

7. Permissions for Copyrighted Figures

Rightslink® by Copyright Clearance Center

Copyright



30.08.2019 23:03

RightsLink® Clearance Center Neutrophils: New insights and Title: Logged in as: open questions Goksu Gokberk Kaya **Science** Account #: 3001482629 Author: Klaus Ley, Hal M. Hoffman, Paul Immunology Kubes, Marco A. Cassatella,Arturo LOGOUT AAAS Zychlinsky,Catherine C. Hedrick, Sergio D. Catz Publication: Science Immunology Publisher: The American Association for the Advancement of Science Dec 7, 2018 Date: Copyright © 2018, Copyright © 2018 The Authors, some rights reserved; exclusive licensee American Association for the Advancement of Science. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. http://www.sciencemag.org/about/science-licenses-journal-article-reuseThis is an article distributed under the terms of the Science Journals Default License.

Permissions Request

AAAS may not control the rights to the image you wish to use. Please submit your request directly to the publisher by following the guidelines at http://www.sciencemag.org/about/permissions.dtl. Please allow 10 to 15 days to receive a response.



Copyright © 2019 Copyright Clearance Center, Inc, All Rights Reserved. Privacy statement. Terms and Conditions Comments? We would like to hear from you. E-mail us at <u>customercare@copyright.com</u>





SPRINGER NATURE Author:

 Title:
 Shedding light on the cell biology of extracellular vesicles

 Author:
 Guillaume van Niel, Gisela D'Angelo, Graça Raposo

 Publication:
 Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology

 Publisher:
 Springer Nature

 Date:
 Jan 17, 2018

 Copyright © 2018, Springer Nature

Logged in as: Goksu Gokberk Kaya Account #: 3001482629

Order Completed

Thank you for your order.

This Agreement between Mr. Goksu Gokberk Kaya ("You") and Springer Nature ("Springer Nature") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Springer Nature and Copyright Clearance Center.

Your confirmation email will contain your order number for future reference.

printable details

License Number	4660150340032
License date	Sep 01, 2019
Licensed Content Publisher	Springer Nature
Licensed Content Publication	Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology
Licensed Content Title	Shedding light on the cell biology of extracellular vesicles
Licensed Content Author	Guillaume van Niel, Gisela D'Angelo, Graça Raposo
Licensed Content Date	Jan 17, 2018
Licensed Content Volume	19
Licensed Content Issue	4
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Requestor type	academic/university or research institute
Format	print and electronic
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
High-res required	no
Will you be translating?	no
Circulation/distribution	1 - 29
Author of this Springer Nature content	no
Title	CHARACTERIZATION OF INNATE AND ADAPTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES OF TWO RARE PRIMARY IMMUNE DEFICIENCIES: CTPS1 AND CD55
Institution name	Bilkent University
Expected presentation date	Sep 2019
Portions	Figure 2

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServiet

 Requestor Location
 Mr. Goksu Gokberk Kaya Bilkent Üniversitesi Merkez Kampüs Fen Fakültesi SB Binası 2. Kat Moleküler Biyoloği Ve Genetik Bölümü Ankara, 06800 Turkey Attn: Mr. Goksu Gokberk Kaya

 Total
 0.00 USD

ORDER MORE CLOSE WINDOW

Copyright © 2019 Copyright Clearance Center, Inc, All Rights Reserved. Privacy statement. Terms and Conditions. Comments? We would like to hear from you. E-mail us at <u>customercare@copyright.com</u>





Title:



Logged in as:

Account #: 3001482629

Goksu Gokberk Kaya

LOGOUT

SPRINGER NATURE	uthor:
-----------------	--------

Use of eculizumab for atypical haemolytic uraemic syndrome and C3 glomerulopathies Julien Zuber, Fadi Fakhouri, Lubka T. Roumenina, Chantal Loirat, Véronique Frémeaux-Bacchi et al. Publication: Nature Reviews Nephrology Publisher: Springer Nature Oct 2, 2012

Date: Copyright © 2012, Springer Nature

Order Completed

Thank you for your order.

This Agreement between Mr. Goksu Gokberk Kaya ("You") and Springer Nature ("Springer Nature") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Springer Nature and Copyright Clearance Center.

Your confirmation email will contain your order number for future reference.

printable details

License Number	4660150630104
License date	Sep 01, 2019
Licensed Content Publisher	Springer Nature
Licensed Content Publication	Nature Reviews Nephrology
Licensed Content Title	Use of eculizumab for atypical haemolytic uraemic syndrome and C3 glomerulopathies
Licensed Content Author	Julien Zuber, Fadi Fakhouri, Lubka T. Roumenina, Chantal Loirat, Véronique Frémeaux-Bacchi et al.
Licensed Content Date	Oct 2, 2012
Licensed Content Volume	8
Licensed Content Issue	11
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Requestor type	academic/university or research institute
Format	print and electronic
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
High-res required	no
Will you be translating?	no
Circulation/distribution	1 - 29
Author of this Springer Nature content	no
Title	CHARACTERIZATION OF INNATE AND ADAPTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES OF TWO RARE PRIMARY IMMUNE DEFICIENCIES: CTPS1 AND CD55
Institution name	Bilkent University

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServiet

Expected presentation date	Sep 2019	
Portions	Figure 2	
Requestor Location	Mr. Goksu Gokberk Kaya Bilkent Üniversitesi Merkez Fen Fakültesi SB Binasi 2. I Moleküler Biyoloji Ve Genet Ankara, 06800 Turkey Attn: Mr. Goksu Gokberk K.	Kampüs Kat lik Bölümü aya
Total	0.00 USD	
	ORDER WORE	CLOSE WINDOW

Copyright © 2019 Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. All Rights Reserved. Privacy statement. Terms and Conditions. Comments? We would like to hear from you. E-mail us at customercare@copyright.com







Title:

SPRINGER NATURE Author:

Immunology: When lymphocytes run out of steam André Veillette, Dominique Davidson Publication: Nature Publisher: Springer Nature Date: May 28, 2014 Copyright © 2014, Springer Nature

Logged in as:	is:	Log	
Goksu Gokberk Kaya	berk Kaya	Gok	
Account #: 3001482629	9	Acc 300	
LOCOUT	.ocout		

Order Completed

Thank you for your order.

This Agreement between Mr. Goksu Gokberk Kaya ("You") and Springer Nature ("Springer Nature") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Springer Nature and Copyright Clearance Center.

Your confirmation email will contain your order number for future reference.

printable details

License Number	4660150941406
License date	Sep 01, 2019
Licensed Content Publisher	Springer Nature
Licensed Content Publication	Nature
Licensed Content Title	Immunology: When lymphocytes run out of steam
Licensed Content Author	André Veillette, Dominique Davidson
Licensed Content Date	May 28, 2014
Licensed Content Volume	510
Licensed Content Issue	7504
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Requestor type	academic/university or research institute
Format	print and electronic
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
High-res required	no
Will you be translating?	no
Circulation/distribution	1 - 29
Author of this Springer Nature content	no
Title	CHARACTERIZATION OF INNATE AND ADAPTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES OF TWO RARE PRIMARY IMMUNE DEFICIENCIES: CTPS1 AND CD55
Institution name	Bilkent University
Expected presentation date	Sep 2019
Portions	Figure 1

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

 Requestor Location
 Mr. Goksu Gokberk Kaya

 Bilkent Üniversitesi Merkez Kampüs
 Fen Fakültesi SB Binası 2. Kat

 Moleküler Biyoloji Ve Genetik Bölümü
 Ankara, 06800

 Turkey
 Attn: Mr. Goksu Gokberk Kaya

 Total
 0.00 USD

ORDER MORE CLOSE WINDOW

Copyright © 2019 Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. All Rights Reserved. Privacy statement. Terms and Conditions. Comments? We would like to hear from you. E-mail us at customercare@copyright.com







SPRINGER NATURE

 Title:
 Neutrophil extracellular traps in immunity and disease

 Author:
 Venizelos Papayannopoulos

 Publication:
 Nature Reviews Immunology

 Publisher:
 Springer Nature

 Date:
 Oct 9, 2017

 Copyright © 2017, Springer Nature

Logged in as: Goksu Gokberk Kaya Account #: 3001482629 Lo GOUT

Order Completed

Thank you for your order.

This Agreement between Mr. Goksu Gokberk Kaya ("You") and Springer Nature ("Springer Nature") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Springer Nature and Copyright Clearance Center.

Your confirmation email will contain your order number for future reference.

printable details

License Number	4660151197517
License date	Sep 01, 2019
Licensed Content Publisher	Springer Nature
Licensed Content Publication	Nature Reviews Immunology
Licensed Content Title	Neutrophil extracellular traps in immunity and disease
Licensed Content Author	Venizelos Papayannopoulos
Licensed Content Date	Oct 9, 2017
Licensed Content Volume	18
Licensed Content Issue	2
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Requestor type	academic/university or research institute
Format	print and electronic
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
High-res required	no
Will you be translating?	no
Circulation/distribution	1 - 29
Author of this Springer Nature content	no
Title	CHARACTERIZATION OF INNATE AND ADAPTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES OF TWO RARE PRIMARY IMMUNE DEFICIENCIES: CTPS1 AND CD55
Institution name	Bilkent University
Expected presentation date	Sep 2019
Portions	Figure 2
Requestor Location	Mr. Goksu Gokberk Kaya Bilkent Üniversitesi Merkez Kampüs

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

Fen Fakültesi SB Binası 2. Kat Moleküler Biyoloji Ve Genetik Bölümü Ankara, 06800 Turkey Attn: Mr. Goksu Gokberk Kaya 0.00 USD

Total

ORDER MORE CLOSE WINDOW

Copyright € 2019 Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. All Rights Reserved. Privacy statement. Terms and Conditions. Comments? We would like to hear from you. E-mail us at <u>customercare@copyright.com</u>







SPRINGER NATURE	Aut

 Title:
 The history of Toll-like receptors — redefining innate immunity

 Author:
 Luke A. J. O'Neill, Douglas Golenbock, Andrew G. Bowie

 Publication:
 Nature Reviews Immunology

 Publisher:
 Springer Nature

 Date:
 May 17, 2013

 Copyright © 2013, Springer Nature

Logged in as: Goksu Gokberk Kaya Account #: 3001482629

Order Completed

Thank you for your order.

This Agreement between Mr. Goksu Gokberk Kaya ("You") and Springer Nature ("Springer Nature") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Springer Nature and Copyright Clearance Center.

Your confirmation email will contain your order number for future reference.

printable details	
License Number	4660160744639
License date	Sep 01, 2019
Licensed Content Publisher	Springer Nature
Licensed Content Publication	Nature Reviews Immunology
Licensed Content Title	The history of Toll-like receptors — redefining innate immunity
Licensed Content Author	Luke A. J. O'Nelli, Douglas Golenbock, Andrew G. Bowie
Licensed Content Date	May 17, 2013
Licensed Content Volume	13
Licensed Content Issue	6
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Requestor type	academic/university or research institute
Format	print and electronic
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
High-res required	no
Will you be translating?	no
Circulation/distribution	1 - 29
Author of this Springer Nature content	no
Title	CHARACTERIZATION OF INNATE AND ADAPTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES OF TWO RARE PRIMARY IMMUNE DEFICIENCIES: CTPS1 AND CD55
Institution name	Bilkent University
Expected presentation date	Sep 2019

ttps://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

 Requestor Location
 Mr. Goksu Gokberk Kaya Bilkent Üniversitesi Merkez Kampüs Fen Fakültesi SB Binası 2. Kat Moleküler Biyoloji Ve Genetik Bölümü Ankara, 06800 Turkey Attn: Mr. Goksu Gokberk Kaya

 Total
 0.00 USD

ORDER MORE CLOSE WENDOW

Copyright © 2019 Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. All Rights Reserved. Privacy statement. Terms and Conditions. Comments? We would like to hear from you. E-mail us at <u>customercare@copyright.com</u>







SPRINGER NATURE

 Title:
 Complement regulators and inhibitory proteins

 Author:
 Peter F. Zipfel, Christine Skerka

 Publication:
 Nature Reviews Immunology

 Publisher:
 Springer Nature

 Date:
 Sep 4, 2009

 Copyright © 2009, Springer Nature

Logged in as: Goksu Gokberk Kaya Account #: 3001482629

Order Completed

Thank you for your order.

This Agreement between Mr. Goksu Gokberk Kaya ("You") and Springer Nature ("Springer Nature") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Springer Nature and Copyright Clearance Center.

Your confirmation email will contain your order number for future reference.

printable details

License Number	4660170853487
License date	Sep 01, 2019
Licensed Content Publisher	Springer Nature
Licensed Content Publication	Nature Reviews Immunology
Licensed Content Title	Complement regulators and inhibitory proteins
Licensed Content Author	Peter F. Zipfel, Christine Skerka
Licensed Content Date	Sep 4, 2009
Licensed Content Volume	9
Licensed Content Issue	10
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Requestor type	academic/university or research institute
Format	print and electronic
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
High-res required	no
Will you be translating?	no
Circulation/distribution	1 - 29
Author of this Springer Nature content	no
Title	CHARACTERIZATION OF INNATE AND ADAPTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES OF TWO RARE PRIMARY IMMUNE DEFICIENCIES: CTPS1 AND CD55
Institution name	Bilkent University
Expected presentation date	Sep 2019
Portions	Table 1
Requestor Location	Mr. Goksu Gokberk Kaya Bilkent Üniversitesi Merkez Kampüs

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

Fen Fakültesi SB Binası 2. Kat Moleküler Biyoloji Ve Genetik Bölümü Ankara, 06800 Turkey Attn: Mr. Goksu Gokberk Kaya 0.00 USD

Total

ORDER NORE CLOSE WINDOW

Copyright © 2019 Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. All Rights Reserved. Privacy statement. Terms and Conditions. Comments? We would like to hear from you. E-mail us at customercare@copyright.com







SPRINGER NATURE

 Title:
 Complement — tapping into new sites and effector systems

 Author:
 Martin Kolev, Gaelle Le Friec, Claudia Kemper

 Publication:
 Nature Reviews Immunology

 Publisher:
 Springer Nature

 Date:
 Nov 14, 2014

 Copyright © 2014, Springer Nature

Logged in as: Goksu Gokberk Kaya Account #: 3001482629 LOGOUT

Order Completed

Thank you for your order.

This Agreement between Mr. Goksu Gokberk Kaya ("You") and Springer Nature ("Springer Nature") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Springer Nature and Copyright Clearance Center.

Your confirmation email will contain your order number for future reference.

printable details	
License Number	4660171066001
License date	Sep 01, 2019
Licensed Content Publisher	Springer Nature
Licensed Content Publication	Nature Reviews Immunology
Licensed Content Title	Complement — tapping into new sites and effector systems
Licensed Content Author	Martin Kolev, Gaelle Le Friec, Claudia Kemper
Licensed Content Date	Nov 14, 2014
Licensed Content Volume	14
Licensed Content Issue	12
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Requestor type	academic/university or research institute
Format	print and electronic
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	2
High-res required	no
Will you be translating?	no
Circulation/distribution	1 - 29
Author of this Springer Nature content	no
Title	CHARACTERIZATION OF INNATE AND ADAPTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES OF TWO RARE PRIMARY IMMUNE DEFICIENCIES: CTPS1 AND CD55
Institution name	Bilkent University
Expected presentation date	Sep 2019
Portions	Figure 1, Figure 3

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

Mr. Goksu Gokberk Kaya Bilkent Üniversitesi Merkez Kampüs Fen Fakültesi SB Binası 2. Kat Moleküler Biyoloji Ve Genetik Bölümü Ankara, 06800 Turkey Attn: Mr. Goksu Gokberk Kaya Requestor Location 0.00 USD

Total

ORDER MORE CLOSE WINDOW

Copyright © 2019 Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. All Rights Reserved. Privacy statement. <u>Terms and Conditions</u>. Comments? We would like to hear from you. E-mail us at <u>customercare@copyright.com</u>

